

XXXXXXX

LONG TERM SUSTAINABILITY AND THE EURO

ہُ How to rethink the Maastricht criteria?

15

65

Long-term sustainability and the euro -How to rethink the Maastricht criteria?

Long-term sustainability and the euro -How to rethink the Maastricht criteria?

Long-term sustainability and the euro -How to rethink the Maastricht criteria?

© Magyar Nemzeti Bank, 2020

Contributors:

Directorate for Fiscal and Competitiveness Analysis Directorate Economic Forecast and Analysis Directorate Monetary Policy and Financial Market Analysis Directorate for International Monetary Policy Analysis and Training of Economic Sciences Directorate Financial System Analysis

> Edited by: Barnabás Virág

The editors would like to express their gratitude to the Governor György Matolcsy, Deputy Governors Csaba Kandrács, Márton Nagy and Mihály Patai for their professional comments during editing.

> Published by: Magyar Nemzeti Bank Szabadság tér 9. 1054 Budapest, Hungary www.mnb.hu

> > All rights reserved.

Prepress and printing: Prospektus Kft.

ISBN 978-615-5318-33-7

2020

Contents

Introduction	7
Key statements	11
1 From birth to the present – the first twenty years of the Euro	17
1.1 The Maastricht criteria – conditions and assumptions	19
1.2 Performance of the euro area in light of the Maastricht criteria and beyond	39
2 Lessons from the Global Financial Crisis of 2007-2009	89
2.1 The shortcomings of the Maastricht Criteria	91
2.2 What's next for the euro area: directions of institutional development	121
3 Country experiences	147
3.1 Balance of the benefits and costs of introducing the euro before and since the 2008-2009 crisis	149
3.2 The experiences of the new accession countries: the pros and cons	193
4 Successful euro area – the criteria needed for accession in the 21st century	235
4.1 Maastricht 2.0	237
4.2 Hungary's euro maturity in light of Maastricht 1.0 and 2.	0 285
5 Acknowledgements	301

Introduction

The euro is the grandest project in the economic history of Europe. An instrument and an underlying set of institutions, whose success or shortcomings are fundamental to determining the progress of an entire continent. The euro is thus Europe's great common cause, and only honest assessments, well-intentioned debate and ongoing innovation can shape it into an instrument that can meet the economic, social and geopolitical challenges of the 21st century in the long term as well.

The euro is a subject we must talk about! 2019 has been the year of the 20th anniversary of the introduction of the euro. Two decades are a sufficiently long period to in terpret in economic history terms and to arrive at a deeper understanding and assessment of the lessons from the use of the single currency. In the early 1990s, surrounded by the euphoria over the collapse of the Berlin Wall and the dismantling of the Iron Curtain, the architects of the Maastricht Treaty, which permanently sealed the decision to establish the euro area, held the belief that the single currency could become the next step in European integration. An evolutionary jump that deepens integration among the participating economies and, at the same time, repositions Europe within the global space.

Although the number of countries using the euro has risen from the initial 11 to 19 in the past 20 years, there remains much cause for debate due to the region's results in terms of progress, competitiveness and cohesion. The facts indicate that the euro area is still lagging behind in the global competition of economic regions. The weight of the European countries using the euro has fallen within the global economy. The 11 founding countries achieved an average annual GDP growth of 1.5 per cent in the last 20 years, less than the over 2 per cent figure achieved by the United States of America, which is at a similar level of development, or the 2 per cent figure in the United Kingdom, which has had to grapple with the consequences of Brexit in the meantime. Meanwhile, China is growing dynamically, approximating or even surpassing the economic results on the two sides of the Atlantic. Beyond the developments in the real economy, attempts to pose a major challenge to the US dollar in its global leading role have failed even in the case of financial transactions. In a crisis environment, moreover, the euro area has been characterised by deepening rifts, escalating debates and worsening damage to the real economy rather than cohesion. It is especially urgent to understand the reasons for the latter at a time when greater turbulence could return to the world economy.

We must talk about the euro in our country, Hungary as well. It is in our joint interest to be active participants of the debates about the euro. The Hungarian economy is interconnected with the euro area in countless ways. Hungary's convergence and sustainable growth in the next few years will be possible only if the euro area functions successfully. Besides, as a member of the European Union, Hungary has made a commitment to introduce the euro in the future. In this respect, it cannot be emphasised too often that the introduction of the euro is not an endpoint for this country but a key milestone on the long road towards convergence. The most important question for Hungary (and all other Central Eastern European countries still facing the introduction of the euro) is therefore under what conditions and with what timing they should introduce the European single currency so that our region can continue on its path of economic convergence after it joins the euro area.

The last two decades offer significant lessons in this respect. Created in the early 1990s, the Maastricht criteria were, by themselves, unable to guarantee either stable growth in the euro area or the economic convergence of the less advanced economies that joined subsequently. There is almost complete agreement about the fact that a complete reconsideration of the Maastricht criteria is required. We have to create version 2.0 of the Maastricht criteria together. Two years from now, in 2022, we will celebrate 30 years of the Maastricht Treaty. By that date, it would be important to arrive at a set of joining criteria through productive technical discussions with the current members and the future accession countries that could genuinely serve as the foundations for Europe's success in the next 20 to 30 years. Just emerging from a regime change, Central and Eastern Europe was a mere spectator to the developments in Maastricht in the early 1990s. If we are to create a strong Europe that builds on dialogue and internal cohesion, it is important to give the countries of this region the opportunity to explain their position regarding a decision as momentous for our shared future as the introduction of the euro. And that is the very purpose of this book.

It would be hard to find a better time in which to launch a technical dialogue. The European Union has entered a new political cycle. With new players, signalling the chance for renewed politics in Europe. Christine Lagarde, the new Governor of the European Central Bank and Ursula von der Leyen, the new President of the European Commission are both reformers committed to European integration. This is a perfect moment for directing attention to the issues marginalised within economic policy so far, to the recommendations held suppressed and to the debates on public policy. Successful renewal and the creation of appropriate new strategies, a more efficient institutional model and sets of criteria are our shared tasks and our common cause. We must do everything for the advancement of Europe and the success of future generations.

György Matolcsy, Csaba Kandrács, Márton Nagy, Mihály Patai

Key statements

Europe celebrated the 20th anniversary of the introduction of the euro in 2019. On the occasion of this anniversary, the issues defining the future of the single European currency shifted into the focus of attention both within and outside the euro area. Reviewing the experiences of the past two decades – the second ten years after the global crisis in particular –, there is widespread consensus that the euro is far from being a concluded project. Further profound reforms are needed. These reforms must, in part, ensure the development of the institutional framework behind the single European currency, while we must also again prepare for the successful future expansion of the euro area. The solutions for these issues must be put in place by the 19 member states currently forming the euro area, while the new accession criteria – that are more efficient than those preceding them – must be set up as part of a discussion between current members and countries facing accession. The analyses of this collection of studies wish to contribute to the latter.

The key statements of the analyses are as follows:

- In the past 20 years, compliance with the original Maastricht nominal – criteria in itself was able to ensure neither the stable operation of the euro area, nor the sustainable convergence of less-developed member states, and thereby the deepening integration. The macro-economic assumptions underlying budget-related criteria were ill-founded even at the start, while the permanent change of the world economic environment following the global crisis made compliance with these criteria impossible, and even counter-productive during recession. It is no coincidence that it is the criterion for government debt that has been violated by member states to the greatest extent and for the lengthiest periods.
- Swift convergence was seen in respect of the criteria pertaining to long-term interest rates and inflation, however, in the first decade

of the euro this process greatly contributed to creating internal imbalances characterising the euro area – exaggerated increase in private debt, diverging current account positions –, which upon the eruption of the financial crisis of 2007/2009 resulted in the prolonged poor performance of the euro area.

- The deepening real economic integration and the convergence between levels of development, which the introduction of the euro was expected to generate, failed to realise in the whole of the euro area. Less than half of member countries that introduced the euro, countries that were at a level of development falling short of that of core countries, were able to permanently increase their relative prosperity within the euro area, while on an average of the first two decades we have observed permanent divergence in multiple cases. It is important to stress that despite the deficiencies of the Maastricht criteria, the development path of the various countries was primarily defined by the quality of the economic policy pursued in this period. At the same time, it is also perceptible that compliance with the original criteria in itself is not sufficient to assess euro maturity.
- Despite the increase of the number of countries using the euro, as a result of decelerating growth, the global economic weight of the euro area has continuously decreased compared to the start of the millennium. In contrast with the moderate convergence in levels of development, the link between the business climate cycles of the various member states has grown tighter.
- The reshaped global economic environment and the new megatrends of the 21st century also have substantial impact on the benefits and costs of the use of the single currency. Certain benefits have dropped or are decreasing as we speak (e.g. the drop in country risk premium, transaction costs), while the abandoning of independent monetary policy and the broadly-interpreted economic policy leeway in a crisis environment could lead to deviations greater than previously estimated.

- The cost/benefit balance of accession will also be greatly influenced by the recently started reform of the euro area's institutional system. There has been considerable progress in numerous critical areas – e.g. the monitoring of macro-economic imbalances, the setting up of a crisis management fund, the preparation of the bank and capital market union – over the past decade, however, the reform is progressing slowly. The outlines of the setting up of the single budget – which has been considered one of the most sensitive deficiencies of the euro area since the beginning and one which, if needed, may have appropriate intervention potential regarding financial stability and cyclical stabilization issues – still cannot be seen or perceived. Its lack shifts particular attention in the accession process to reaching adequate real economy maturity and the necessity of establishing independent fiscal space.
- In the case of Central Eastern European member states of lower development, which are currently converging, the introduction of the euro would require setting up a system of criteria, the fulfilment of which would concurrently ensure the sustainability of the development path of the acceding country and the retention of the stability of the euro area.
- This requires the rethinking of the Maastricht criteria. A new set of criteria must be put in place, one that is able to assess real economic maturity and the capacity to adapt, the harmonisation of financial cycles and economic policy leeway even under sustainable nominal

 interest and inflation convergence conditions. Based on accession experiences observed to date, particular attention should be dedicated to the following areas:
 - the risks stemming from the over-swinging of the financial cycle should be minimised. This can be helped along if three criteria are met: firstly, accomplishing appropriate real economy convergence could moderate the potential inflation surplus arising from economic convergence, hindering the exaggerated drop of real interest rates; secondly the appropriate level of financial

deepening mitigates the risk of sudden credit bubbles forming in the future; and thirdly, arising system-level risks can be managed with an efficient regulatory toolkit.

- Maintaining and improving competitiveness is of crucial importance in economic convergence. Entry to the euro area should be scheduled for a time when the economy is already characterised by a strong position of competitiveness, while the channels shaping the future competitiveness and capacity to adapt of the economy are already operating effectively. The state of labour and commodity markets has a priority role in the latter.
- In the absence of independent monetary policy, the role of fiscal leeway takes on increased importance in a recession environment. The lack of a fiscal union (or a eurozone-level institution with financial and cyclical stabilization potential that is equivalent in terms of effects) means that countercyclical fiscal policy can be ensured only under conditions deviating from the original Maastricht fiscal criteria, conditions that in certain areas are even stricter.

1 From birth to the present the first twenty years of the Euro

1.1

The Maastricht criteria - conditions and assumptions

Balázs H. Váradi – Olivér Nagy – Zoltán Szalai

Signed in 1992, the Maastricht Treaty signalled a new phase for European integration and, within its framework, it laid the foundations for the introduction of the euro and the creation of a monetary union. Besides some political objectives, the centralisation of monetary policy was a natural consequence of the experience of economic policy in that period. The introduction of the single currency was the outcome of decades of attempts and adjustments to fix exchange rates, combined with the institutional ideas prevalent in economic thought at the time. The creation of the monetary union was underpinned by the fact that fixed exchange rates had come to be seen mostly positively in the 1980's, as the reduction of exchange rate volatility across currencies boosted exports between countries. The uncertainties surrounding exchange rates also convinced the decision-makers that no form of coordination would eliminate exchange rate risk completely as long as there remained separate national currencies.

The Maastricht convergence criteria were formulated in the early 1990's with the objective of ensuring that only countries capable of functioning within an economic policy framework aimed at monetary stability could join the monetary union. The introduction of the convergence criteria was preceded by intense professional debates, since economists were highly divided regarding the selection of appropriate conditions. Some questioned the need for stipulating any criteria at all, while others argued that the introduction of the single currency would not, by itself, guarantee monetary stability. The empirical studies into the real economy indicators of the countries considered as optimal currency

areas versus the EU Member States did not, ultimately, find differences substantive enough to shatter the theoretical foundations of the euro. It remains a problem, however, that the approved criteria formulate targets only in terms of nominal variables and thus do not measure real economic convergence directly nor guarantee financial stability. *Economic policy-makers wanted to set the boundaries for fiscal policy* along sustainability and stabilisation considerations. Yet the failure of the budget deficit criterion to take the initial deficit figure into account causes difficulties, as does the fact that few had recognised the lasting impact of fiscal policy in boosting demand and thus no central fiscal policy instrument was created to smooth the economic cycles throughout the currency area. The sustainability of government debt was also a key consideration in defining the convergence criteria. It is problematic, however, that the government debt rule is inconsistent with the deficit rule and therefore the two rules cannot be properly applied together in practice. After all, a deficit of 3 per cent can stabilise government debt at the required level of 60 per cent only when nominal GDP grows by 5 per cent, i.e. the criteria are unable to take into account the changes in the macroeconomic environment.

The Maastricht Treaty signalled a new phase for European integration and, within its framework, it laid the foundations for the introduction of the euro and the creation of a monetary union. The Maastricht Treaty (the *Treaty on European Union*) was signed by the countries of the European Economic Community in February 1992. With the pursuit of integration on the continent is rooted further in the past, the Treaty inaugurated a new phase of European cooperation and laid the foundations for the introduction of the single currency. On 1 January 1999 the European Economic and Monetary Union (*EMU*) entered the third and last phase of the integration efforts of European countries as the countries of the Community fixed the nominal exchange rates of their national currencies against the euro and handed over the institution of sovereign monetary policy to a supranational organisation.

Besides some political objectives, the introduction of the euro and the centralisation of monetary policy were natural consequences of the experience of economic policy in that period. Although the introduction of the euro and the convergence criteria necessary for its introduction have been the target of much criticism over recent decades, the economic theory and the economic policy experience of the age must be taken into consideration in any assessment of the frameworks created and the critical comments made. Admittedly, there had been significant political motivations underlying the creation of the European single currency (Lámfalussy et al. 2014), but it would not be wise to analyse its economic rationale through that lens alone. The introduction of the single currency was the outcome of decades of attempts and adjustments to fix exchange rates, combined with the institutional ideas prevalent in economic thought at the time. In order to understand the institutional and economic frameworks behind the euro and the single currency, this experience and doctrine must be examined.

The institutional structure of the Economic and Monetary Union was designed in line with the prevailing economic

theory of the age, neoclassical economics. The mainstream thought of the period is also referred to as the Brussels-Frankfurt-Washington (BFW) Consensus (Fitoussi és Saraceno, 2004). This unofficial name refers to the fact that this was a version of the doctrine applied to developing countries by the IMF and the World Bank, reformulated for advanced economies. The main principle of this doctrine is governance through markets: wherever possible, market mechanisms should be allowed the greatest possible freedom to operate, since markets are more flexible than the state and they can adequately regulate themselves without state intervention. Where the market does not emerge spontaneously, it should be created to the extent possible; where previously competitive markets become less competitive, the desired conditions should be reinstated. The doctrine admits that it is impossible to create efficient markets in certain areas, but it expects the extent and the frequency of government intervention to be minimal. It follows therefore that this doctrine confines the role of the state mostly to mitigating market failure and sees the fundamental operation and growth trends of the economy as shaped by the decisions of market players.

identified Economic thinking the overcoming of competitiveness issues as an opportunity for higher potential growth. The deepening of European monetary integration entailed the creation of a common market, because a continentwide market would force all countries to compete. Underlying the efforts to encourage the competition of European corporates was the conviction that the economic potential of the continent could not be utilised otherwise, and it could not remain competitive against economies such as the United States or Japan. The progress of integration was held back by certain uncertainties surrounding the diverging macroeconomic frameworks, such as exchange rate risk and regulatory risk, which significantly constrained the free movement of capital (Hu et al. 1997).

Fixing the exchange rates came to be seen in a positive light in Europe in the 1980's. The 1979 launch of the European Monetary System (*EMS*) and the parity grid of floating exchange rate bands for the countries of the Community (Chart 1-1) may be considered as the forerunners of the single currency. The objective of this system was the joint mitigation of the exchange rate volatility of the currencies, which incentivised the growth of exports among the countries through a reduction of exchange rate fluctuations (Arize 1996, Hu et al. 1997). After all, some currency devaluations before the introduction of that system had reached an extent where they annulled the entire annual profit of production companies.

It became clear that exchange rate movements depended not only on the economic fundamentals but also on speculative capital flows. It has been one of the most important lessons drawn from the operations of the EMS that global capital flows were able to create tension among European currencies even in the absence of fundamental causes. Although academic literature tends to emphasise that, in a floating exchange rate regime, the movement of exchange rates is mostly dependent on macro fundamentals (Obstfeld et al. 1985) and monetary policy has a greater scope (Shafer et al. 1983), practice has in fact shown that such a regime is characterised primarily by increased volatility due to speculative capital flows (De Grauwe 2000) and the resulting capital controls (Gros 1996). As a typical example, if cyclical reasons drove capital flows to Europe, given market sizes, this ended up mostly on the market of the Deutsche Mark. This resulted in an upward pressure on its exchange rate against the other European currencies, without any fundamental reasons at all (De Grauwe 2000). Countries also used exchange rates to improve their relative price or cost competitiveness, accepting the resulting inflationary effects. This was disruptive for the countries that were more committed to price stability and held price or cost competitiveness under control, which in turn generated tensions among the members of the Economic Community.





Source: own edit.

The EMS crisis convinced politicians of the need to introduce the single currency. The European currency crisis of 1992–93 and the exits that threatened with the complete collapse of the exchange rate system served as another warning for economic policy decision-makers about the adverse side effects of volatile exchange rates. Devaluation and the uncertainties surrounding exchange rates convinced the decision-makers that exchange rate risk could not be eliminated through coordination in any shape or form as long as independent national currencies existed (Magyar Nemzeti Bank 2011). The decision was therefore ultimately made to create the conditions for introducing the single currency.

The deepening of integration had to be aligned with a framework acceptable to all. The creation of monetary union demanded eliminating or minimising the risks inherent in the single currency. To this end, the correct degree of integration had to be determined in the various macroeconomic areas, one that

was sufficiently effective for the purpose yet acceptable to the individual nations as well. The EMU is a specific form of integration, after all; the nations within it retain a significant degree of sovereignty. Creating it involved devising the future operating frameworks as well as the transitional criteria of its creation. Of the latter, the most important ones were the convergence criteria, stipulated as the preconditions for joining.

The objective of the Maastricht criteria is to guarantee the monetary stability of the European Union. The Maastricht convergence criteria were formulated in the early 1990's with the objective of ensuring that only countries proven to be capable of functioning within an economic policy framework aimed at monetary stability could join the monetary union. This was necessary because the instability of any country within the monetary union could jeopardise the stability of other countries and potentially the EMU as a whole. At the same time, some of their earlier monetary policy instruments would no longer be at the countries' disposal at all, such as an independent monetary policy or a flexible exchange rate, or only within tight constraints, such as fiscal policy. These would be brought under joint control (monetary policy would be centralised, while fiscal policy would be tightly controlled with the threat of sanctions) in order to achieve macroeconomic convergence and monetary stability throughout the continent.

The introduction of the convergence criteria was preceded by intense professional debates. Economists were divided regarding the choice of appropriate convergence criteria and the timing determined by them. Some questioned the need for transition and even for stipulating any criteria at all. They argued that the introduction of the euro would bring about a change of such magnitude in the behaviour of private agents as well as states that this by itself would force countries to adjust appropriately. For this very reason, it would be impossible to draw conclusions from the conduct before the introduction of the euro for the behaviour expected thereafter. Described with the adjective 'monetarist'¹ in the terminology of the time, this attitude characterised primarily the position of the French partner (Gros and Thygesen 1998). The counter-arguments to these considerations were proposed mainly by the negotiating delegation of Germany, also supported by the smaller core countries, which had previously pegged their currencies to the Deutsche Mark. According to the position labelled as 'economists', the introduction of the single currency would not, by itself, guarantee that countries which had not acted in the interests of monetary stability would modify their behaviour to do so now. If, for example, such countries have a significantly higher rate of inflation and their fiscal revenues and expenditures are adjusted to that, then the introduction of the single currency will not change interest rates, wages and prices, causing considerable difficulties for both the country in question and the Community as a whole.

The academic debates on the euro were based mostly on the optimal currency area (OCA) theory. On the one hand, some argued for taking real economic convergence into account given that the economic structures of individual Member States were too different and they would be impacted differently by external as well as internal shocks, and a centralised monetary policy and tightly controlled fiscal and other national policies would not be able to respond optimally (Eichengreen 1991, Bayoumi and Eichengreen 1997, Frieden 1998). By contrast, a number of economists showed that the real economic differences among European countries were not significantly greater than in other monetary regions already in operation, especially the United States (Trichet 2011). A further argument suggested that the conditions for an optimal currency area may emerge more easily and endogenously, once the single currency is already in operation. Without it, convergence would be slower and imperfect.

¹ This designation is unrelated to Milton Friedman's monetarist macroeconomic theory; the identical names are coincidental. Friedman was ultimately skeptical about the viability of the single currency.

Table 1-1: The change of ULC in each Member State in the proportion of the average change of ULC in the euro area and the US (1998-2010)

Countries (Euro area)	1998 - 2010	States (USA)	1998 - 2010
TA	-10.04	Alaska	18.51
BE	-5.18	Arizona	-5.63
FI	-4.43	California	-9.44
FR	-2.78	Kentucky	12.41
EL	20.46	Idaho	-11.65
NL	-1.71	Louisiana	19.98
IE	0.43	Michigan	5.13
LU	14.04	Nevada	-3.69
DE	-15.15	Ohio	3.99
IT	5.53	Oregon	-19.45
РТ	1.87	South Dakota	-12.23
ES	6.66	Wyoming	2.26
Average	0.81		0.02
Standard Deviation	9.46		12.05

Note: ULC stands for unit labor cost. The average ULC for the euro area is the unweighted arithmetic average of the member states. Due to data access issues, we are approximating the ULC of the USA with the compensation of non-agricultural sectors as of GDP.

Source: ECB, BLS, Central Bank of Hungary (2011).

The empirical studies into the real economy indicators of the countries considered as optimal currency areas versus the EU Member States did not find differences substantive enough to shatter the theoretical foundations of the euro. In his comparison of 12 European countries with the United States, the United Kingdom, Canada, the Federal Republic of Germany and Switzerland, Delors concluded that the differences among the twelve European countries in terms of development status were indeed greater than in the other regions examined but that they were not significant (Delors 1989). Examining the data

from the decade preceding the crisis reveals lower divergence in the changes of unit labour costs of the founding members of the euro area than those of the US states (Table 1-1), whereas OCA literature suggests that the very opposite should be the case (Trichet 2011).

It remains a problem that the approved Maastricht criteria formulate targets only in terms of nominal variables.² It follows from the nature of the convergence criteria as created that they do not measure real economy convergence directly, nor do they guarantee financial stability. At best, they capture these factors indirectly, through compliance with nominal variables. This is due to the fact that it was impossible to set clear, quantified values for the real economy variables emphasised in the optimal currency area theory that would have been indisputably suitable as a basis for selecting the countries able to coexist within a monetary union. The OCA theory does not tackle monetary stability or even nominal variables, because the optimal currency area theory is a real theory. Since economic policy-makers wished to establish an area of 'monetary stability' and not merely an 'optimal currency area' through the creation of the EMU, they believed that setting nominal criteria was the appropriate means for achieving their objective.

Fiscal policy was given basically a stabilising role because markets were seen as effective. Most of the debates centred on fiscal policy requirements and opportunities. Since the economic approach underlying the convergence criteria considers the macroeconomy basically stable, any shock would be merely temporary and the role of government policy should be confined to smoothing such shocks. An undisciplined fiscal policy may therefore cause prices, wages and the current account deficit to rise, and this could be incentivised in a monetary union where the resulting adverse side effects are spread throughout

² Price stability, sound and sustainable public finances, exchange rate stability, convergence of interest rates on long-term assets.

but the advantages are enjoyed mainly by the domestic economic agents. The role of convergence criteria is to help ensure that any country participating in monetary union should be able to adapt to, and maintain, an environment of low inflation.

The Maastricht criteria therefore formulate a number of convergence rules to ensure sound and sustainable public finances. Economic policy-makers wanted to set the boundaries for fiscal policy along sustainability and stability considerations. The first rule concerns the sustainability of budgets, stating that the budget deficit measured as a percentage of GDP must not exceed 3 per cent. The budget deficit of public finances may exceed that reference value in warranted cases, provided that these are caused by temporary and exceptional impacts, such as a fall in real GDP by more than 0.75 per cent.³ Although the formulation of the rule may appear arbitrary at first sight, Buti et al. have showed that budget deficit increases at or above 3 per cent are rare even in a crisis (Chart 1-2). It is therefore not entirely unwarranted to stipulate a rule disallowing budgetary easing in excess of 3 per cent (Buti and Sapir 1998).

³ The temporary and exceptional excesses were quantified in the Stability and Growth Pact in 1997.





Note: The EU-10 are a group of countries in the European Union that met the criteria for introducing the euro in 1998. Source: European Commission (1998).

The budget deficit criterion disregards the initial value of the deficit. It should also be noted that most European countries do not run a balanced budget but operate typically at a deficit of around 2 per cent (Chart 1-3), and therefore the required 3 per cent threshold, examined from the aspect demand stimulation, may demand excessively restrictive fiscal policy from certain Member States. All things considered, the efficiency of the deficit rule prior to a potential debt crisis can be evidenced empirically, as the countries were able to maintain their government debts stable with appropriate fiscal discipline before the adoption of the Stability and Growth Pact.

In the past, Member States tended to view the budget deficit limit as a target rather than a constraint. Since a breach of the deficit rule triggers the excessive deficit procedure, countries targeted their deficits at 3 per cent in order to take advantage of the permitted headroom; this tended to be the case regardless the cyclical position of the economy.



Chart 1-3: Developments in the budget balance-to-GDP ratio in the countries of the European Economic Community

Few recognised the lasting impact of fiscal policy in boosting demand. It was considered as a sufficient condition for monetary and price stability for price and wage setting private agents to behave in alignment with price stability, for fiscal policy to support price stability and for the financial system to function in compliance with prudential requirements. However, the academic literature of the time demonstrated that stable monetary unions always functioned with a strongly centralised fiscal policy rather than imposing deficit rules on Member States. Godley (1992), Goodhart (1992) and Kregel (1999) went even further when they asserted that fiscal centralisation was more important for monetary stability and the viability of integration, and ascribed much lower importance to the real economic convergence that was the focus of theoretical OCA literature.

The sustainability of government debt was another key consideration in defining the convergence criteria. The government debt benchmark criterion sets the cap on gross government debt relative to GDP at 60 per cent. If the government

Source: European Commission (1998).

debt of a country exceeds the 60 per cent benchmark, then the average annual reduction of the debt must exceed one twentieth of the part of the outstanding debt exceeding the 60 per cent mark over a 3-year period⁴. Although the rationale for the 60 per cent rule can also be disputed⁵, there were a number of non-macroeconomic arguments for this reference value at the time of its formulation. Firstly, it was worth considering that around half of all the Member States had a debt of 60 per cent or less (Chart 1-4), so that this figure seemed to be an acceptable compromise for all the countries. Furthermore, as Thygesen says, the reference value appeared valid from a coverage perspective as well because, prior to the introduction of the Maastricht criteria, the public assets of Member States also accounted for 60 per cent of GDP on average, so market players rightfully believed that they could see a kind of coverage behind the debt (Thygesen 2002).

⁴ The Stability and Growth Pact (1997) stated that the debt level above 60 per cent should decline with a satisfactory pace towards a level below each year. Satisfactory pace has been quantified in the Fiscal Stability Treaty (2012).

⁵ During the academic debates, questions were repeatedly raised about the introduction of the debt rule alongside the 3-per cent deficit rule. The debt rule is necessary because there are numerous items besides the budget that are only captured in the debt figure and, furthermore, because the proportion of such items is higher in the new accession countries than in the founding countries.



Chart 1-4: Developments in government debt-to-GDP ratio in the countries of the European Economic Community

Source: European Commission (1998).

The purpose of the debt rule is to ensure the sustainability of the government debt of Member States. Regarding the choice of the debt rule benchmark, it should be noted that most countries held lower debts before the introduction of the Stability and Growth Pact in 1997 and that they wished to leave themselves room for manoeuvre for the eventuality of crises. In the period preceding 2006, Greece was one of those that failed to satisfy the criterion, yet several countries preceded the Greeks in seeking a loan from the European Commission and the IMF. In the period following the crisis, a significant divergence in debt figures can be observed among the countries of the euro area.

It is problematic, however, that the government debt rule is consistent with the deficit rule only in a special case and therefore the two rules cannot be properly applied together in practice. The greatest problem with the government debt and deficit rules is that a 3-per cent deficit (if considered not as a limit but as an expected value) will stabilise government debt at the required level of 60 per cent only when nominal GDP grows by 5 per cent (Chart 1-5). However, since the introduction of the Maastricht criteria the growth dynamic of the member countries has slowed substantively and inflation also stabilised at low levels. The criteria remaining unchanged means that the rules on deficit and government debt disregard the changes in fundamental trends. In the period between 1998 and 2017, the average nominal growth of the euro area was 3.1 per cent, which can stabilise government debt at around 100 per cent of GDP if the deficit rule is observed. Given the growth trends of the past 10 years, a deficit of approximately 1.1 per cent would stabilise debt at 60 per cent. Examining from the perspective of demand stimulation an overly strict fiscal policy is unable to stimulate the economy to the necessary extent and, moreover, could endogenously result in shrinking the actual and potential output.

Chart 1-5: Deficit-debt convergence values at different nominal GDP growth rates



Note: The euro area growth figure is the unweighted mathematical average of nominal GDP growth in the years 2009 to 2018. The government debt (horizontal axis) and budget deficit (vertical axis) values are percentages of GDP. Source: IMF WEO, based on Pasinetti (1998).

The definition of the Maastricht convergence criterion on inflation, like other criteria, reflected the prevailing economic policy consensus of the nineties. The Maastricht Treaty let the ECB determine the exact numeric value of the inflation target for the functioning monetary union. It provides only a relative requirement for the entry into the euro area at the time of formation and for the countries subsequently entering the euro: the arithmetic average of the values of the three lowest inflation countries should not exceed one and a half percentage points over the average of the twelve months preceding the examination. This definition ensures that the inflation rate of the entering countries differs only in a certain extent from that of the other countries that does not pose significant problems after entering the single monetary policy. The inflation criterion, calculated from the average of the three countries with the lowest inflation, ensures that convergence is as close as practically possible to price stability, while at the same time reducing the risk that an individual country's outlier inflation becomes the reference value. The one and a half per cent difference above this average can be justified by the fact that, after analysing the data of many monetary unions, that this one and a half per cent was the average inflation difference among regions (Canadian provinces, US Member States, Spanish regions), although there were higher (Dutch, UK) and smaller (German Länders) examples as well. Similar differences have been found in real exchange rate changes among countries with fix exchange rates (Buti and Sapir 1998, pp.190). At the start of the monetary union, and in particular, in the context of convergence of the less-developed countries that joined later, there was much debate about the problem of systematically higher inflation during the catchingup period. Although there was a consensus about the existence of this systematically higher inflation, its rate, due to the pace and the term of convergence, was not considered to be so severe to undermine the entrance of catching-up counties or their stability in the monetary union if these counties implemented a credible
economic policy thus, it was not considered to be necessary to treat these countries differently or to change the inflation criterion (Buti and Sapir 1998, pp.204).

The entry criterion for long-term government bond interest rates requires that the average of the long-term interest rates of the three countries with the lowest inflation is no more than 2 per cent above the average interest rate of the aspiring country in the twelve months preceding the examination. Due to the definition, the criterion is primarily intended to measure the market perception of sustainability of the already achieved price stability. As central banks typically leave the shaping of longterm interest rate to the markets, these rates reflect the expectations of market participants, among which inflation expectations are considered to play an important role. Since larger difference allowed to have above the average of the long-term interest rates than in the case of the inflation criterion, this presumably implies the recognition that, apart from inflation expectations, other factors also influence interest rate differences. These include exchange rate expectations (interest rate parity) that are still relevant before entry, perceptions of fiscal sustainability (credit risk premium), differences in monetary policy transmission mechanisms, and even technical factors such as government securities infrastructure, market liquidity (liquidity premium). The convergence of long-term government bond interest rates is also remarkable because it plays a significant role in monetary transmission: the ultimate impact of short-term yields on the real economy, which is strongly influenced by the central bank, is determined by how the financial system translates these interest rates into their lending activity that affects saving and investment decisions. Risk-free long-term returns play a key role in pricing credit products. Substantial differences in long-term risk-free interest rates would mean that the single monetary policy would have a different impact on the real economies of different countries.

References

Arize, A. C. (1996). Real exchange-rate volatility and trade flows: The experience of eight European economies. *International Review of Economics & Finance*, 5(2), 187-205. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1059-0560(96)90043-X

Bayoumi, T., & Eichengreen, B. (1997). Ever closer to heaven? An optimum-currency-area index for European countries. *European economic review*, 41(3-5), 761-770. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0014292197000354

Buti, M., & Sapir, A. (Eds.). (1998). *Economic Policy in the EMU: A Study by the European Commission Services*. Clarendon Press.

De Grauwe, P. (2000). Economics of Monetary Union. Oxford University Press. Oxford

Delors, J. (1989). Regional implications of economic and monetary integration. *Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union, Report on Economic and Monetary Union in the European Community, Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the EC.* <u>http://aei.pitt.edu/1008/1/monetary_delors_collected_papers.pdf</u>

Eichengreen, B. (1991). Is Europe an optimum currency area. *NBER Working Paper*, 3579. <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w3579</u>

European Commission (1998). European Economy (No. 65) <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eco-nomy_finance/publications/pages/publication8013_en.pdf</u>

Fitoussi, J. P., & Saraceno, F. (2004). *The Brussels-Frankfurt-Washington Consensus.* Old and new tradeoffs in economics. <u>https://www.ofce.sciences-po.fr/pdf/dtravail/</u> <u>WP2004-02.pdf</u>

Frieden, J. (1998). The euro: Who wins? Who loses? *Foreign Policy*, 25-40.<u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1149033?seq=1</u>

Godley, W. (1992). Maastricht and all that. *London Review of Books*, 14(19), 3-4. <u>htt-ps://www.lrb.co.uk/the-paper/v14/n19/wynne-godley/maastricht-and-all-that</u>

Goodhart, C. A. E. (1992). National fiscal policy within EMU: The fiscal implications of Maastricht. London School of Economics and Political Science. <u>http://aei.pitt.edu/816/1/scop98_3_4.pdf</u>

Gros, D. (1996). Towards Economic and Monetary Union: problems and prospects. *Centre for European Policy Studies, 65*

Gros, D., & Thygesen, N. (1998). European Monetary Integration: From the EMS to EMU.

Hu, M. Y., Jiang, C. X., & Tsoukalas, C. (1997). The European exchange rates before and after the establishment of the European Monetary System. *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money*, 7(3), 235-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1042-4431(97)00021-8</u>

Kregel, J. A. (1999). Currency stabilization through full employment: Can EMU combine price stability with employment and income growth? *Eastern Economic Journal*, 25(1), 35-47. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/40325904?seq=1</u>

Lámfalussy, C., Maes, I., Peters, S., & Péter, N. L. (2014). Lámfalussy Sándor: az euró bölcse. (The Wise Man of the Euro) Mathias Corvinus Collegium.

Magyar Nemzeti Bank (2011). Elemzés a konvergencia folyamatokról, Hová tart az euro (An Analysis of Convergence Trends. Where is the Euro Heading?), October, pp. 11-23, <u>https://www.mnb.hu/letoltes/convergence-elemzes-hu.pdf</u>

Obstfeld, M., Cooper, R. N., & Krugman, P. R. (1985). Floating exchange rates: experience and prospects. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1985(2), 369-464. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2534443</u>

Pasinetti, L. L. (1998). The myth (or folly) of the 3% deficit/GDP parameter. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, No. 1.

Shafer, J. R., Loopesko, B. E., Bryant, R. C., & Dornbusch, R. (1983). Floating exchange rates after ten years. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1983(1), 1-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2534352</u>

Thygesen, N. (2002). The Stability and Growth Pact: Any Need For Revision? A note for the Economic and Monetary Affairs Committee of the European Parliament, 4th quarter 2002. <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/comparl/econ/pdf/emu/speeches/20021203/20021203_thygesen.pdf</u>

Trichet, J. C. (2011). Two continents compared. In *Speech presented at the ECB Watchers Conference on June* (Vol. 10, p. 2011). <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/key/date/2011/html/sp110610.en.html</u>

Performance of the euro area in light of the Maastricht criteria and beyond

Anna Boldizsár — Zoltán Bögöthy — Balázs Kóczián — Géza Rippel — Bence Siket

While the inflation rate criterion was largely met by the Member States at the time the euro was launched, the rate of non-compliance steadily increased afterwards. Since the mid-2000, the criterion was successfully met by an increasing number of Member States. At the same time, the global financial crisis of 2008-2009 brought to surface the structural problems, thus increasing the rate of non-compliance once again. In the last ten years, there has been a fluctuating downward trend in terms of non-compliance.

The criterion for long-term interest rates had been successfully fulfilled by all Member States by the end of 2010. As in the case of inflation, following the global financial crisis, long-term yields were spread within a wider band and, therefore the rate of non-compliance increased. After the economic recovery, as both the reference value and standard deviation started to decline, long-term yields began to converge and, currently, all euro area Member States have successfully met the longterm interest rate criterion.

Experience gained during the period since the introduction of the euro has shown that the Maastricht budgetary criteria have, for all practical purposes, failed to provide the fiscal stability and the room for manoeuvre required for the single currency. It should be noted that Member States joined the euro at different points in their economic cycle, which is a particularly important factor in terms of fiscal room for manoeuvre, in particular as far as the government debt ratio is concerned. It does matter whether compliance with the accession criteria was achieved during an economic boom or a period of recession. Throughout most of the pre-accession period, those Member States that subsequently managed to successfully join the euro area had achieved a close-to-balance fiscal position, while less successful countries typically had not met the relevant deficit criterion or had met it for a short period only. Most countries have failed to meet the criteria even following their accession to the euro area.

The external balance indicators suggest that the differences between the countries adopting the euro continued to grow before the global financial crisis; in other words, euro area countries were veering away rather than converging toward each other. The standard deviation of current account balances of euro area countries rose continuously and significantly between the mid-90s and the outbreak of the global financial crisis. The dynamics of net external debt also exhibited sharp differences across these countries. Their FDI inflows moved within a narrow range before the 2000s but after the strengthening of globalisation and the integration of the financial system following the establishment of the Monetary Union they started to show greater fluctuations. As regards external balance indicators, the disparities observed among euro area countries after the adoption of the euro are also demonstrated by diverging current account balances and the growing differences between net external debt, which may reflect the vastly different financial savings of households.

The Maastricht criteria failed to take into account real economy (labour mobility, productivity) and capital movement-related (current account balances, savings rates) considerations. On the whole, the simultaneous convergence of nominal interest rates and the divergence of inflation rates prior to the global financial crisis resulted in lower real interest rates in periphery countries compared to core countries, thus sowing the seeds of the subsequent debt crisis of the former group of countries.

While the adoption of the single currency held out the promise of macroeconomic stability and real economic convergence, experience gained during the past few decades has revealed that the introduction of the euro has been no guarantee for real convergence. The growth experiences of euro area economies vary across individual country groups and periods; the success of the countries achieving faster convergence can primarily be attributed to country-specific factors. Moreover, the growth of intra euro area trade was stimulated by the monetary union to a lesser degree than originally expected. Labour market processes have shown significant divergence in the past two decades, due in part to the different flexibility and structure of the labour markets and the differences in fiscal policies and a low labour mobility within the euro area in addition to the impact of the global economic crisis of 2008/2009. Labour mobility in the euro area is still lower than the rate of migration in the United States. The recent mild increase in mobility is primarily associated with recently joining countries and workers with a college degree.

The role of the euro area in the global economy has, on the whole, declined in recent decades. By 2018, the region's share in global GDP (at purchasing power parity) dropped below 12 per cent from 16 per cent in 1999. In addition to a slow recovery from the global economic crisis of 2008/2009, structural factors also contributed to this decline. Boasting an outstanding performance throughout its history, Europe is falling increasingly behind in terms of innovation, with a particularly prominent lag in terms of the growth in intangible investments and productivity. The turnover of the euro declined slightly in global foreign exchange markets, but its role in the composition of international foreign exchange reserves increased. However, the US dollar's dominance in international trade continues.

1.2.1 Performance of the euro area in light of the Maastricht criteria

Table 1-2: Convergence criteria for joining the eurozone

Criterion	Description	
Price stability	The inflation rate may not exceed the average inflation rate of the 3 best-performing Member States by more than 1.5 percentage points.	
Sound and sustainable public finances	The fiscal deficit may not exceed 3% of GDP.	
	Government debt may not exceed 60% of GDP. Where government debt exceeds 60 per cent of GDP, the country concerned must reduce the debt ratio continuously and significantly.	
Exchange rate stability	Member States wishing to join must participate in the exchange rate mechanism (ERM II) for at least two years without their currencies deviating significantly from the mid-rate applied in ERM II, or without depreciating their currency's mid-rate against the euro during the same period.	
Long-term interest rates	The long-term interest rate may be no more than 2 percentage points above the rate of the 3 best-performing Member States in terms of price stability.	

Source: European Commission.

Already at the start, one fifth of the Member States failed to meet the criteria formulated and approved by 12 Member States, which only strengthened scepticism towards the success of the euro area. According to De Grauwe (2009), the Maastricht convergence criteria were political instruments, not economically vital measures. The European governmental ambitions of the 1990s accelerated the introduction of the monetary union as soon as possible. As the introduction date of 1999 approached, it became increasingly obvious that numerous countries would be unable to meet the previously accepted entrance criteria.

Alexandre Lamfalussy thought similarly; in his opinion, the single currency was merely a "political mechanism". Those listing the counterarguments pointed out that the concept of sustainable convergence had never been defined. Afxentiou (2000) emphasised that the Maastricht criteria had very little to do with convergence proper. According to his definition, convergence "is a process which unifies technological and non-rival domains, preparing institutionally and structurally less developed countries to catch up with those at the forefront". At the same time, the Maastricht criteria prescribe convergence mainly in the areas of price and fiscal stability. It was also a criticism by De Grauwe (2009) and Paleta (2012) that compliance with the entrance criteria prior to entry is no guarantee of convergence afterwards. Temperton (1998) stressed that the convergence of the founders was achieved in a period characterised by low global inflation and low European aggregate demand; in other words, at a time when none of the countries recorded actual output above its potential level. In the following chapter we discuss each Maastricht convergence criterion to assess the extent to which the criteria referred to above was met successfully upon entry and thereafter. We will also examine the consequences of the convergence or divergence observed in each criterion in different regions of the euro area.

The Maastricht fiscal criteria and lessons learned from the experiences of Member States

Of the Maastricht convergence criteria, two criteria affect the budget: those related to government deficit and the government debt ratio. Based on the deficit criterion, the government deficit of the EU Member State wishing to join the euro area may not exceed 3 per cent of gross domestic product in the current year. Moreover, according to the debt-related requirement the debt-to-GDP ratio of the candidate country may not exceed 60 per cent, and if this cannot be achieved, the debt ratio must be reduced at a satisfactory pace.

Experiences gained since the introduction of the euro demonstrate that the Maastricht fiscal criteria are practically unable to ensure either the fiscal stability or the economic policy leeway necessary for a single currency regime. The fiscal rules enshrined in the 1993 Maastricht Treaty are only a formally sufficient condition for joining the euro area, but do not demonstrate whether the candidate country is mature enough for the entry. Member States of the euro area show remarkable differences in respect of how they achieved compliance with the Maastricht fiscal criteria upon entry and thereafter.

Member States whose entry was deemed successful on retrospect achieved a near-equilibrium fiscal balance for the most part in the period preceding their accession, while unsuccessful countries typically did not comply with the relevant deficit criterion or their compliance proved to be short-lived. Western and Northern European countries had already boasted government deficits below the Maastricht criteria for the most part of the years preceding the adoption of the euro, while the average fiscal deficit of Mediterranean countries met the 3 per cent Maastricht deficit target only for a few years preceding their accession (upon entering the common exchange rate regime), and the deficit exceeded the criterion in several Mediterranean countries afterwards (Chart 1-6). Public finances in the Central and Eastern European countries were able to meet the requirements by the time of accession to the euro area.

It is important to stress that Member States accessed the euro area at different points of their economic cycles, which played a very important role in terms of the room available for fiscal manoeuvring. The time of the euro adoption is particularly important from the perspective of the cyclical position of European and global economy in the relevant period. The single currency was introduced in Western European countries at a time of favourable global economic activity when, thanks to the automatic fiscal stabilisers, fiscal deficits declined. While most Mediterranean Member States were able to comply with the 3 per cent deficit target by the time of the euro adoption and even afterwards, due to country-specific factors and their high outstanding debts they were hit harder by the global economic crisis. Central and Eastern European Member States entered the euro area between 2007 and 2015, which coincided with the outbreak of the global economic crisis in the case of Slovakia and Slovenia and with the period of recovery in the case of the Baltic States. At the same time, CEE countries recovered from the recession typically amid low debt ratios ranging between 30 and 40 percentage points, with occasional deficit increases.

Chart 1-6: Average ESA deficit of euro area Member States in the years preceding and following the entry to the euro area



Note: the country group of Western and Northern Europe comprises Belgium, Germany, Ireland, France, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Austria and Finland; Mediterranean countries consist of Greece, Spain, Italy, Cyprus, Malta and Portugal, while Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovenia and Slovakia make up Central and Eastern European countries.

Source: European Commission.

The government debt ratio has a greater impact on the economic policy leeway than the deficit. By the time of their accession to the euro area, Western and Northern European Member States pushed their debt ratios below 60 per cent on average, while the average debt-to-GDP ratio of Mediterranean countries ranged between 70 and 80 per cent. Joining the euro area at a later date, Central and Eastern European Member States entered the monetary union with debt levels below 50 per cent (Chart 1-7). The sovereign debt crisis showed that the examination of the sustainability of the debt-to-GDP ratio should also be extended to the assessment of the level of development of the relevant Member State.



Chart 1-7: Average debt ratio of euro area Member States in the years preceding and following the entry to the euro area

Note: the country group of Western and Northern Europe comprises Belgium, Germany, Ireland, France, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Austria and Finland; Mediterranean countries consist of Greece, Spain, Italy, Cyprus, Malta and Portugal, while Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovenia and Slovakia make up Central and Eastern European countries. Source: European Commission.

Most countries failed to meet the criteria even after their accession to the euro area. Since the introduction of the euro in its physical form (2002), it has never been observed that more than

half of the Member States could keep their debt ratio under 60 per cent. The number of countries achieving such a ratio ranged only between 30 and 45 per cent during this period (Chart 1-8). In the period of economic boom euro area Member States typically achieved the deficit criterion, but during the period of crisis management most Member States recorded a deficit level in excess of 3 per cent of GDP.

Chart 1-8: Share of Member States with a government deficit above 3 per cent and a debt ratio above 60 per cent of GDP in the euro area



Source: Eurostat.

The Maastricht criteria do not provide sufficient fiscal space and stability, and do not allow for idiosyncratic factors. The lack of independent Member State monetary policies and community budget transfers calls for substantial fiscal leeway in euro area Member States. However, the budgetary conditions determined by the criteria for the application/admission to the euro area are insufficient for this. The fiscal conditions for entry to the euro area need to ensure a stable fiscal position through lower government deficit and reduced public debt. At the same time, they need to have sufficient flexibility and consideration for country-specific factors in order to support the availability of sufficient fiscal space to stabilise the economy without jeopardising the sustainability of public finances in the event of asymmetric shocks.

Inflation criterion

The calculation of the inflation indicator also sparked significant criticism. The inflation reference criterion is calculated from the arithmetic mean of the three European Union Member States with the lowest inflation. Because the reference criterion covers the entire European Union, convergence to the inflation of the euro area is not ensured. Due to the nature of the calculation method, the reference group may also include countries with negligible economic weight that are exposed to asymmetric shocks compared to the euro area. Proximity to the criterion also means that the given country is among the "best performers" with respect to inflation. However, as Japanese and euro area experiences have demonstrated in recent years, an overly low level of inflation is not always adequate either. All of the above reconfirms that the countries closest to the European Central Bank's 2 per cent inflation target should be considered the reference (Jonas, 2004).





Note: In accordance with the standards of the European Commission, owing to volatile trends, Lithuania was excluded from the analysis in 2014, Ireland in 2011 and 2012, Greece in 2013, 2014 and 2015 and Cyprus in 2014, 2015 and 2016. Source: Eurostat, own calculation and editing.

By the Millennium, the convergence of inflation rates was largely accomplished, and upon the launch of the euro area only 18 per cent of the Member States (Portugal and Italy) failed to comply with the inflation criterion required for entry (Chart 1-9). However, after the launch of the euro area, the inflation paths started to diverge: while – with a few exceptions – the inflation rates of core countries resided under the reference value, the values of periphery countries continuously exceeded the threshold. The growing divergence was also evidenced by the rate of non-compliance: by 2001 the indicator grew to 67 per cent from the initial, nearly 20 per cent level. In the pre-crisis period the convergence of inflation rates resumed, but the crisis brought to the surface the structural differences of the economies and accordingly, the rate of non-compliance began to grow once again. The sharp fall in the reference value and the parallel increase in non-compliance also pinpointed the methodological deficiencies of the criterion. In 2009 the reference value departed from the ECB's inflation target initially by plus and subsequently by minus 1.5 percentage points. With minor or major fluctuations, the inflation rates show convergence once again from the 2010s. Looking at the period as a whole, we find significant fluctuations both in non-compliance and reference values. Over the last twenty years, we witnessed some months when all euro area Member States fulfilled the inflation criterion, while in some other cases almost 70 per cent of the members failed to comply.

Chart 1-10: Share of non-compliance with the inflation criterion across existing euro area Member States (January 1999-October 2019)



The share of non-compliance

Note: In accordance with the standards of the European Commission, owing to volatile trends, Lithuania was excluded from the analysis in 2014, Ireland in 2011 and 2012, Greece in 2013, 2014 and 2015 and Cyprus in 2014, 2015 and 2016. Source: Eurostat, own calculation and editing.

Looking at the share of non-compliance in each country reveals significant heterogeneity (Chart 1-10). While Germany failed to meet the criterion in 4 per cent of the cases, Spain and Greece exceeded the reference value in 44 and 67 per cent of the cases, respectively. It is also evident that new entrants have remarkably high non-compliance rates. Although Estonia and Lithuania fulfilled the convergence criterion upon entry, their inflation rates were above the reference value in more than half of the cases overall. This leads us to conclude that the 12-month compliance period does not guarantee sustainable compliance later on.

Long-term interest rate criterion

Examining the standard deviation of long-term yields, for the most part (apart from some volatility), a continuous covariance can be observed up until the global financial crisis (Chart 1-11). This was also reflected in terms of compliance with the criteria: until the end of 2010, each country had fulfilled the criterion on long-term yields. However, as a result of the change in risk perception, long-term yields moved within a broader range following the crisis.

Chart 1-11: Share of non-compliance with the long-term interest rate criterion, reference value and standard deviations of longterm interest rates in current Member States of the euro area (January 1999-September 2019)



Note: Based on the justification of the European Commission, Ireland was excluded from the reference calculation in 2012. Ireland faced extremely high nominal interests during the period, and the indicator became practically meaningless from an economic perspective. Although no convergence report was prepared between April 2010 and March 2012 to rely on, in 2010 and 2011 we also removed Greece from the reference calculation for similar reasons. Source: Eurostat, own calculation and editing

With the ebbing of risk appetite, investors started to sell the longterm government bonds of periphery countries, which drove the yields up on the securities concerned. Capital flew to safer instruments, and the yields on core country securities decreased in response. As a net result, core country yields shifted upwards while periphery yields moved downwards from the average, prompting a prominent surge in yield spreads. With the rise in yield differentials non-compliance with the criterion also increased, and by the end of 2013 the indicator rose to 30 per cent. With the decline in the reference value and moderating standard deviations, long yields began to converge once again after the recovery. By July 2019 the conditions seen in 2010 returned, and all Member States of the euro area fulfilled the long-term interest rate convergence criterion.

The consequences of converging interest rates and different inflation rates

As discussed above, there were different developments in yields and inflation rates in the Member States of the euro area. The pre-crisis co-movement of nominal interests coupled with the divergence observed in inflation rates precipitated, overall, a lower level of real interest rates in periphery countries than in core countries (Chart 1-12).

As a result of low real interest rates, the European banking sector started to provide cheap financing to the private and public sectors of periphery countries. The subdued real interest rate reduced propensity to save among domestic (resident) participants significantly. Consequently, core countries became the creditors of the periphery, which was reflected in diverging current account balances. The problem was exacerbated further by the fact that most of the funds flew to the real estate sector, which boosted the house price bubble on the one hand, and reduced productive investment on the other hand, thereby restraining the medium and long-term productivity of periphery economies. **Core and periphery real interest rates embarked on completely different paths during the crisis, and covariance was replaced by divergence.**

Chart 1-12: Real interest rates in the core and periphery countries of the euro area (January 1999-September 2019)



Note: The real interest rate is the difference between the 10-year government bond yield and the inflation rate of the current month Core countries comprise Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Luxembourg and the Netherlands, while Portugal, Italy, Greece and Spain make up the periphery. Source: Eurostat, own calculation and editing.

While core countries had cheap access to funds amid low inflation, periphery countries faced – also amid moderate inflation – high nominal interest rates. Owing to low inflation and high risk premium, the real interest rate of periphery countries stood at a higher level at end-2011 than in 1999, upon the launch of the euro area. There were periods in 2011 when the yield differential between the periphery and the core exceeded 400 basis points. The high cost of finance increased the indebtedness of periphery countries even further at the expense of competitiveness and labour productivity. Yet another new phase commenced in 2015, with a practically continuous, nearly 200 basis-point difference between the real interest rates. On the whole, the Maastricht criteria did not ensure full convergence across the Member States; only partial convergence was achieved.

The Maastricht criteria disregarded real economic (labour mobility, productivity) and capital flow (current account balances, saving rates) aspects. Although the convergence of nominal interest rates had been achieved by the crisis, with respect to other balance indicators the separation of Member States, especially the groups of periphery and core countries, had begun. The crisis of the euro area underpinned that although the criteria were capable of facilitating partial convergence in times of peace, additional real economic and capital flow criteria and indicators need to be introduced to ensure full convergence across the in the euro area.

1.2.2 Real convergence in the euro area

The European Economic and Monetary Union promised, in addition to prosperity, **macroeconomic stability** and **real economic convergence**. Through the stabilisation of the exchange rate and the reduction of transaction costs, the single currency was intended to stimulate capital mobility and trade within the euro area which, in theory, would also foster real economic convergence across the Member States. In the pre-crisis period economic policy-makers typically expected **monetary policy to be capable of stabilising inflation and hence, real economic developments as well**, whereby the common monetary policy can effectively manage economic cycles, while idiosyncratic effects can be smoothed by rule-based fiscal policies. **Harmonised business cycles** represent an important factor in a currency area as indeed, this harmonisation may ensure that it is the common effects sustained by the countries that are decisive rather than country-specific impacts.

According to Franks et al. (2018), the business cycles of euro area countries have become increasingly synchronised in recent decades, but the authors also observed that the amplitude of those cycles diverged, overall, after the crisis. The business cycles of the founder states had exhibited a strong co-movement even in the decades preceding the introduction of the single currency, which strengthened further in the period between 1999 and the crisis. After 2008, the harmonisation increased further and characterised a broad range of the countries. The closer relationship between the GDP changes of Member States also points to the synchronised nature of the economic cycles. In the past few decades there was increasing co-movement between the quarter-on-quarter GDP changes observed in the twelve Member States first to introduce the euro (Chart 1-13). Cross-country correlation relative to the euro area GDP improved significantly in the case of France, Finland, Italy and the Netherlands after the adoption of the euro, while - owing to the accumulation of macro-level imbalances and unsuccessful crisis management - Greek GDP remained on a persistently worse growth past in the past period. It should be noted that, besides the common monetary policy, broadening globalisation also contributed to the harmonisation of the business cycles, as evidenced by the fact that correlation between the GDP changes in the euro area, the United Kingdom and the USA increased significantly in the period under review.



Chart 1-13: Correlations with GDP growth in the euro area

Note: Based on quarter-on-quarter changes. Source: MNB calculation based on OECD.

The business cycles became more synchronised in the Monetary Union, but the adoption of the euro is no guarantee in itself for real economic convergence. The crisis demonstrated that the economic consequences of the common impacts sustained by the euro area may vary from country to country depending on economic structure, indebtedness, the global integration of the financial system, the phase of the balance cycle and the automatic fiscal stabilisers. Individual fiscal policies have a greater role in heterogeneous economies, while the power of the common monetary policy transmission weakens. The macroeconomic stabilisation instruments may operate efficiently under harmonised cycles despite the persisting disparities between Member States in terms of income (level of development). As a result of the single currency, capital flows - in theory - to emerging countries, but income disparities may persist over the longer term if the capital is concentrated in low-productivity sectors. Advanced human and physical infrastructure and innovation boost the ability to attract capital and hence, facilitate the growth in per capita GDP.

The convergence of economic development is key to economic integration and an important factor in terms of the cohesion of the monetary union. The Maastricht criteria primarily formulated nominal and fiscal conditions for candidate countries, and were subject to broad criticism upon their introduction (Emerson et al., 1992; Bini-Smaghi et al., 2013). At the same time, the Maastricht criteria ignored numerous real economic factors relevant to the evolution and operation of an optimal currency area. In the following we will examine developments in per capita GDP at purchasing power parity (PPP), economic structure, external trade, the labour market and labour productivity in euro area countries, with special regard to the assessment of the convergence process.

The growth experiences of euro area economies vary across countries and groups of countries (Tables 1-3). PPP GDP per capita ranged between USD 29,000 and 46,000 in the countries that adopted the single currency upon its launch in 1999; Portugal's level of development was close to 70 per cent of the German value, while the corresponding value of the Netherlands was around 110 per cent. For the most part, the relative level of development increased until the crisis in Member States introducing the euro in 1999 and 2001 (Greece), while Italy, Portugal and France exhibited economic divergence (Chart 1-14, left-hand panel). Despite the broad-based convergence, only two countries managed to accumulate a considerable amount of additional growth benefit in the first decade of the common currency. In the case of Ireland, however, accelerated convergence started as early as the first half of the 1990s, whereas the convergence of Greece proved to be unsustainable after the accession and entailed the accumulation of severe vulnerabilities. In the decade following the crisis, only Ireland succeeded in raising the relative development level - partly as a result of statistical effects -, while GDP per capita relative to Germany decreased in most Member States. In the first two decades of the adoption of the euro, Ireland has been the only country to accumulate surplus growth.

	1980-1999	2000-2019*	Difference
Ireland	5.1	5.6	0.5
Lithuania***	4.9	5.2	0.3
Estonia***	5.5	5.0	-0.5
Latvia***	5.2	4.9	-0.3
Slovakia**	4.8	4.4	-0.4
Luxemburg	4.7	3.5	-1.1
Slovenia***	4.1	3.0	-1.1
Spain	2.7	2.2	-0.5
Finland	2.7	2.1	-0.5
Austria	2.4	1.9	-0.4
Belgium	2.2	1.9	-0.3
Netherlands	2.7	1.8	-0.8
Germany	2.1	1.8	-0.3
France	2.2	1.6	-0.5
Portugal	3.1	1.0	-2.1
Italy	2.0	0.7	-1.3
Greece	1.4	0.6	-0.8

Table 1-3: Average annual GDP growth in euro area countries

Note: Based on quarterly data. Not including Cyprus and Malta. *Not including 2009. **Data available since 1994. ***Data available since 1996. Source: OECD.

The experiences of countries joining the euro area later on are also mixed. Since the accession, relative development has increased, overall, in Malta, Slovakia, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, while the relative indicator has deteriorated in Slovenia and Cyprus (Chart 1-14, right-hand panel). It should be noted that, similar to Ireland, accounting effects also contributed to per capita GDP growth in Malta. For the time being, **Slovakia**'s entry and its continued real convergence can be considered a **successful** **example** of euro adoption, to which a flexible labour market and sufficient fiscal space also contributed. The fast per capita GDP growth observed in the **Baltic States**, however, is misleading: the significant increase in the per capita indicators of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania can be attributed to a **sharp overall population decline in recent decades**.



Note: The adoption of the euro is indicated by circles in the case of countries joining the euro area after 1999. Calculated at purchasing power parity. Source: MNB calculation based on WDI, Maddison and AMECO.

The disparities observed in the time series of relative development is also evident in the standard deviation of GDP per capita across euro area Member States, the increase (decrease) of which points to convergence (divergence). **The standard deviation of the economic development** of countries joining upon the launch of the euro area (excluding Luxembourg) **was fairly low between 1975 and 1999, but increased significantly in the past two decades** (Chart 1-15). New members with lower GDP per capita compared to the founders significantly raised the standard deviation of the development levels of Member States.



Chart 1-15: Standard deviation of GDP per capita in euro area Member States

Note: Calculated at purchasing power parity. *Excluding Luxembourg. Source: MNB calculation based on WDI, Maddison and AMECO.

Box 1-1: Winners and losers of the adoption of the euro

Twenty years have passed since the introduction of the single currency, yet **there is still much controversy among economists and economic politicians concerning the macro-economic impacts of the euro.** A recently published empirical study (Gasparotti & Külas, 2019) by the German think tank Center for European Policy looked at which countries have benefited from joining the euro area. The authors simulated alternative growth scenarios for Germany, the Netherlands, Greece, Spain, Belgium, Portugal, France and Italy during the period 1999-2017, comparing those scenarios with reality.

Their analysis has clearly identified the winners and losers of the adoption of the euro: **Germany and the Netherlands have benefited enormously from the single currency, whereas France and Italy have made a huge loss on having adopted the euro**. The importance of the issue is attested by the fact that their findings have had considerable repercussions both among the public and in academic circles, and they even sparked a response from the French finance ministry.

The first twenty years of the single currency can be seen is two entirely different decades, the first of which was typically a success story, whereas the second mostly proved to be a failure. **The euro performed well in times of economic prosperity** whereas, according to the authors, the competitive devaluation of the currency, an important tool of crisis management, would become unavailable during troubled times. The resulting weakened competitiveness and asymmetric responses to unexpected economic shocks have brought about slower economic growth, increased unemployment and lower tax revenues in various euro area members. **The euro area was shaken by the global financial crisis of 2008 and the euro crisis in 2011 and 2012**. 5 of the 17 euro countries depended on bailout packages and bilateral credit agreements.

In addition to the harmonisation of the cycles, the **structure of the economies is another determinant** of the operation of the single currency area and the convergence process. The structure of European economies has shifted in recent decades. In general, the significance of market services has increased, while the weight of industry and agriculture declined (Chart 1-16).

Germany has been the only one among the major euro area countries where the share of industry in the overall economy has remained high, still exceeding 25 per cent of the gross added value.



Chart 1-16: Breakdown of the GDP in terms of production (lefthand panel) and consumption (right-hand panel)

Note: In the production view, the weight of each industry within the added value. Source: Eurostat.

The economic structure of countries entering the euro area later was different at the time of the accession - and has been different ever since -, which is mainly reflected in the greater significance of industry and construction and the smaller weight of market services. Across the euro area countries, it is the share of industry and market services in value added that makes up the greatest difference, and the standard deviation of the significance of industry in individual Member States has also increased in recent decades (Chart 1-17, left-hand panel). Differences in expenditure side items are even more prominent, primarily as a result of the different weight of external trade and household consumption (Chart 1-17, right-hand panel). Because of the different economic structures, the common impacts sustained by the euro area may affect individual economies differently the monetary policy stance may be too loose for some states and too tight for others.



Chart 1-17: Standard deviation of the weight of production and expenditure side items in euro area Member States

Note: On the production side, weight of the sectors in value added. Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat.

The external trade of European countries increased in the past decades; both exports and imports grew by more than 6 per cent on average annually between the 1960s and the introduction of the euro. Policymakers and economists envisaged an additional dynamic increase in trade within the single currency area (Rose, 1999). Based on the experiences of the past two decades, however, the results are contradictory: the extent to which the monetary union stimulated the growth of external trade was below expectations (Glick and Rose, 2015; Gunnella et al., 2015). The impact of the monetary union on trade is uncertain due to such factors as the broadening of globalisation, geopolitical events and the establishment and continuous enlargement of the European Union itself. According to Campbell and Chentsov's (2017) estimate, trade is driven primarily by the broadening of European integration, while the introduction of the euro has no robust effect in itself.

Despite the continuous enlargement of the euro area, between 1999 and 2018 **intra-EA trade in goods** (sum of exports and imports)

rose only by less than 5 percentage points as a percentage of GDP, while extra-EA trade grew by almost 15 percentage points in the same period (Chart 1-18, left-hand panel). Germany has an extremely prominent role in trade, accounting for almost 32 per cent of total euro area goods exports and 27 per cent of goods imports in 2018. This translates to 4.5 per cent of the contribution of subsequently joined countries to trade in goods (exports + imports); i.e. nearly two times their share in GDP. Less than half of the trade in this region is exchanged within the euro area. Between 2005 and 2018, services trade rose to 25.5 per cent from 16.5 per cent of GDP (Chart 1-18, right-hand panel). In addition to Germany – which, similar to trade in goods, has the greatest weight –, France and the Netherlands, Ireland plays a prominent role in the external trade in services, accounting for nearly 12 per cent of the euro area's services exports and imports in 2018. Subsequently joined countries have a smaller weight than seen in the case of trade in goods; the contribution of the countries adopting the euro after 2006 to the services trade was less than 3 per cent in 2018.





Note: Sum of exports and imports. Source: MNB calculation based on UNCTAD and WDI.

With the free movement of labour, the European Union **promised the tighter integration of labour markets,** and the introduction of the single currency and the harmonisation of business cycles were intended to strengthen this integration. Among the founders, after Luxemburg, Austria and the Netherlands recorded the lowest (4.2 per cent) and Spain the highest (13.6 per cent) unemployment rate in 1999. During the past twenty years, the unemployment rate in Member States has varied broadly, typically exceeding the figures observed in the US and Japan (Chart 1-19).





Note: *Not including Luxemburg. Source: AMECO, IMF.

In the period between the adoption of the euro and 2007, unemployment rates converged, overall – the standard deviation of the rates observed in Member States moderated. Labour markets were hit by the global economic crisis in different states: the Greek unemployment rate surged above 27 per cent, while the German and Austrian rates remained relatively low. Pointing to significant divergence among euro area Member States, the standard deviation of unemployment rates (and their changes) increased considerably between 2007 and 2013. Despite the resumed convergence of the rates in recent years, there were still significant disparities between the Member States in 2018 (Chart 1-20). The unemployment rate is under 4 per cent in Germany, the Netherlands and Malta, while it is still above 10 per cent in Greece, Spain and Italy. It points to the lack of labour market convergence that in 2018 the standard deviation of unemployment rates in the euro area was around four times the value recorded in the individual states of the USA. In the past two decades, unemployment rates diverged, overall, compared to the year of the euro introduction which, apart from the impact of the crisis, can be attributed to differences in the flexibility and structure of labour markets, different fiscal policies, and low labour mobility within the euro area (Estrada et al., 2013).





Note: *excluding Luxembourg. Source: MNB calculation based on AMECO.

Labour market disparities and inflexibility go hand in hand with **low labour mobility** within the euro area. With the free movement of labour and the abolishment of border controls, the European integration promised the strengthening of mobi-

lity. Under a common monetary policy labour force migration supports the management of adverse economic effects (Mundell, 1961). Euro area labour mobility still lags behind the migration observed within the USA (Basso et al., 2018). The population rate of euro area citizens residing in a different country in the European Union ranged between 1.5 and 3 per cent, while in the USA out-of-state-born Americans made up 4-7 per cent of the 15-64 age group in the past almost two decades (Chart 1-21, lefthand panel). While mobility is low and practically constant over time in the 12 countries that introduced the single currency early on, labour force migration is higher in countries that joined the euro area later - the migration-to-population ratio of movers from these countries has approached 8 per cent in recent years. Therefore, as also supported by the analysis of Dao et al. (2013), the increase in the euro area's labour mobility can be primarily attributed to new entrants. The authors found that mobility is considerably higher in the case of Visegrad countries than in the case of the EU-15.

Chart 1-21: Population rate of euro area citizens residing in other EU Member States by country group (left-hand panel) and education (right-hand panel)



Note: Among ages 15-64. For the USA, mobility of American citizens between states and counties.

Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat and the American Community Survey.

The most popular destinations of intra-EU labour mobility are Germany, the United Kingdom, Italy, France and Spain. These countries received 74 per cent of the mobility flow in 2017. In the same year, Romanian, Polish, Portuguese, Italian and Bulgarian citizens accounted for nearly half of the mobility (Fries-Tersch et al., 2018). As regards mobility by education level, the population rate of low-educated movers remained essentially constant in the past two decades among euro area citizens residing in another EU Member State, while the ratio of movers with medium and high education increased (Chart 1-21, right-hand panel). In the past few years, nearly 1 per cent of the euro area population with tertiary education lived in other EU Member States; more than a tenth of the movers came from new entrants of the euro area. The low level of labour mobility hindered the convergence of euro area labour markets overall (Arpaia et al., 2016). The harmonisation of monetary policies and the adoption of the single currency did not give rise to an increase in mobility; it is primarily employment and income prospects and their cross-country differences that should be seen as the driving force behind migration (Quitzau et al., 2014).

As is the case with GDP per capita and the unemployment rate, there was **no convergence in euro area countries in labour productivity** either. The standard deviation of GDP per person employed increased continuously after the introduction of the single currency (Chart 1-22). Diaz del Hoyo et al. (2017) found that the **misallocation of production factors** and **structural problems** both contributed to the divergence in productivity among the 12 early euro adopters. Between 1999 and the outbreak of the crisis **capital flows were typicalyly channelled towards low-productivity sectors** such as the Spanish and Irish construction industry and low-productivity services in Portugal. In addition to the misallocation problem, productivity in Spain and Italy lagged behind other Member States in all major economic sectors, which was caused by the limited use of technological innovations, insufficient investment in human capital and the lack of the application of modern business models.





Note: Based on GDP per person employed. *Excluding Luxembourg. Source: MNB calculation based on AMECO.

The convergence of labour productivity failed to materialise among the founder countries; productivity growth in countries with lower initial productivity levels upon entry was restrained in the past decades. At the same time, convergence can be observed among later entrants (Chart 1-23). Entering the euro area with the lowest GDP per person employed, the productivity of Baltic States and Slovakia has expanded dynamically in recent years. Foreign direct investment inflows contributed to productivity growth in Slovakia, and continued to support buoyant growth even after the outbreak of the crisis.



Chart 1-23: Initial labour productivity levels and changes in productivity by country group

Note: Based on GDP per person employed. *Excluding Luxembourg. Source: MNB calculation based on AMECO.

1.2.3 Capital flow and finances in the euro area

The assessment of external balance positions before the euro adoption is of key significance. In addition to the previously discussed indicators, before the introduction of the euro there may be a need to introduce additional indicators designed to analyse the external balance position as indeed, convergence observed in these indicators may indicate whether an economy is prepared for the adoption of the euro. If, however, a country's indicators deviate – or even depart – from those observed in the majority of euro area countries, this might be an indication that the country concerned is not yet prepared for the adoption of the euro. This is because by adopting a common monetary policy, the countries introducing the euro give up an important adjustment channel of the external balance and presumably, different monetary policy decisions would be optimal for the countries mentioned above compared to the rest of euro area Member States and hence, the expected common monetary policy. It also demonstrates the significance of the new, broader assessment of convergence that in 2011 the European Parliament adopted the "Six-Pack" (see the Box below for a more detailed discussion of the Six-Pack measures), in the framework of which the previous Maastricht criteria were supplemented with numerous indicators – also described in this study – that were designed to allow for the annual review of macroeconomic imbalances potentially arising in individual countries. Under the Stability and Growth Pact, in addition to macroeconomic imbalances the legislative package also includes medium-term fiscal targets (MTOs – medium-term objectives) that are also intended to support economic stability.

Box 1-2: The EU's Economic Governance Package - "Six-Pack"

The experiences of the crisis highlighted the need for a closer coordination of Member State economic policies in the European Union and for the establishment of "economic governance". With that in mind, in 2011 the European Parliament adopted the "Six-Pack", a legislative package consisting of six measures designed to prevent the emergence of macroeconomic imbalances and facilitate public finance sustainability across the Member States. The rules are aimed at the establishment of the consistency of policy advice, the possibility of setting up an expenditure benchmark linked to the medium-term budgetary objective and the extension of country surveillance to those with current account surpluses. Moreover, the package expanded the possibility of opening excessive deficit procedures, introducing a new surveillance mechanism and procedures for the reduction of macroeconomic imbalances and introducing graduated financial sanctions. The rules of the package broadly cover all EU Member States in general, but certain elements (such as some
rules on the imposition of sanctions) are only applicable to the euro area.⁶ In addition, the thresholds applicable to real effective exchange rates and nominal unit labour costs during the assessment of macroeconomic imbalances differ for euro area and non-euro-area Member States.

Developments in the current account balance may point a country's reliance on external funds. If a country operates with persistent, substantial current account deficits, its spending exceeds its available income, which could only be made sustainable with investment activity that supports future net exports. Therefore, external funding plays a persistent role in financing consumption and investment in excess of what is permitted by internal funds. In the case of excessive inflows, this leads to a rise in external debt indicators which, through the surge in non-residents' incomes, may deteriorate the current account balance further and lead to a persistent deficit.

The standard deviation of the current account balances of euro area countries rose – doubled or tripled – continuously between the mid-90s and the outbreak of the crisis; in other words, there was no convergence either before or after the establishment of the currency union in terms of external balance. This indicates that although euro area economies form a monetary union, their net lending values departed from each other. If this had taken place in a situation where the current account balances of all euro area countries have a surplus or are close to equilibrium while the surplus increases in some of the countries, this would have been an indication of minor tensions only. This, however, was not the case in the euro area. From the adoption of the euro, the current account deficit rose in some countries of the currency area – typically in periphery countries –, while other states – typically the core countries – accumulated persis-

⁶ European Parliament (2014): Review of the 'six-pack' and 'two-pack'. At a glance. PLENARY – 5 December 2014 <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/EPRS/</u> EPRS-AaG-542182-Review-six-pack-two-pack-FINAL.pdf

tently high surpluses. As a result, the borrowing of some euro area Member States was financed by other countries; therefore, the persistent flow of funds between the economies raised the debt of some countries while boosting the assets of core countries. After the crisis, however, the disparities building up between the countries moderated and from substantial deficits, the current account balances of periphery countries shifted towards near-zero balances.



Note: Regarding the calculation of standard deviation the composition of the euro area varies by time. Prior to 1999, it contains data of the 1999 founder countries.

Source: IMF, own calculation.

The inflow of external funds does not necessarily point to an economy's imbalance in itself; the structure of the inflows should also be examined for a reliable assessment. Non-debt liabilities are viewed more positively than debt-liabilities because the former have no maturity and no payment obligation attached and as such, they imply lesser risk (e.g. interest rate or rollover risk) for the receiving country. Moreover, foreign direct investment primarily provides funding for projects that improve the industrial production capacity of a country. Accordingly, FDI inflows support the convergence of emerging economies; in addition, besides enhancing the industrial capacities directly, new technologies arriving in the economy may improve the performance of the recipient further and may facilitate further improvements in economic performance. Therefore, current account deficits resulting from increased FDI inflows are generally viewed less negatively.

Preceding the adoption of the euro, net FDI inflows typically hovered around zero in euro area countries before, starting from the 2000s, this narrow range broadened to both directions as a result of higher fluctuations. In line with the increasing globalisation, from the 2000s accelerating and increasingly free capital flows triggered higher fluctuations in the net FDI inflows of euro area countries. In addition to globally present processes (such as technological progress, the revolution of information and communication technologies), the introduction of the single currency also contributed to this process in the euro area. Indeed, with the elimination of the exchange rate risk, the abolition of border controls (an important factor in investment decisions previously) and the simplification of cross-border fusions and acquisitions, the integration of the financial system stimulated both intra-EA and extra-EA capital flows. This also broadened the range in which net FDI flows fluctuated. Although with higher fluctuations compared to the low levels observed in the 90s, the standard deviation of net FDI inflows increased only slightly, which means that, albeit moderately, the direction of FDI flows in euro area countries tended to diverge from, rather than converge to, each other. At the same time, this was also reflected in the FDI transactions of the core countries and accordingly, there is no significant difference between the core countries and the rest of the euro area with respect to this indicator.



Chart 1-25: Net FDI inflows in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)

Source: UNCTAD.

The part of the current account balance that is not financed from FDI may manifest itself in rising gross external debt, and it may be an indication of an unsustainable economic structure if the dynamics of a country's gross external debt deviate from the majority of its peers. The dynamics of external debt indicate the extent to which a country's economic growth can be financed from domestic funds and the extent of its reliance on foreign loans. Through this information, it assists in assessing the sustainability of the economy's growth path and quantifying the potential refinancing risk faced by an economy in the event of money and capital market turbulences during a crisis. This has been underpinned both by the 2008 economic crisis and the subsequent sovereign debt crisis. Since then, the indicators quantifying external indebtedness have been given special attention by European decision-makers, as well as international organisations and credit rating agencies. In addition, in line with the increase in external debt - and risks -, the risk spreads of indebted countries typically also increase, which translates to more expensive funding for economic participants. Through higher costs of capital, more expensive funding reduces the quantity of projects that yield a return and thus, it ultimately restrains economic growth.

Before the outbreak of the crisis, there was divergence in the net external debt of euro area countries, but after the crisis this trend reversed. After the adoption of the euro, as a result of the yield convergence less competitive and less developed economies of the euro area also faced lower costs of funds. Through the expansion of imports fuelled by increased demand, this led to greater indebtedness, which was financed from external funds. This increased disparities within the euro area with regard to external debt indicators, which were brought to an end by the surfacing of imbalance problems during the crisis and the subsequent sovereign debt crisis. This process can also be captured by changes in the standard deviation of net external debts: growing differences started to moderate after the sovereign debt crisis with the adjustment of countries struggling with balance problems. The external debt indicators of euro area countries have converged somewhat since the crisis, but they still show significant divergence compared to the period close to the euro adoption.



Chart 1-26: Net external debt in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)

Note: Regarding the calculation of standard deviation the euro area varies by time. Prior to 1999, it contains data of the 1999 founder countries, excluded Luxemburg, Malta, Cyprus and Ireland. The data source is incomplete prior to 2005. Source: Eurostat, own calculation.

The net financial saving of the household sector also provides information about the net lending position of an economy. Variations in this value may even arise from the lack of an independent monetary policy. Indeed, the net financial saving of the population may be influenced by the domestic yield level, which in turn is ultimately shaped by the common monetary policy instrument defined by the ECB within the euro area. This is because in an economy requiring a higher natural rate of interest this may lead to the acceleration of household indebtedness, the effect of which may be boosted further in the euro area by the free movement of capital and the use of a single currency. Through rising imports, the higher consumption of households deteriorates the external balance, which must be financed – due to insufficient household savings – by non-residents. Based on the data of the euro area, disparities also increased in household savings before the crisis. This was reflected in a persistent, albeit slow, rise in the standard deviation. It was also a signal of growing disparities between the countries that, while the net savings of households were persistently positive in the core countries, the rest of the countries exhibited significant dispersion. Before the crisis, the transaction of household savings took a negative value in Greece and Spain (as well as the Netherlands and Finland) in a number of years. This may indicate that the introduction of the common monetary policy in these countries led to lower interest levels than would have been warranted and, through the expansion in borrowing, to the decline in households' net financial savings, thereby contributing to the abovementioned divergence of external balance indicators significantly. At the same time, the decline in financial savings may also be influenced by a country's population pyramid, and it is conceivable that savings contracted also as a result of the diverging demographical developments of the countries listed above, or the returns realised on the yields achieved - boosting the portfolios through revaluation - on households' financial instruments.



Chart 1-27: Net household savings in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)

Source: Eurostat.

1.2.4 The role of the euro area in the global economy

After the introduction of the single currency, the economic performance of the USA and the euro area took a similar path up until the global crisis; every year between 1999 and 2008, GDP grew by 2.3–2.4 per cent on average in both economic regions. However, there were **considerable differences in their recovery** from the crisis: while US GDP surpassed the value recorded in 2007 from as early as 2011, it was only from 2014 that the euro area's economic performance exceeded its pre-crisis level for a sustained period (Chart 1-28, left-hand panel). The lag is even more striking in the case of the first 12 countries adopting the euro. The deep and protracted crisis can be attributed both to the imbalances built up in the previous period and to the divergence between Member States (Gros, 2015; De Grauwe, 2015). During the decade preceding the crisis, Mediterranean countries (and Ireland) had accumulated substantial deficits on their current accounts, while the GDP-proportionate balance of the rest of the economies had a surplus. At the outburst of the crisis, Portugal and Greece were characterised by twin deficit, which rendered their crisis management difficult. The mechanisms of the common monetary policy proved to be inadequate to manage the diverging economic processes; therefore, the crisis was more prolonged in European countries than in the USA. As a net result of the above, between 1999 and 2019 the USA accumulated additional economic growth benefit of almost 15 percentage points overall, relative to Europe and more than 20 percentage points relative to the EA-12.

1999 = 100 Per cent 160 25 2008 2008 1999 1999 150 20 140 130 15 120 10 110 100 5 90 80 0 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 066 2000 2002 992 994 966 998 2004 2006 •••• EA-12 USA ••• EA-12 Furozone Furozone USA China

Chart 1-28: Economic performance of the USA and the euro area (left-hand panel) and their share in global GDP (right-hand panel)

Note: Share in global economy weighted at purchasing power parity. Source: WDI, Eurostat, AMECO.

At the time of the euro adoption, the euro area accounted for 16 per cent of global GDP (at purchasing power parity), whereas in slightly less than two decades its contribution to global economic performance dropped to 11.6 per cent despite the accession of new Member States (Chart 1-28, right-hand panel). In parallel with the growing significance of China and emerging countries, the weight of developed economies has typically declined in recent decades. Besides cyclical reasons (protracted crisis), the downward shift in the euro area's economic significance was also linked to structural factors. The basis for economic growth sustainable over the long term is increased production, for which the application of innovation and advanced technological achievements is indispensable. In the area of gross domestic expenditure on research and development Member States of the European Union lag significantly behind such innovative economies as the USA, Japan or South Korea (Chart 1-29, left-hand panel). In 2015 EU Member States spent only 2 per cent of GDP on R&D, even less than the Chinese value in the past few years.

Chart 1-29: R&D expenditures as a percentage of GDP (left-hand panel) and distribution of the R&D expenditures of the top 250 companies by sector (right-hand panel)



Note: *in 2017-2018. Source: OECD, MNB based on Bughin et al. (2019).

Having boasted a remarkable performance in innovation in the course of history, increasingly, the "old continent" has been falling behind in research and development in recent decades. **Europe's lag in the area of intangible assets is remarkable.** As regards R&D spending, **only 28 per cent** of the research and development expenditures of the top 250 companies **can be linked to European firms** (Chart 1-29, right-hand panel). **R&D firms in the EU are concentrated in the vehicle industry**, while technological equipment make up 15 and software only 8 per cent of global expenditures (Bughin et al., 2019). It is **indispensable to stimulate innovation** and apply modern technological and business innovations **to improve the competitiveness and productivity of** Europe and **the euro area.** Otherwise, the effects of demographical constraints and automation on the labour markets may undermine economic growth.

Entrepreneurial culture and company structure are also important determinants in the future of the euro area's global significance. In the past two decades or so, the number of US and EU large corporations both decreased among the top 500 largest

firms, whereas the weight of Chinese enterprises increased considerably (Chart 1-30, left-hand panel). As regards the number of small enterprises and self-employees, there is no significant difference between the regions. In the age of accelerated technological progress, however, besides the number of enterprises other indicators are also worth examining. In the Schumpeterian sense, "creative destruction" spurs innovation among entrepreneurs; therefore, the evolution of entrepreneurial culture can be captured by the number of unicorns, venture capital investments and billion dollar entrepreneurs per capita. All European countries lag behind the USA (and East Asia) in the former (Henrekson and Sanandaji, 2017). In 2018, less than 8 per cent of venture capital investments were concentrated in Europe, compared to 89 per cent in the USA (Chart 1-30, right-hand panel). The distribution of unicorn enterprises shows a similar picture: In 2019, only 12 per cent of privately owned startups with a value above USD 1 billion were European. The digital revolution brought to life "platform economies" – digital companies typically operating in a network environment, connecting producers with customers in new, non-traditional ways (Kenney and Zysman, 2016). In 2018, 7 firms of the world's top 10 enterprises operated on a platform basis. Based on market capitalisation, two thirds of the 60 largest platform-based companies operate in the USA, 30 per cent in Asia and only a **small fraction in Europe.**





Note: *Based on 2017 data in the case of Japan. **Excluding Cyprus and Malta. Source: MNB based on Fortune, OECD and CB Insights.

The turnover of the euro declined slightly in global foreign exchange markets. According to the BIS Triennial Survey, the role of the euro has marginally declined since the 2001 publication of the first survey after the introduction of the euro. Although the BIS survey may be somewhat biased - as it examines only the general turnover of the month of April -, it is still one of the most expansive, regularly prepared global survey, which is followed by a broad range of market participants. While in 2001 the euro still accounted for 19 per cent of the global foreign exchange market turnover, by 2019 this value dropped to 16 per cent. The Japanese yen lost some of its FX market share to a similar degree; it fell to 8 per cent from 12 per cent, whereas the US dollar exhibited only a marginal decline in turnover (from 45 per cent to 44 per cent). The turnover of the Chinese yuan rose slightly, and the yuan now accounts for 2 per cent of the turnover compared to its previously negligible role. Moreover, other smaller currencies have also gained some importance, comprising 14 per cent of the turnover today compared to the previous 10 per cent (Chart 1-31, left-hand panel). Thus the marginal decline in the role of the euro

in global FX market turnover may have resulted from the increased turnover of emerging currencies. The rise in the turnover of emerging currencies reflects non-resident investors' increased interest in emerging financial instruments (e.g.: bonds denominated in the local currency), but the turnover of these currencies was also boosted by the activities of hedge funds and the rise of algorithmic trading. At the same time, the turnover of the EUR/ USD currency pair better captures the extent of the contraction in turnover: while in 2001 the turnover of this currency pair still accounted for 30 per cent of global turnover, by now this value dropped to 24 per cent.

As opposed to the decline in foreign exchange turnover, the role of the euro increased in the composition of the international foreign exchange reserves. At the same time, the share of the euro in international foreign exchange reserves increased. In 1999 only 18 per cent of the foreign exchange reserves were held in euro, but by now, this value rose to 20 per cent. The role of the dollar fell sharply (to 62 per cent from 71 per cent), while the share of the Chinese yuan is now 2 per cent, whereas it was not even a part of the FX reserves 20 years ago (Chart 1-31, right-hand panel). The increase in the euro's share and the decline in the dollar's share could be mainly attributed to the diversification of the reserve portfolios. In addition, some emerging countries with substantial reserves needed to release a portion of their FX reserves amid the financial market turbulences of recent years, which was presumably carried out by the reduction of dollar assets.

Chart 1-31: Evolution of the euro's role in global FX market turnover (left-hand panel) vs. in the international foreign exchange reserves (right-hand panel)



Source: BIS, IMF.

Bonds denominated in euro also represent a stable share in the issue of foreign currency bonds, but the dollar still dominates in global trade. The share of euro-denominated debt in the issue of new foreign currency debt still remains above 20 per cent. Although by 2013 the share of euro-denominated debt fell to less than a half from its 2007 peak, it has edged up in recent years once again, mainly as a result of the contraction in USD-denominated debts. The latter can be explained mainly by the strengthening of the dollar and rising dollar interest rates, which prompted emerging countries to restrain the issue of dollar-denominated debt. In global trade, however, the dollar has retained its dominant role as outside of Europe trade settlements are typically conducted in dollars. For the most part, this is because of the traditional use of dollar settlements in global commodity trade (e.g.: energy market). The euro is used in 30 per cent of trade settlements, and this rate has remained stable in recent years.

References

Afxentiou, P. C. (2000): Convergence, the Maastricht Criteria, and Their Benefits.

Arpaia, A. – Kiss, A. – Palvolgyi, B. – Turrini, A. (2016): *Labour mobility and labour market adjustment in the EU*. IZA Journal of Migration, 5:1-21.

Basso, G. – D'Amuri, F. – Peri, G. (2018): *Immigrants, labor market dynamics and adjustment to shocks in the Euro Area.* NBER Working Paper 25091.

Bini-Smaghi, L. – Padoa-Schioppa, T. – Papadia, F. (1993): *The Policy History of the Maastricht Treaty: The Transition to the Final Stage of EMU*, in CEPR, The Monetary Future of Europe, Centre for Economic Policy Research, London.

BIS (2019 December): BIS Quarterly Review: International banking and financial market developments.

Bughin, J. – Windhagen, E. – Smit, S. – Mischke, J. – Sjatil, P. E. – Gürich, B. (2019): *Innovation in Europe. Changing the game to regain a competitive edge*. McKinsey Global Institute. October 2019. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Featured%20Insights/Innovation/Reviving%20innovation%20in%20Europe/MGI-Innovation-in-Europe-Discussion-paper-Oct2019-vF.ashx</u>

Campbell, D. L. – Chentsov, A. (2017): *Breaking Badly: The Currency Union Effect on Trade.* Working Papers w0241, Center for Economic and Financial Research (CEFIR).

De Grauwe, P. (2015): *Design failures of the Eurozone*. In Baldwin, R. – Giavazzi, F. (Eds.): The eurozone crisis – A consensus view of the causes and a few possible solutions (pp. 99–108). A VoxEU.org eBook. <u>https://voxeu.org/sites/default/files/file/reboot_upload_0.pdf</u>

Dao, M. – Furceri, D. – Loungani, P. (2014): *Regional Labor Market Adjustments in the United States and Europe*. IMF Working Papers 14/26, International Monetary Fund.

De Grauwe, P. (2003). Economics of monetary union. Oxford University press, 5th. ed. ISBN: 0-19-925651-9.

De Grauwe, P. (2009): The politics of the Maastricht convergence criteria, voxeu.org.

Diaz del Hoyo, J. L. – Dorrucci, E. – Heinz, F. F. – Muzikarova, S. (2017): *Real convergence in the euro area: a long-term perspective*. ECB Occasional Paper Series, No. 203. European Central Bank. December 2017.

ECB (July 2019): The international role of the euro.

Emerson, M. – Gros, D. – Italianer, A. – Pisani-Ferry, J. – Reichenbach, H. (1992): *One Market, One Money: An Evaluation of the Potential Benefits and Costs of Forming an Economic and Monetary Union.* OUP Catalogue, Oxford University Press.

Estrada, Á. – Galí, J. – López-Salido, D. (2013): *Patterns of convergence and divergence in the euro area*. Economics Working Papers 1386, Department of Economics and Business, Universitat Pompeu Fabra.

Franks, J. R. – Barkbu, B. B. – Blavy, R. – Oman, W. – Schoelermann, H. (2018): *Economic Convergence in the Euro Area: Coming Together or Drifting Apart?*. IMF Working Papers 18/10, International Monetary Fund.

Fries-Tersch, E. – Tugran, T. – Markowska, A. – Jones, M. (2018): 2018 Annual Report on intra-EU Labour Mobility. European Commission, December 2018. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=20685&langId=en</u>

Gasparotti, A. – Kullas, M. (2019): 20 Years of the Euro: Winners and Losers. cepStudy February 25, 2019. <u>https://www.cep.eu/en/eu-topics/details/cep/20-years-of-the-euro-winners-and-losers.html</u>

Glick, R. – Rose, A. K. (2015): *Currency unions and trade: a post-EMU mea culpa*. Working Paper Series 2015-11, Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, revised 17 Jul 2015.

Gros, D. (2015): *The eurozone crisis and foreign debt*. In Baldwin, R. – Giavazzi, F. (Eds.): The eurozone crisis – A consensus view of the causes and a few possible solutions (pp. 121–128). A VoxEU.org eBook. <u>https://voxeu.org/sites/default/files/file/reboot_upload_0.pdf</u>

Gunnella, V. – Mastromarco, C. – Serlenga, L. – Shin, Y. (2015): The Euro Effects on Intra-EU Trade Flows and Balance: Evidence from the Cross Sectionally Dependent Panel Gravity Models.

Henrekson, M. – Sanandaji, T. (2017): Schumpeterian Entrepreneurship in Europe Compared to Other Industrialized Regions. Working Paper Series 1170, Research Institute of Industrial Economics, revised 29 June 2018.

Kenney, M. – Zysman, J. (2016): *The rise of the platform economy*. Issues in Science and Technology, 32(3), 61.

Mankiw, N.G. (1992). Macroeconomics. Worth Publishers, ISBN: 0-87901-502-0.

Martin Höpner – Alexander Spielau (2018): Better Than the Euro? The European Monetary System (1979–1998), New Political Economy, 23:2, 160-173.

MNB Occasional Papers (24): Expected return, costs and timing of the adoption of the euro in Hungary.

Mundell, R.A. (1961): A Theory of Optimum Currency Areas. The American Economic Review, 51, 509-517.

Quitzau, J. – Boll, C. – Leppin, J. S. (2014): *Labour Mobility: Is the euro boosting mobility? Labour mobility in Europe during the crisis years.* Strategy 2030 - Wealth and Life in the Next Generation 19e, Hamburg Institute of International Economics (HWWI) and Berenberg.

Rose, A. K. (1999): One Money, One Market: *Estimating the Effect of Common Currencies on Trade*. NBER Working Papers 7432, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.

Taylor, CH. (1995). EMU 2000? Prospect for European Monetary union, Royal Institute for International Affairs, ISBN: 1-85567-313-4.

Temperton, P. (1998). The Euro. 2.vyd. ISBN:0-471-98722-0.

Tomáš P. (2012): Maastricht Criteria of... Divergence?, REVIEW OF ECONOMIC PERSPECTIVES – NÁRODOHOSPODÁŘSKÝ OBZOR, VOL. 12, ISSUE 2, 2012, pp. 92–119.

2 Lessons from the Global Financial Crisis of 2007-2009

The shortcomings of the Maastricht Criteria

Flóra Balázs — Kristóf Lehmann — Zoltán Szalai

Until the outbreak of the 2008 crisis, European decision-makers had believed that the fiscal rules introduced by the Maastricht Treaty upon its entry into force in 1993 would be sufficient safeguards for macroeconomic equilibrium across the euro area. However, the crisis revealed the shortcomings of the criteria and fiscal rules and demonstrated that it was possible for significant imbalances to develop in spite of fiscal discipline rules being in place. European leaders wrongly attributed the crisis to the differences in competitiveness between the core countries and the countries of the periphery, even though this is not supported by export performance. The problem with fiscal criteria is that they disregard the processes that occur in the private sector. As real interest rates fell as a result of accession to the euro area, private indebtedness rose to high levels especially in the countries of the periphery, which led to overheating and significant imbalances in many cases. Crisis management was also hampered by the lack of shared fiscal capacities in the euro area for offsetting the impacts of negative shocks; as a result, the task of fiscal stimulus fell to individual nations, which was significantly constrained by their obligation to adhere to the fiscal criteria. A key factor contributing to the protracted crisis period in the euro area was the fact that suddenly both the private and the public sectors had become net savers and, as a result, neither sector was able to generate the aggregate demand necessary for a quick recovery. The unfavourable impact of the imbalances on the euro area economy emerging after the financial crisis was exacerbated further by the slow and inappropriate crisis management of European decision-makers. Due to the lack of government interference the euro area was saved from protracted economic contraction and the collapse of the bond markets of some periphery countries by the European Central Bank's quick interventions, interest rate cuts and other unconventional measures.

The global financial crisis of 2008 accentuated the weaknesses of the set of rules underpinning the European Economic and Monetary Union. Right from the beginning, the European Economic and Monetary Union had sought to achieve its two objectives of monetary stability and fiscal sustainability, and the EMU institutional frameworks had been developed accordingly, relying on a monetary policy aimed at price stability and fiscal rules enforcing fiscal sustainability.

The outbreak of the global financial crisis revealed that it was possible for significant imbalances to accumulate in the economy in spite of the established operational frameworks and that the institutional solutions developed for managing them were inadequate. With the fiscal rules based on the Maastricht criteria intended to contain public indebtedness only, through the application of a variety of sanctions, decision-makers were overly focused on fiscal sustainability and failed to pay sufficient attention to the processes occurring in the private sector. Whereas any breach of Maastricht rules would invoke significant sanctions, private sector indebtedness rose steeply in most euro area member states in the period leading up to the crisis (Chart 2-1). The fast growth of indebtedness in the private sector was also fuelled by interest rate convergence after accession, as it encouraged both corporates and households to take on debt (Nagy - Virág, 2017).





Source: Eurostat.

The fiscal rules based on the Maastricht criteria also disregarded the question of external equilibrium, which is a key determinant of the sustainability of growth, while significant and permanent current account imbalances developed among different euro area member states in the meantime.

Recognising the operational shortcomings of the institutions, European decision-makers created under the control of the European Commission a monitoring, preventative and corrective Early Warning System (EWS) called the Macroeconomic Imbalance Procedure (MIP); its purpose is to highlight any macroeconomic imbalances as they accumulate (Csortos – Szalai, 2013). Under the MIP, the European Commission examines 14 indicators relating to external imbalances and competitiveness, as well as domestic imbalances and employment. The Procedure supplements the Maastricht convergence criteria in the field of preventing and managing the imbalances originating from the non-financial and financial private sectors when either competitiveness issues or an excessive growth in internal demand trigger processes threatening with unsustainability; it is additional to the coordination procedures aimed at fiscal stability.⁷

2.1.1 A traditional 'competitiveness crisis' or a modern banking crisis?

The general narrative following the 2008 crisis held that lax fiscal spending and a lack of wage discipline on the periphery of the euro area (Ireland, Greece, Portugal, Italy, the three Baltic countries: Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, and Slovenia) had led to the significant current account imbalances that emerged in the euro area and, through rising labour costs per unit of added value, to deteriorating competitiveness. Some analysts pointed out the significant differences in wage competitiveness that had evolved between specific groups of countries, especially between Germany and the rest of the countries in the euro area. A superficial look at diagrams showing the divergences in wage costs per unit of product could confirm the false impression that the countries of the periphery were the sole causes of the emergence of differences in wage competitiveness, since they show Germany's competitiveness remaining stable and that of the other countries deteriorating by comparison consistently, albeit to varying degrees. Yet a more thorough analysis reveals that, if compared to the other countries, Germany exhibits a pattern that is conspicuously different from

⁷ The empirical performance of the indicators has been examined by Csortos-Szalai (2013), Erhart et al. (2018), Domokos et al. (2017). Overall, the indicators would not have provided good advance predictions for all the countries regarding the recent crisis. There are systemic differences between older member states and recently joined countries in terms of the forecasting ability of the indicators. It is a necessary warning, one that is also emphasised by the Commission that elaborated the indicators, that they should not be applied mechanistically; instead, specific, in-depth analyses are required in each case because crises never repeat themselves in exactly the same way.

the widely accepted wage norm⁸. In other words, Germany is 'excessively competitive', so much so that if a majority of countries followed its example, this would lead to massive deceleration, a rising debt ratio and significant tensions.

Chart 2-2: Cumulative deviations of unit labour costs from the ECB's inflation target (1999-2016)



Source: Eurostat and European Commission Quarterly Report on Price and Cost Competitiveness.

This means that wage costs rose in accordance with the ECB's inflation target in the countries close to the zero level. While **most competitiveness comparisons** based on unit cost of labour consider **Germany** as the benchmark for the rest of the EMU members, the diagram shows that approach to be wrong. While it is only the trends in relative competitiveness that matter in measuring cost competitiveness, i.e. countries need to be able

⁸ Wage norm is defined as an evolution of wages that does not generate inflation; in practice, it is determined as the sum of the productivity growth rate and the rate of price inflation captured in the central bank's inflation target. Wage increase rates above that level generate above-target inflation, whereas rates below generate below-target inflation. Inflation is of course shaped by other factors as well; the wage norm captures only the condition for price stability on the wage side.

to compete with Germany too, but this in itself cannot serve as an ideal benchmark for macroeconomic outcomes. Remaining lastingly and significantly below the ECB inflation target, which quantifies price stability, German unit labour costs exercised a persistent and intense deflationary pressure on the euro area as a whole. If all the countries had competed on such a basis, the monetary union would have entered deflation, with all its detrimental consequences. The wage competitiveness differences emerging before the crisis were only partly attributable to the countries most frequently mentioned when speaking of deteriorating competitiveness: since the euro area is intended as an area of monetary stability, price stability must also be interpreted symmetrically and negative deviations should not be possible even on the grounds of competitiveness. Otherwise the suboptimal growth becomes entrenched and deflation-related financial fragility intensifies.

Another reason why wage competitiveness is not always decisive for the assessment of the sustainability of a macroeconomic course is the fact that the economies of less advanced countries undergo faster structural changes on the path to convergence. Their economic structures change: the weight of the extractive industries declines, while that of service sectors in the widest sense of the term grows; manufacturing industries grow initially but then the increase in their weight slowly stops and even reverts.9 There are significant labour flows taking place during this process: labour will flow to industries with higher productivity, largely due to the higher wages achievable there. The process involves an increase in the sophistication and the quality of export products, which are produced in more complex in-plant and company-to-company cooperation arrangements, with the number of countries able to manufacture and export them decreasing. Products of this kind and, by extension, the labour producing them is valued higher by the customer, which is reflected

⁹ For further details see MNB (2016).

in higher selling and export prices. The rise in the wage cost per unit of product **does not imply a fall in competitiveness in these cases**,¹⁰ as profitability does not need to shrink even at higher product prices; in fact, profitability can improve, as long as wage costs rise at a slower pace than the price of the product.

Finally, unit labour cost (ULC) as measured at the macroeconomic level is not entirely analogous with the labour costs as interpreted regarding corporates. Whereas wages are merely a cost for a company and the decrease in wage cost per unit of product will not reduce demand for its products, ULC at the macroeconomic level in fact represents the change in the wage share, which is, in turn, directly linked to aggregate demand.¹¹ The MNB's Report on Growth for 2017¹² explains in its first chapter how the subdivision of national income into profits and wages impacts on macroeconomic performance. The interconnection is not linear, however. Wages are a cost but also constitute a part of aggregate demand. Accordingly, it is not inevitable for a rise in the wage share to reduce profitability: although it may rise at the expense of the profit share, this may be offset by a better use of capacities on the demand side, resulting in higher profits. The theory does not allow us to decide which effect will dominate at precisely what share ratios; all we know is that there is indeed such a point somewhere. In any case, a ratio derived from experience may serve as guidance for practical purposes. Still, it is important to note that, unlike in a microeconomic approach, excessively low wage costs may have downsides too. It is therefore not enough to focus on percentage changes when interpreting

¹⁰ Benkovskis and Wörz (2015) estimate that Hungary's usual price competitiveness more or less stagnated in the period from 2000 to 2012 but, adjusted for quality improvements and favourable changes in taste achieved by the markets, an improvement of 30 per cent can in fact be identified. While this is lower than the values measured for Poland, Romania and the Czech Republic, it is higher than for the three Baltic countries or Bulgaria.

¹¹ Felipe and Kumar (2011).

¹² MNB (2012).

the unit labour cost as a **wage competitiveness** indicator; it is also important to consider what **initial level** (what wage share) it started from.¹³ If central banks respond one-sidedly only to the deterioration of wage competitiveness, i.e. rises in unit labour cost, but fail to prevent its 'improvement', i.e. falls in unit labour cost, they are implicitly contributing to the decrease in the wage share, which can lead to a number of macroeconomic problems on the long term.¹⁴ For example, the growth rate may decelerate, as higher percentages of profit incomes are placed in savings, weakening the growth in aggregate demand. Whereas if wage earners offset a weak wage rise through constant borrowing to maintain a higher level of consumption and household (property) investment, then the risk of financial fragility in the economy and the emergence of a financial crisis would increase.¹⁵

Chart 2-3: Changes in real effective exchange rates based on unit labour cost (1999-2016)



Source: European Commission Quarterly Report on Price and Cost Competitiveness.

- ¹⁴ Mason (2017).
- ¹⁵ For further details see MNB (2017) Chapter 1.

¹³ On the macroeconomic significance of the wage share, see MNB (2017), Chapter 1.

The interpretation of changes in wage competitiveness is made more difficult by the fact that the evolution of these indicators is not independent of the changes in aggregate demand, in lending and in international capital flows. Therefore even if an empirical link can be identified between the external equilibrium and the competitiveness indicator, causality could easily be traced back to a third factor, such as capital flows and lending, with competitiveness merely a consequence.¹⁶ Summarising our findings regarding competitiveness, we note that wage competitiveness problems have not played a decisive role in the current crisis. After all, contrary to the suggestions of the narrative emphasising the deterioration in competitiveness, in the years leading up the crisis the export performance of the countries of the periphery was barely behind that of Germany, which is seen as spearheading competitiveness and even as excessively 'competitive'¹⁷ (Chart 2-4).





¹⁶ See for example Lane and McQuade (2013) and Wyplosz (2013).

¹⁷ According to the new imbalance indicator, Germany has had an excessive export surplus for years and has been repeatedly asked to make appropriate adjustments. In spite of the requests, Germany has not adopted a decision to do so.

The lasting current account imbalances were attributable much more to the differences in import demand (Chart 2-5). **The primary cause for the emergence of imbalances was not a deterioration in export competitiveness** (excessive wage outflows, weak product quality compared to competitors) **but excessive indebtedness and consumption in the private sector.**

The exports of the selected euro area countries before the crisis demonstrate a significant degree of co-movement regardless of their current accounts and whether they were a core country or a country of the periphery. Exports were shaped mainly by global trends; the diverging cost competitiveness figures appear to cause no significant variations in this respect. It is also striking that the exports of the countries assumed to have entered a crisis due to deteriorating competitiveness follow especially the same trends, both before and after the crisis, as Germany, the 'world champion exporter', and the Netherlands, which reports even higher export surpluses from time to time. Also, the countries that achieved a significant overhaul of their current accounts after the crisis by replacing a markedly excessive deficit with a solid surplus demonstrate export trends similar to the core countries where wage competitiveness has not changed drastically, nor has there been a change in the sign of the current account chart.





Source: OECD.

In contrast to the shared trends in exports, current accounts diverged in the different groups of countries, as shown in Chart 2-6. This also supports the hypothesis that the significant current account deficits before the crisis had been caused in those countries primarily by the fast increase in imports, whereas the post-crisis adjustment was not due to improvements in competitiveness but a deceleration of imports resulting from falling internal demand caused by deleveraging in the private sector and within fiscal policy.





Source: IMF WEO.

In a further proof for the above argument, there is co-movement in opposite directions among individual euro area member states in terms of current account balances and lending trends, which suggests that current account deficits tended to be a result of rising imports driven by strong growth in internal demand, rather than a lack of fiscal discipline on the part of governments.

Expectations for fast convergence in incomes, unnecessarily lax fiscal policies (e.g. Greece) and falling interest rates upon accession to the euro area and the resulting ease of access to loans may have been the factors boosting internal demand. As a result, import demand related to consumption and household investments grew. There was no need for a hike in consumer loans directly for imports to grow. To give an example: in a lending boom in a non-tradeable sector (real estate), households had more income left for the consumption of imported goods following the purchase of a property, because mortgages were cheaper than before. Furthermore, the deepening of global value chains resulted in increases in the import of intermediate products. In sectors experiencing a lending boom (for example the construction industry), the wage bill started to increase significantly (due to higher average wages and increasing headcounts, with immigrants representing millions within the latter), and this generated a second-round increase in incomes in other sectors, further increasing internal demand and therefore imports.





Source: AMECO, OECD.

The econometric analyses into the matter have come to similar results.¹⁸ Communale and Hessel (2014) looked at whether the current-account divergences within the euro area were caused by the differences in competitiveness or the changes in the financial cycles. To answer this question, they used panel error-correction estimation to examine the changes in imports, exports and foreign trade balance as a function of domestic

¹⁸ Of the wide and expanding literature, see: Altomonte et al. (2013), Communale and Hessel (2014) Communale (2015a), Gaulier and Vincent (2012), Wyplosz (2013) and partly Unger (2015) and the literature referred to there.

demand at the frequency of the financial cycle. They found that while **the effect of price competitiveness could indeed be demonstrated**, **the changes in internal demand exerted a much stronger influence on foreign trade trends**. They conclude from this result that the message for economic policy-makers is that it is more important to focus on changes in borrowing and on macroprudential policy, in contrast to the current practice of emphasising competitiveness and structural reforms.

Altomonte et al. (2013) demonstrated that cost competitiveness indicators do not, by themselves, offer reliable information about the changes in competitiveness. In order to examine competitiveness in a reliable manner, corporate-level information needs to be included. As an example, they mention that rising unit costs combined with R&D expenditures result in significant improvements in product quality, which may be reflected in the selling prices. Thus a 'deterioration' in cost competitiveness does not necessarily imply a deterioration in competitiveness or a trade deficit. Also, if such an emerging country anticipates fast growth and therefore its consumer lending increases at a fast pace, the composite result of these factors may be a trade deficit even if this is not justified by competitiveness trends; this can result in the wrong economic policy recommendations being proposed.

Gaulier and Vincent (2012) examined whether changes in the current account balance are attributable to competitiveness or to demand shocks in the euro area. They found that the changes in the current account are interconnected with unit labour costs and imports but identified no links with exports. Rather than being the cause for the current account deficit, weaker cost competitiveness was an outcome of a demand shock caused by price increases in sectors not competing with foreign trade: in-depth sectoral analyses reveal the sectors where cost competitiveness weakened. The export sectors of most deficit countries appear able to satisfy rising export demands if the surplus countries symmetrically reduce their exports and increase their imports through developing a much more balanced domestic demand.

2.1.2 A crisis of crisis management

Academic literature used to hold the view that member states had sufficient fiscal headroom for managing asymmetric economic shocks in the euro area even if they comply with the debt rules. If such fiscal leeway proves insufficient due to the suboptimal functioning of the automatic stabilisers or excessive cyclical fluctuations, then a flexible labour market (wage flexibility, mobility of labour) will be necessary for further adaptation. After all, monetary policy is elevated to Community level upon accession to the euro area and currency devaluation is no longer possible; the only route open to adjustment is internal devaluation. It was a generally held view, however, that integration into the euro area would guarantee long-term economic progress for the countries that join it. According to the endogeneity hypothesis of optimum currency areas (Frankel – Rose, 1998), the introduction of the single currency results in a convergence of economic structures to an extent that an optimal currency area arises, which reduces the costs of joining. De Grauwe and Mongelli (2005) offer an overview of the matter and conclude on that basis that the endogeneity hypothesis may hold on the basis of the information available before the crisis. By contrast, experience shows that the endogenous harmonisation of the business cycles failed to occur, with signs of divergence more prevalent within the euro area (Holinski et al., 2012, Enders et al., 2013).

After the outbreak of the crisis, the European decisionmakers who saw the current account imbalances of the member states incorrectly identified the reason for the crisis in competitiveness issues; yet we have demonstrated in the above section how, rather than differences in export performance, the problem was attributable mainly to the overheating resulting from the accelerated capital flows among the member states, which impacted the countries of the periphery first and foremost.

Even though the economies of both the US and the Eurozone went through a severe contraction after the outbreak of the crisis, output in the US reached its pre-crisis level in 2010, while the eurozone could reach it only in 2014. As a result of the inappropriate crisis management the gap between the cumulative growth rate of the two economies widened even further in the years following the crisis.

Chart 2-8: Volume index of the cumulative real GDP growth for the United States and the Eurozone (2007=100) (2007-2018)



Source: Bloomberg.

European decision-makers sought to manage these problems, incorrectly attributed to reasons of competitiveness, by using internal devaluation, because individual member states had ceded their independent monetary policies upon joining the euro area, which removed the option of externally devaluing national currencies. Internal devaluation is much harder and more painful than external devaluation, further deepening a crisis in the event of recession.

After the outbreak of the 2008 crisis, euro area countries were also constrained by the Maastricht criteria of fiscal discipline and the fiscal rules built upon those criteria; this further deepened the crisis as the public sector joined the private sector in being unable to stimulate the economy through boosting aggregate demand.

During the crisis, real GDP constricted significantly as a result of internal devaluation and as fiscal rules based on the Maastricht criteria prevented fiscal easing. Given the fact that the general government debt ratio is calculated as a ratio of government debt to GDP, **fiscal tightening achieved the very opposite result: rather than shrinking, the debt ratio started to rise quickly**, growing by as much as 50 percentage points in some countries¹⁹ (Chart 2-9).

¹⁹ According to the ECB (2015) median public debt rose by 22 percentage points in the years following the financial crisis. 4-6 percentage points of the increase was a result of the financials support that was given to the banking sector. In case of Spain and Ireland the increase in debt was due to the costs of bank bailouts.




Source: IMF WEO.

In return for the financial aid provided to the countries in financial trouble during the crisis years, further adjustment measures based on incorrect conclusions were imposed, which worsened the situation through the additional contraction of GDP and created a vicious circle. The insistence on the fiscal rules based on the Maastricht criteria thus resulted in the debt ratio stabilising at a high level, which was considerably aggravated by a delay in recovery due to the regular fiscal adjustments.

2.1.3 The absence of a fiscal backstop

Fast and efficient crisis management in the euro area was hampered by the limited role of the central budget (which representing approximately 1.2 per cent of GDP, whereas the budgets of the nations are high). Such a budget structure does not allow the central budget to respond to cycles; that task is left to national governments. By contrast, the central budget plays a much greater role in the United States. If one or more states are hit by an asymmetric negative shock, the central budget will automatically smooth that shock by collecting less in taxes and paying into the central budget. Also, as eligibility increases, these member states receive more temporary income support, for instance in the form of unemployment benefits. The central budget is able to fulfil its smoothing role as other regions have been free from such a negative shock or in fact received a positive shock so that they now pay more in taxes and receive less in disbursements due to lower eligibility. American federal states are thus subject to strict budget rules; their budgets must always balance. Naturally, this would be impossible without the smoothing impact of the central budget in the event of a significant negative shock. When some or most USA states are subject to a negative shock, one subset of the states will be unable to offer smoothing to the other subset. In such a case, the central budget exercises its smoothing role by allowing deficits to arise or increase. An equivalent of this within the institutional frameworks of the euro area would have been for national fiscal policies to conduct easing in a coordinated manner, essentially simulating a central fiscal easing. This was in fact done in the immediate aftermath of the crisis, under coordination within the framework of the G-20 but, interestingly, once the threat of immediate collapse was avoided, the fiscal rules were reinstated too quickly, assuming that to be the means for stabilising the economies.²⁰ This was a big mistake, because it resulted in a second recession of the euro area, one for which there had been no external reasons at all. A fear of 'markets' and the wish to avoid cross-contamination among countries was stronger than the desire to maintain optimally loose fiscal conditions. In this respect, a comparison with the United States clearly demonstrates the extent of the error.

The management of the crisis after its outbreak in 2008 suffered from the absence of an institution acting as market

²⁰ For further details see MNB (2014) Chapter 1.

maker of last resort on the market of government securities within the euro area. This is conventionally the role of the central bank of a nation. But the euro area had been created with the assumption that the stability of the new currency would be ensured by forbidding that central banks buy government securities and only allowing secondary-market transactions for monetary policy operations. This shortcoming originates from a peculiarity of the euro area, namely that it is a monetary union where national fiscal policies enjoy a high degree of independence: they are not integrated, only closely coordinated. This was intended as a means to strengthen fiscal discipline, as otherwise the undisciplined countries would have an advantage over the disciplined ones; moreover, if too many countries behaved without discipline, the stability of the entire area could be jeopardised. Overall, all considerations revolved around fiscal 'discipline', and it was not envisaged that government securities markets could require stabilising even if fiscal discipline was satisfactory (for example if the stabilisation of the banking system required fiscal commitments that could weaken market confidence in the ability to maintain fiscal stability). If a common central bank does not serve the same stabilising function as a national central bank does on the government securities market in the national economy, the state in question will be in the same situation as if it had issued debt in a foreign currency.

This, however, was an elective modus operandi at a certain stage of the crisis, not necessarily predetermined behaviour. This is proven by the fact that when monetary integration was genuinely at risk, the ECB's promise of an intervention was sufficient to lift the panic on the market. The permanent stabilisation fund was created during the crisis in recognition of this fact. Yet it does not inspire confidence that this function was not assigned to the common central bank and that it was **created with limited powers to intervene**; after all, it is the very **ability to intervene without constraint that is to be demonstrated** in the event of panic. Clearly, the decision-makers continue to believe that the greater threat is the very opposite, i.e. the absence of a cap on intervention powers.²¹

Another role of the stabilisation fund could be the recapitalisation and reorganisation of banks registered in a member state. This is the role of the national budget within an individual state, but in an integration such as the EMU, where the banking sector is integrated and a bank's activities may span numerous countries, it may not necessarily be appropriate. There are plans to prevent in the future, on the side of the budgets as well as the banks, the kind of cross-contamination of national budgets and banks that hugely distorted the monetary and financial conditions of individual countries during the crisis. On the fiscal policy side, the joint fiscal capacity removes from national budgets the fiscal costs of reorganising banks. We will discuss the emerging new institutional frameworks in greater detail later.

In the absence of a joint fiscal capacity, the EFSF (European Financial Stability Facility) and, complementing it, the EFSM (European Financial Stabilisation Mechanism) for EU Member States not in the euro area were created after the outbreak of the crisis.²² The EFSF was set up in May 2010 and was originally intended as a temporary, transitional arrangement. The Facility was set a lifecycle of 3 years and the objective of ensuring the stability of the European financial system through financial support to the individual Member States. The Facility is tasked with granting temporary loans to distressed member states in need of such loans and, if necessary, to intervene on the bond markets of the individual member states. It is also responsible for capitalising financial institutions, when necessary. The Facility was

²¹ In other words, they consider moral risk to be a greater threat than market panic and see moral irresponsibility as an undesirable market income in the environment of uncertainty that is an unavoidable concomitant of risk taking in market economies.

²² European Parliament (2019a) and (2019b).

available to member states unable to obtain financing from the market at an acceptable rate of interest. Its effectiveness was reduced by the fact that the guarantors of EFSF loans included member states that struggled with financing difficulties themselves. The EFSF was therefore exposed to the risk that bond market operators might be critical of guarantees offered by countries that faced financing problems themselves.

The creation of the permanent crisis management mechanism of the ESM (European Stability Mechanism) became possible only after the amendment of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, which established the legal basis for helping the financially distressed member states. The ESM is a crisis mechanism intended to ensure that financial stability is retained and debts remain sustainable. Like the EFSF, the ESM may disburse loans to individual member states, buy government securities on the primary and secondary markets, and grant loans to capitalise distressed financial institutions. The ESM has EUR 80 billion paid-in capital, in addition to which the member states have made a commitment up to EUR 700 billion; this may be considered as the full lending capacity of the Facility. Such a capacity is insufficient to finance either the kind of necessary interventions already used in Europe during this crisis or interventions at the magnitude observed in the United States. The stock of government securities and the size of the banking sector are unlikely to reduce appreciably in the future, and a limited availability of funds would therefore lead to delays in the event of a new major financial crisis, since it would be time-consuming to raise the necessary funds.

2.1.4 What can we learn from the changes in financial positions?

In developing the fiscal convergence criteria and the Stability and Growth Pact, which fine-tuned and supplemented the details of their implementation, the main objective of fiscal coordination was ensuring sustainability; however, this was translated to practical day-to-day economic policy and area-wide coordination only in a somewhat ad hoc manner.²³ We have attributed this to the fact that the theory was unable to offer pertinent guidance to the economic policy-makers. Albeit to an insufficient extent (with too small fiscal sensitivity parameters and a small fiscal multiplicator) and measuring the cyclical position imperfectly (treating potential output as exogenous, stipulating a nearly zero deficit across the cyclical average as a fiscal policy target), the fiscal frameworks take into consideration the economic cycle and its impact on the deficit; the problem is that they completely disregard the positions of the other sectors of the economy. Yet an optimal fiscal deficit figure should also reflect the changes in the positions of other sectors, otherwise the enforcement of the rule would have significant and unnecessary social costs.

Some economists had criticised the absence of a sectoral approach even in the debates prior to the creation of monetary union.²⁴ The fundamental idea is that economic sector positions must, by necessity, be mutually compatible. Elementary market transactions change the positions of two operators simultaneously, which must be considered consistently as they impact both their behaviours. Furthermore, the portfolios of assets as well as liabilities accumulated from past transactions (and other changes such as revaluations) also matter in the case of every operator. Accordingly, a sector cannot have a surplus without

²³ See Section 1.1 on the internal correlations of quantified fiscal convergence indicators.

²⁴ Stock-Flow-Consistent model

another sector having a deficit,²⁵ and **an economic sector can have a zero position only if the total position of all other sectors is zero**. In the simplest version of the SFC models, three sectors are differentiated²⁶: non-banking private sector (i.e. households plus firms), government and rest of the world. (The more sophisticated models cover more sectors, including the banking industry, and they separate households from firms, but this makes the models exponentially more complicated.)

In most advanced economies, the private sector tends to be a net saver on the macro level, with savings exceeding investments (S>I). While the budget balance (T-G) and the export-import balance (X-M) do not demonstrate such a regularity, their net balance constitutes the balance of the private sector, which is the mirror image of the balance of the government sector: S-I = (G–T) + (X-M). This shows that if the domestic private sector is a net saver, either the government or the rest of the world must be running a deficit. If the rest of the world is unwilling to do so, then only the government's deficit can offer the domestic private sector the opportunity to save. If the budget runs a positive balance, the household sector is able to save only against the rest of the world. If the rest of the world also aims for a minimal deficit, then domestic demand will need to rely increasingly on private sector indebtedness for its growth; we have witnessed, however, that this is a financially fragile situation. Based on this approach, we can state that budgets typically operate with a deficit and provide in this way the means for the private sector to save and thus ensure financial stability. Accordingly, fiscal policy runs a deficit by default; this is the normal condition of modern economies. A budget surplus or equilibrium can be optimal only in exceptional cases, for example if the private sector is excessively

²⁵ This requirement is often forgotten in the modern macroeconomic theories that are not a manifestation of behaviourist models. Agent-based models, which have acquired popularity recently, wish to remedy this shortcoming. Kregel and Parenteau use Godley's stock-flow consistent models.

²⁶ Kregel (2015) and Parenteau (2010).

indebted, causing overheating, or if excessive surplus in foreign trade generates domestic overheating. These, however, are not typical situations and rarely last long, because they are unsustainable due either to financial stability reasons or the reactions of the partner countries.





Note: the diagram shows the possible combinations of the positions of the external sector and the fiscal sector given the private sector positions marked with a dotted line. At the origin, all sectors are in equilibrium. A surplus in the private sector demands that the joint position of the other two sectors be a deficit. For example, a foreign trade surplus of two per cent and a budget deficit of two per cent will allow private savings of 4 per cent. If the rest of the world permits a two-per cent current account (export) surplus but the budget remains at zero, then the private sector surplus cannot exceed two per cent. The fiscal rules of the euro area fail to take this correlation into account. Source: Kregel (2015).



Chart 2-11: Sector balances in the euro area (2002-2019)

Note: Four-quarter rolling average. Source: ECB.

Almost all the countries were forced to make adjustments due to their increased indebtedness and fiscal deficits driven by the financial crisis, even as the private sectors are increasingly net savers as a result of deleveraging. As a result, **the aggregate demand required for growth can come only from the rest of the world**, but growth there is also weak, as overseas sectors are also trying to reduce their debts accumulated before the crisis.

It is therefore doubtful whether growth at a sufficient rate is possible in the euro area. The aggressive further boosting of net exports demands constraints on wages and investments to such a degree that it hinders domestic growth even more. In this case, without an increase in fiscal deficits, all permitted measures will actually hamper growth. This phenomenon, called the paradox of thrift by Keynes, could result in stagnation and the disintegration of the euro area. Applying this framework of analysis to the current situation, Chart 2-11 shows that indebtedness in the rest of the world is practically the only significant source for growth in domestic demand in the euro area today. The current fiscal rules are shown by a sectoral analysis and from the viewpoint of stimulating demand as being excessively restrictive, entrenching weak internal demand and making the euro area exposed to growth rates in the global economy on the long term. A consequence of entrenched slow growth is a permanently weak potential growth rate. Following the latest literature on fiscal consolidation, it is increasingly widely recognised that the estimates of potential growth are highly distorted and that the potential growth rate is path-dependent. The long-term growth potential of the economy is highly dependent on the path it had travelled before. If growth is consistently slow, estimation procedures will start to consider this slow growth rate as the maximum achievable without a risk of inflation, even if it results not from external reasons but institutionalised economic governance. The literature has identified a number of channels through which this mechanism operates, such as the damaging impact of long-term unemployment on employability and attitudes, weak investment and R&D activity etc. If the fiscal rules are predicated on weak, distorted potential growth estimates, then even weak growth will be seen as overheating and tighter fiscal policies will be prescribed. And this will further weaken the potential for growth.²⁷ In the current crisis, all the institutions have adjusted their growth forecasts frequently and in a negative direction, and proceeded to consider these as guidance in their assessment of fiscal orientation and in their recommendations. It is not a coincidence that a debate has arisen concerning the review of these estimates. The Commission's experts admit that the estimates are not perfect but do not consider the alternatives they have looked at any more reliable than the current one, adding that the fiscal recommendations do not follow as closely the conclusions otherwise derivable from the potential estimates as is assumed by the critics.²⁸ Radical changes cannot therefore be expected in this respect at any time in the near future.

²⁷ See empirical work by Fatas and Summers (2017), and Hemberger (2018) on the permanent negative impacts of fiscal consolidations on growth.

²⁸ Buti et al (2019).

References

Buti, M. – Nicolas C. – Atanas H. – Kieran M. M. – Werner R. –Vandermeulen, V. (2019): Potential output and EU fiscal surveillance, VOX, 23 September, https://vox-eu.org/article/potential-output-and-eu-fiscal-surveillance,

Orsolya Csortos – Zoltán Szalai (2013): Assessment of macroeconomic imbalance indicators. MNB Bulletin, October 2013

De Grauwe, P. – Mongelli, F. P. (2005): Endogeneities of Optimum Currency Areas. What Brings Countries Sharing a Single Currency Closer Together? ECB Working Paper Series, No. 468, April 2005

Domonkos, T. – Ostrihon, F. – Sikulova, I. – Siranova, M. (2017): Analysing the relevance of the MIP scoreboard's indicators. National Institute Economic Review, Vol. 239(No 238).

ECB (2015): The fiscal impact of financial sector support during the crisis, *Economic Bulletin*, https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/other/eb201506_article02.en.pdf?fa-dae43a45a35a30cd17d3213277042d

Efstathiou, K. (2019): The campaign against 'nonsense' output gaps, Blog post, Bruegel, 17 June, https://bruegel.org/2019/06/the-campaign-against-nonsense-output-gaps/

Enders, Z. – Jung, P. –Müller, G. J. (2013): Has the Euro Changed the Business Cycle?, *European Economic Review*, Vol. 59, pp 189-211. European Commission, 2014, Convergence Report, ISSN 1725-3217.

Erhart, S. – Becker, W. – Saisana, M. (2018): The Macroeconomic Imbalance Procedure - From Thresholds to Decisions. JRC Technical Reports

Európai Parlament (2019a): The European Stability Mechanism: Main Features, Instruments and Accountability, In-Depth Analysis, <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/</u> <u>RegData/etudes/IDAN/2019/634357/IPOL_IDA(2019)634357_EN.pdf</u>

Európai Parlament (2019b): The 2019 proposed amendments to the Treaty establishing the European Stability Mechanism, In-Depth Analysis, <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/IDAN/2019/634357/IPOL_IDA(2019)634357_EN.pdf</u>

Fatas, A. – Summers, L. H. (2017): The permanent effects of fiscal consolidations, Journal of International Economics 112 (2018) 238–250, <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022199617301411</u>

Frankel, J. A. – Rose, A. K. (1998): The Endogeneity of the Optimum Currency Area Criteria. *Economic Journal*, 108(449), pp. 1009–1025.

Heimberger, P. (2018): The dynamic effects of fiscal consolidation episodes on income inequality: evidence for 17 OECD countries over 1978–2013, Empirica, <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10663-018-9404-z</u>

Holinski, N. –Kool, C. –Muysken, J. (2012): Persistent Macroeconomic Imbalances in the Euro Area: Cause and Consequences, *Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review*, January/February 2012, Vol 94(1), pp. 1-20.

Kregel, J. (2015): Europe at the crossroads: financial fragility and the survival of the single currency, Levy Economics Institute of Bard College, 2015, <u>http://www.levy-institute.org/pubs/pn_15_1.pdf</u>

Márton Nagy – Barnabás Virág (2017): Felzárkózás az eurozónában – csakis megfelelő felkészültséggel teljesíthető. (Convergence in the Euro Area: Achievable Only after Appropriate Preparations) MNB occasional papers, 2017

Visco, I. (2019): Testimony on the functioning of the European Stability Mechanism and the prospects for its reform, <u>https://www.bis.org/review/r191210g.pdf</u>

What's next for the euro area: directions of institutional development

Ábel Bagdy – Krisztina Füstös – Zoltán Szalai

The dilemma as to how successful a monetary union can be without a fiscal union arose from the very first day when the idea of the euro came up. Although the euro was introduced in 1999, the doubts are still there. These doubts were strengthened by the economic crisis, as a result of which several new measures were taken, new institutions and new mechanisms were established. One of these was the establishment Macroeconomic imbalance procedure which functions as an early warning system: it examines the risks threatening macroeconomic stability based on 14 indicators and 25 supplementary indicators. In 2010 the European Stability Mechanism (ESM) (formerly the European Financial Stability Facility – EFSF) was established as a permanent crisis management institution, with a total lending capacity of EUR 700 billion. The establishment of the micro- and macroprudential supervision, i.e. the European System of Financial Supervision, was a major step forward, as a result of which several new organisations, such as the European Banking Authority or the European Systemic Risk Board were also established. The most significant step taken toward a real monetary union was the creation of a central fund for countries using euro, in the summer of 2019. It is clear already now that the size of this will be minimal during the next seven-year budget. Major steps were also taken in the area of the banking union, and thus to date the following elements have been created: the Single Rulebook, which aims to provide a single set of harmonised prudential rules; the Single Resolution Mechanism, the purpose of which is to ensure the orderly resolution of failing banks with minimum impact on the real economy and the public finances of the member states; and the Single Supervisory Mechanism, which defines which banks are deemed significant for the entirety of the financial system of the monetary union and centralise the supervision of those. The last element of the banking union would be the European deposit insurance scheme, which – however– has not yet come into being due the resistance of several countries. The leaders of the European Union regarded the capital markets union as one of the key elements of the further strengthening of the EU's competitiveness and resilience, though only modest progress has been made in the last few years. On the whole, it can be stated that the objective to preserve national fiscal independence and reduce the single fiscal capacity to a minimum degree can be perceived in the operation of each of the new institutions. The main obstacle to developing the optimal institutional framework is the fear of the individual countries that it would result in additional unilateral income reallocation to their detriment and in favour of the less disciplined countries.

2.2.1 Macroeconomic imbalance procedure

The economic crisis of 2008 made it clear that the macroeconomic imbalances developing in a country (e.g. major current account deficit, property market bubble) may have unfavourable effect on the economic stability of other countries. Due to this, in 2011, the European Commission decided to introduce a **macroeconomic imbalance procedure (MIP)**²⁹, which may be suitable to identify, prevent and manage macroeconomic imbalances affecting the member states. MIP functions as an early warning system, which assesses the member states' macroeconomic stability risks based on 14 indicators (Chart 2-12) and 25 supplementary indicators. The results are captured in a scoreboard, which includes internal imbalance indicators (indebtedness of the public and private sector, changes in the real estate market, unemployment, etc.), external imbalance indicators (current account balance, net international investment position, etc.) and employment indica-

²⁹ Regulation (EU) No 1176/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council.

tors. When the threshold belonging to the individual indicators in the scoreboard are exceeded, more in-depth analysis of the respective country may be justified. At the same time, it is important that the Commission should always examine the changes in a context, also considering other economic and financial indicators. If MIP identifies at any country excessive imbalance, the European Council may oblige the respective country – within the framework of the **excessive imbalance procedure** – to elaborate and implement an action plan. If the country struggling with imbalances fails to comply with this or complies only partially, sanctions (including fines) may be imposed on it.³⁰

External imbalances and competitiveness	Internal imbalances	Labour market indicators
Current account balance	House price index	Activity rate
Net international investment position	Private sector credit flow, consolidated	Long-term unemployment rate
Real effective exchange rate	Privat sector debt, consolidated	Youth unemployment rate
Export market shares Nominal unit labour cost index	General government gross debt Unemployment rate	
	Total financial sector liabilities, non-consolidated	

Chart 2-12: Macroeconomic imbalance procedure - indicators

Source: Csortos - Szalai (2013), Eurostat (2019).

This procedure supplements the Maastricht convergence criteria with a view to preventing and managing the imbalances originating from the **non-financial and financial private sector**. In addition, it predicts current account deficit, as well as both potential trends (of competitiveness origin or stemming from excessive growth in internal demand, threatening with unsustainability) that may potentially give rise to the deterioration thereof, and **supplements** the coordination procedures aimed at **fiscal** stability. The

³⁰ European Commission (2019).

subsequent application of the new indicators to the latest crisis showed that they would have been suitable to give timely, proper signals to a limited degree. Certain combinations of the indicators would perform better in this area and forecast capacities also vary by groups of countries. It is a further problem that the indicators are overly empirical, i.e. they do not fit into an articulated macroeconomic analytical framework. The consequence of this is that there is no guarantee for a timely, reliable warning, if a new crisis follows a pattern differing from the previous ones. Thus it is not possible to apply the indicators mechanically, and it must be always preceded by more in-depth analysis.³¹

2.2.2 Micro and macro prudence, and stability reforms

In 2010, under the pressure of the crisis, the **European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF)** was established with a view to addressing the crisis of the euro area. Two years later, based on the EFSF, the **European Stability Mechanism (ESM)** was established as a permanent crisis management institution, with a total lending capacity of EUR 700 billion. The funds from this stabilisation fund helped recapitalise, for example, the banking sector of Spain, and later, during the crisis in Cyprus, also several billions of euro was disbursed.

The **European System of Financial Supervision (ESFS)** – a multilayered supervisory framework of micro- and macro-prudential authorities, cooperating with the authorities of the member states – was established with a view to managing systemic risks.

The European Semester – the single framework for the planning of European economic policies – supports the better harmonisation of the economic policies, but in fact, the truly significant debate is

 $^{^{31}\,}$ Csortos-Szalai (2013) and (2014) Domonkos et al. (2018) and Erhart (2009).

still about the strengthening of the fiscal leg of the Economic and Monetary Union. Although there were a number of initiatives with regard to this topic, **to date only active discourses took place instead of specific steps**. It is worth mentioning the **Five Presidents' Report** of 2015³² (European Commission, European Council, European Parliament, Eurogroup and ECB), and the June 2018 agreement between Angela Merkel and Emmanuel Macron, known as the **Meseberg Declaration**³³, in which they planned to create a single, euro area-level budget from the start of the next seven-year budget cycle, i.e. from 2021. (The American Empire vs the European Dream, a book by György Matolcsy published recently, provides a detailed description of the problems with the creation of fiscal union).

Finally, the European Commission published the **Budgetary Instrument for Convergence and Competitiveness** (BICC) in summer 2019³⁴. The purpose of the draft is to create a **central fiscal fund for the countries using euro**, which would enhance the member states' resilience and competitiveness, and – by supporting structural reforms – foster the convergence of the economies. However, during the debates of the past months at the level of Eurogroup, the emphasis was primarily on the support of structural reforms, and there was no consensus on the creation of a genuine cyclical stabilisation instrument, which was proposed by France, but it would be also supported by the former and current President of ECB, i.e. Mario Draghi and Christine Lagarde, respectively.

For the time being, **no agreement has been reached on the exact size of the single budget** of the euro area, but it appears to be likely that – despite Emmanuel Macron's ambitious plans (which were about several per cent of the euro area's GDP) – it **may only be a negligible, for the size of the euro area, amount, i.e. merely EUR 15-20 billion** in 7 years.

³² European Commission (2015a).

³³ Meseberg Declaration (2018).

³⁴ European Commission (2019a).

The **single budget could be financed from the EU's multiannual financial framework** (MFF), with the option for the individual member states to supplement it. The exact amount will form part of the negotiations related to the full EU budget. There is also a debate whether the BICC should have **independent revenues**; however, according to the current status this appears to be unlikely. The creation of the euro area budget within the EU's multiannual financial framework may increase the risk for the EU member states outside the euro area that they would lose some of the funding.

During the negotiations, under the pressure of the net contributors, primarily the North European countries, Mário Centeno – the President of Eurogroup – declared³⁵ that the **euro area member states will get back at least 70 per cent of their contribu-tions** from the BICC.

2.2.3 Banking Union

As a result of the European integration, more and more banking groups – strong in their home country – extended their field of operations to other member states, in the wake of which giant banks, present in several EU countries, came into being. Due to this, **the idea creating the banking union has already come up when framing the Maastricht Treaty**, but the partial or full surrender of the national supervisory bodies ran into political difficulties, as member states were primarily worried about their national sovereignty. As a result of the crisis, member states recognised the fact that in addition to the already achieved financial market integration, **it would be expedient to standardise banks' operational framework as well.** The key justification for creating the banking union is the weakening of bank-sovereign adverse feedback mechanism. Furthermore, in the absence of a uniform operating framework, it could happen that when the

³⁵ Sam Fleming, Mehreen Khan (2019)

activity of a bank – registered in the home country – pursued in the host country would call for intervention, the home country would fail to take measures or would do so only with delay as its own national economy would not be directly impacted.

One condition of the Banking Union is that the member states participating in it should uniformly apply the EU regulations applicable to banking. The regulations related to capital requirements were adopted as the first pillar of the Banking Union (Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR); Capital Requirements Directive (CRD)), which cover all institutions settled in the European Union, irrespective of whether their registered office is within or outside the euro area. The Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), which appeared as the second pillar, transfers the supervision of the key banking actors settled in the participating member state to the competence of the European Central Bank (ECB). The SSM's scope of authority at present only covers the euro area member states, but any member state may decide to join. Membership in SSM is accompanied by joining the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), which facilitates access to the funds of the European Resolution Fund. The fourth pillar, related to the European Deposit Insurance Scheme (EDIS), is under approval at present.



Chart 2-13: Pillars of the Banking Union

Source: European Commission (2019b).

Single Rulebook

The Single Rulebook codifies the harmonised prudential regulations, which the institutions must comply with across the EU. The need for creating it was justified by the fact that the EU regulation, formerly based primarily on directives, left room for the different implementation of the laws at national level. However, this led to different interpretation of the laws and thereby to legal uncertainty, which have put the institutions pursuing cross-border activity into unequal situation. The purpose of the Single Rulebook is to eliminate these differences and to contribute to the development of a more resilient, transparent and efficient banking system.³⁶ The most important role of the Single Rulebook is that it stipulates the capital requirements applicable to banks (CRR, CRD IV), provides higher protection to deposit holders and regulates the measures aimed at the prevention and management of the bankruptcy of banks.³⁷

Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM)

In the area of supervision, it is primarily the competences and responsibilities that need to be clarified, which is hindered by relatively few obstacles. The relevant EU institutions in cooperation with each other³⁸, define **the banks that are of material size from the perspective of the monetary union's financial**

³⁶ EBA (2019).

³⁷ Council of the European Union (2019).

³⁸ Following the Great Financial Crisis on the basis of the guidelines of the Financial Stability Board (FSB) operating besides of the BIS, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision worked out the methodology for the determination of the group of Globally Systematically Important Banks (G-SIB) of which several are Europeans. In the European Union, based on this methodology, the group of systematically important bank at the level of EU (EU-SIB) and the eurozone (EZ-SIB) have been decided by the national supervisory authorities with agreement with the European Banking Authority (EBA) and the ECB. Other non-bank financial institutions can also qualify as systematically important (O-SIB) and the respective authorities could prescribe stricter prudential requirements for them. See Adam et al. (2019).

system as a whole and carrying systemic risk. The supervision of these was centralised in the ECB's SSM function, while the control of the other banks remains in national competence. The supervisory colleges were established, with dedicated competences. According to the accepted principle, branches and subsidiaries are supervised by the financial supervisory authority of the home country and host country, respectively, while the other affected states have right to express opinion. However, for the banks pursuing cross-border activity it gives rise to anxiety that their subsidiaries must also comply with the national rules of the host country. (Due to this some of the banks transformed their foreign subsidiaries into branches; e.g. Deutsche Bank in 2016 performed such transformation in its Dutch subsidiaries.³⁹)

Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM)

The centre of the new shared function is the Single Resolution Fund (SRF) and the decision-making body connected to it, i.e. the Single Resolution Board (SRB). The purpose of SRB is to ensure the resolution of failing banks in an orderly manner, with minimum adverse impact on the real economy and the public finances of the member states⁴⁰. The single resolution fund is built gradually, in eight years (between 2016 and 2023) and the funds are contributed to by the banks in instalments. The targeted amount is EUR 60 billion (it is expected to be 1 per cent of the covered deposits in 2023). Of this, almost EUR 33 billion⁴¹ has been paid in by summer 2019. The reason for creating the resolution fund is that formerly no single resolution framework existed in the member states, and the bailout of banks by the government generates major costs even for the national budgets, and in certain cases its impact on the sovereign risk may also represent systemic financial risks. Many detai-

³⁹ European Banking Supervision (2016).

⁴⁰ Single Resolution Board (2019a).

⁴¹ Single Resolution Board (2019b).

led rules apply to the drawdown of resources from the fund, such as, for example, if the bank's owners and subordinated bond-holders have already lost their receivables at least up to 8 per cent – or 20 per cent, as the case may be – of the bank's liabilities. The contributed amount will be divided into national facilities until 2023, i.e. the end of the build-up period, and first these may be drawn down. If a country's own facility proves to be insufficient, then drawing can be made from the facility of another country. During the years, until the completion of the build-up in 2023, the utilisation ratio of the countries' own facility will gradually decline (initially it will be 100 per cent, in the second year 60 per cent, and so on), and from 2024 only the shared fund will be used.42 Then the division into the national facilities will be terminated. For the period lasting until the completion of the build-up of the fund, the states conclude a loan agreement with the Resolution Fund, which ensures the constant availability of the national facility. Should there be a need for an extremely large disbursement, it would require the availability of a backstop. Most of the recommendations propose the ESM (or if it is transformed, the future European Monetary Fund (EMF)) to serve as such backstop, but no decision has been made on this yet.

European Deposit Insurance Scheme (EDIS)

At present, the deposit insurance schemes operate within the competence of the member states, whereas the related minimum rules are regulated at EU level. One of these rules is the level of deposit protection, the minimum amount of which at present is EUR 100,000. The introduction of the EU deposit insurance scheme can be achieved gradually, since the build-up of the insurance fund would also take several years. The size of the fund would be 0.8 per cent of the total covered deposits, which – based on the 2011 data – would be roughly EUR 43 bil-

⁴² Single Resolution Board (2019c).

lion. According to the analyses, a fund of this size would already cover the payments incurred during the 2008 crisis or even in a larger crisis than that.⁴³

Of the areas affecting the banking union, the most heated debates are about the deposit insurance. According to the original concept, the deposit insurance union would be a precondition for the banking union, because certain core countries feared that through that they would once again make a commitment to yet another potential permanent transfer. If a bank, pursuing particularly poor lending activity, loses its capital, and - in accordance with the new banking union principles aimed at the involvement of the private sector - it also used its other funds that may be involved in the bankruptcy procedure (bank bonds, subordinated loans and capital, etc.), and there is still unsatisfied liability, it potentially means that it needs to resort to the deposits to satisfy the claims. Since in practice the states often do not undertake this - particularly not in the case of small deposit holders -, usually drawing should be made on the deposit insurance fund, established previously on a mandatory basis. However, if that is not sufficient either, it may be necessary to resort to central budgetary funds. Due to this, the German negotiator prescribed as the precondition for any further agreement that (particularly the Italian) banks must cleanse their portfolio from the old non-performing loans before any deposit union can be contemplated.

The proposal of Minister of Finance, Olaf Scholz, made in November 2019 represents a shift in the German position, according to which – albeit still subject to strict conditions – **Germany once again may be ready** to participate **in the single European deposit insurance scheme.** The conditions named by Scholz include the tightening of the capital requirements of sovereign exposures, limiting and discouraging banks from the purchase of domestic government securities, the elaboration of action plans for the

⁴³ ECB (2019).

reduction of non-performing loans in the banks' balance sheets, and the harmonisation of the insolvency regulations at EU level.⁴⁴

2.2.4 Capital Markets Union (CMU)

The leaders of the European Union regarded the capital markets union as one of the key elements of the further strengthening of the EU's competitiveness and resilience. In 2015, the European Commission adopted an action plan on the topic, containing thirty specific points of action.⁴⁵

One of the objectives of the capital market union is to foster the free flow of capital within Europe. The strategy aimed at the fostering of the capital market integration differs from that applied to the banking union. In this area, they wish to achieve the integration much more gradually, as a result of many small steps, building it up from below, without creating additional centralised institutions.

The Commission would like to divert corporations from banks to the capital market for the purpose of fund raising. According to the Commission's expectations, with this they **expand the range of potential investments**, both for the retail and institutional investors. Furthermore, **the creation of the integrated money and capital markets would also lead to risk sharing through the expansion of the sources of finance.** These opinions are corroborated by the fact that 88 per cent of the new loans to enterprises in 2018 came from banks⁴⁶, and this ratio is higher than it was in the first years of the decade. The European Commission formulated additional requirements in its action plan, as a result of which "it wishes to mobilise capital within Europe, connect funding sources more effectively to investment

⁴⁴ Olaf Scholz (2019).

⁴⁵ European Commission (2015b).

⁴⁶ AFME (2019).

projects across the EU, make the financial system more stable and finally deepen financial integration and increase competition".⁴⁷ One of the key macroeconomic arguments is the expected role of the capital markets, such as providing "private insurance" against the income shocks affecting certain countries, through geographically diversified investments or against the assumed financial shocks with firmer resilience than that of banks.

2.2.5 Evaluation comments related to the institutional developments

The decisions already taken with a view to making the economic governance of the Economic and Monetary Union more efficient, and the future plans known to date contain such elements that help recognise the risks of crises similar to those already experienced, and take preventive measures, or - if those prove to be insufficient - facilitate the management of the imbalances and financial instabilities with less delay and social loss compared to the crisis management in the past. At the same time, the fundamental dilemma - stressing the monetary union since its establishment - can be still tracked in the institutional frameworks being developed. The root of this tension is that the single currency is used as its own by a region that has not clear-cut fiscal authority, but is rather built on the coordination of national fiscal policies. However, the crisis showed that this ambition is based on the inaccurate interpretation of the modern fiat financial system, since the stability of the modern financial system ultimately depends on the government's taxation capacity.⁴⁸

In the creation of the monetary union and also in the latest reforms, the currency approach – **built on the analogy of commodity (gold) money** – was enforced, according to which monetary

⁴⁷ European Commission (2015b); p. 4.

⁴⁸ Kregel (1999)., MNB (2011); p. 18.

stability is ensured by a policy aimed at price stability, and most of all by a trustworthy central bank that places price stability before everything else. Thus it is assumed that if the independent central bank successfully achieves price stability, it will be equally successful in ensuring the stability of the financial system, in the same way as in the gold standard system by ensuring the gold parity of the currency and preventing the outflow of cash in excess of the reserve holdings. Supplemented with appropriate prudential regulation and passive, "disciplined" fiscal policy, it is possible to ensure monetary and macroeconomic stability. The post-crisis measures and the institutional changes reflect this mentality. However, in light of the crisis, the constraints of this approach became visible. Namely, the latest crisis occurred under price stability, when seemingly the prudential rules were also appropriate (although today their severe shortcomings, such as the absence of macroprudential approach, are already known), and the fiscal sustainability (with some minor exceptions) was also satisfied. Essentially, the financial or banking crisis highlighted the fact that the policy aimed at price stability is not sufficient for the macroeconomic stability. Namely, in a liberalised financial regime instabilities may develop even under price stability. The prevention of these - if the prudential regulations are unsuitable for keeping the systemic risks of the financial crises at a tolerable level or if the crisis occurs at the tolerable risk level - calls for a much more active fiscal policy both at area and national level. It was exactly this that the neo-Figurealist theory of money, ignored since the creation of the monetary union, warned about: the ultimate stability of the modern financial system is represented by the state and its taxation capacity. In addition to the central bank commercial banks are able to generate money endogenously, and the central bank, as governmental institution, supports this activity.

The European policymakers recognised this at least partially, and now they **institutionalise** the crisis management mechanisms created during the crisis **ad hoc** (which earlier fell into the background) as steady instruments. However, the method of this institutionalisation is still influenced by the previous mentality, which reduces their efficiency and may also serve as a source of future tensions. The objective to preserve national fiscal independence and reduce the single fiscal capacity to the smallest possible degree can be perceived in the operation of each of the new institutions. The primary obstacle to the development of the optimal institutional framework is the unjustified fear of certain countries of what they refer to as the "transfer union", which is linked primarily to Germany, but the countries of the New Hanseatic League also mostly share this view⁴⁹. They are afraid that if they permit, for example, higher budget deficit or government debt, or they develop a single deposit insurance scheme or agree to the joint issuance of bonds, they undertake financial obligation over which they have no full control. The potential payment obligations will depend on the conduct of the counterparty countries. The erroneous interpretation of the present crisis seemingly justifies these fears, since they attribute it - said or unsaid - primarily to the undisciplined wage developments, deteriorating competitiveness and excessive fiscal spending. This explains all those integrated brakes, guarantees and conditions that are present in all new institutions: deposit insurance, banking union, ESM, etc.

The fear is unjustified, because it is **based on the misinterpretation of** the budget's **cyclical stabilisation function**. **The cyclical fiscal stabilisation does not necessitate permanent financial transfer between countries**. What is needed instead is that when due to the inadequate demand of the private sector the economy is unable to reach the limit of its capacities, the government makes up for missing demand by budget deficit. Within the present institutional framework this stabilising function lies with the national economies, since the vast majority of the fiscal revenues and expenditures are concentrated there. The **small size of the area's**

⁴⁹ Alliance including northern member states: A group within the EU, comprising Ireland, the Netherlands, Sweden, Denmark, Finland and the three Baltic states.

budget **facilitates no material stabilisation function** for the time being, even together with augmented amount contributed by the states. In addition, it is a problem that most of the countries have no intention as yet to vest the euro area's single fiscal capacity with this function. Despite the repeated demand of French President Emmanuel Macron, Mario Draghi former and Christine Lagarde current Presidents of ECB, this decision still has not been made. Naturally, this does not preclude that in the absence of institutional changes **fiscal stimulus**, **even covering the entire euro area**, is achieved, if necessary, **through coordinated fiscal easing**. If the **new approach** of the fiscal policy **gained ground** among the majority of the European policymakers, then – executed either in a coordinated or in a centralised manner – pursuing optimal fiscal policy, the area could **set on a higher growth path** in a lasting and sustainable manner, getting closer to the competitors.

As we have seen it, the ESM may be suitable to fulfil the ultimate market maker (essentially lender of last resort) function credibly on the government securities market in one or several countries of a size not approximating the aggregate GDP of the area. It may similarly be suitable for the provision of additional funding, necessary for the management of bank crises. However, this instrument as well may only be applied subject to compliance with strict conditions. In addition, since it is still an intergovernmental mechanism and is not part of the European governmental institutional system, each member state still has right of veto. In a typical crisis situation these conditions may limit the efficiency of the mechanism, since the degree of efficiency of the mechanism has an upper bound, while the application is time-consuming due to its conditional nature and uncertain due to the potential veto of the countries. In addition, public accountability is also missing.⁵⁰ Nevertheless, comparing it with the latest crisis management, it is a great advantage that - despite all constraints - it exists at all, and thereby the costs of crisis management can be mitigated.

⁵⁰ Vallée et al. (2019).

The latest proposal⁵¹ of Germany, specified as a condition for the **banking union and the single** deposit insurance reflects a similar approach. When it is prescribed that over a certain ratio banks must not hold the government securities of their own state, they want to force banks institutionally to do something that they would never do on their own: to treat their home currency as if it was a foreign currency. Namely, it is a long-time risk management convention that the government securities of a state issued in the home currency is free of risks.⁵² The Economic and Monetary Union has no intention to declare this, which, however, increasingly contradicts to the practice of modern finances also in the sense that **there is rising demand for risk-free securities**, as a fundamental bank and capital market risk management tool. The scarcity of this and the fragmented market thereof increases the competitive disadvantage of the European financial sector.

As we have seen it, institutional developments include the deepening of **capital market integration**. Of the integration of the capital markets, segmented due to several reasons⁵³, policymakers expect that as an alternative form of financing it can make Europe's financial sector, excessively relying on banks, and particularly the financing of dynamic and innovative firms more diversified. Upon the realisation of this, monetary policy transmission could also be expanded by a new channel. It is usually mentioned as an additional advantage that, particularly compared to the USA with its integrated capital market, it could provide a new mechanism for the adjustment to country-specific shocks, which, moreover, would be provided automatically by the private sector.

⁵¹ Scholz (2019).

⁵² More precisely, it is free of credit risk, since a state is always solvent in its own currency. Nevertheless, it still has market (interest) risk and the real yield is not guaranteed either, with the exception of the inflation-indexed bonds, most of which guarantee this as well.

⁵³ Buch (2019).





Source: OECD (2015) and MNB (2015).

However, this issue carries the risk that policymakers are guided by excessive optimism. Although in the USA or in the United Kingdom the corporate equity and bond markets are indeed larger, the role of these in investment financing is not as great as it usually thought to be. The primary source of finance for large corporations is retained earnings and own funds. The OECD report presents that large corporations, which implement roughly 80 per cent of the investments in Europe and in the USA, hold their external funds in liquid investments (Chart 2-14).⁵⁴ Other studies point out that in Germany smaller savings banks provide much more reliable and cheaper funding for the financing of small enterprises than the capital markets.55 Mazzucato et al.⁵⁶ point out how in recent years the capital market institutions have withdrawn from the financing of the truly risky and innovative researches and those were undertaken by the states in an increasing ratio, while they focus only on less risky development phases, being closer to the marketing phase (Chart 2-15). Furthermore, bank and capital market financing are not neces-

⁵⁴ OECD (2015), p. 46. MNB (2015), pp. 24-25, Szalai (2016).

⁵⁵ A brief summary is provided by Hassan (2014).

⁵⁶ Mazzucato (2011), Mazzucato and Perez (2014), Mazzucato and Wray (2015).

sarily alternatives, but very often supplement each other: banks often provide capital markets with refinancing or background financing, and provide liquidity on the repo markets. The weight of the bank or capital market financing often reflects the different financial literacy backgrounds and regulatory environment, rather than being determined on the basis of a universal rationality. It appears to be more important that at its latest summit in December 2019, the EU decided on providing higher amount of funds for the financing of sustainable innovations, where it has a lag compared to China and the USA.



Chart 2-15: Source of funding for basic research in the USA, in 2008

Capital market integration represents a special problem from a macro financial approach. In the USA and in the United Kingdom during the crisis, but even earlier, especially in the USA, without officially declaring it, **the stabilisation of the markets has become the duty of Fed**, similarly to the lender of last resort function in the banking sector. Due to the smaller size of the capital markets, this dilemma has not come up for the time being with similar weight in Europe. However, if the efforts of the policymakers succeed and the weight of the capital markets increases, then – similarly to the banking union – the capital market union will also raise complicated questions, which for the time being is difficult to cope with even in the area of the banking union. During the crisis, **similarly to the banking activities**,

Source: Mazzucato (2011), p. 40.

capital market activities also became disintegrated and compared to the former integration a step back was made. Namely, the formerly single currency area unexpectedly confronted investors with the realistic risk of disintegration (redenomination), which exacerbated the crisis and for the prevention of which the existing institutional system was not prepared. Instead of providing private market insurance and mitigating the individual risk of individual investors by providing geographically diversified investment opportunity in the form of portfolio insurance, the capital market integration intensified the instabilities.

These issues have not yet emerged in the debates related to the capital market integration, which are often dominated by abstract arguments, not justifiable on an empirical basis. How should we evaluate an argument according to which the capital markets, contrary to the banks, are much more resistant to financial instabilities?57 It is seemingly convincing if we consider that the banks of certain European countries hold too large volume of substandard receivables, which curb their lending activity. However, in a more thorough comparison we should not ignore the fact that in the \mathbf{USA} – the epicentre of the present \mathbf{crisis} – the financial system was rather securitised, and the crisis spread from there to the rest of the world. In addition, it should not be ignored either that it was not the capital markets that managed the crisis on their own, but rather the Fed extended to them as well the lender of last resort function, initially reserved for the "more vulnerable" banking sector. In addition, the Fed massively intervened in the market of substandard securities, taking them over from the issuers and ultimate investors (TARP - troubled asset relief programme). Finally, the US fiscal policy - with its budget deficit substantially exceeding the European one - contributed to

⁵⁷ It is a frequent argument for the higher weight of capital market funding that the present crisis was deeper in Europe than in the USA, because financing too much relies on the banking sector. The larger role of the capital markets would have mitigated the impact of the crisis, since "two engines" could have worked instead of one. The arguments for and against the higher weight of the capital markets are summarised by Allen and Pástor (2019), p. 8.

the stabilisation of the financial markets efficiently, albeit indirectly, while in Europe, partly due to the economic slowdown occurring during the inadequate crisis management, masses of formerly performing bank loans became substandard. Accordingly, it is difficult to expect of the capital market union to substitute the proper institutions of macroeconomic stabilisation in full.

The development of the area-level mechanisms of macroeconomic stabilisation is still to come. The fear of the bond markets, bond market contagion of the periphery countries and the permanent transfer obligations, characterising the first years of the crisis management, proved to be irrational. Although the individual countries of the area surrendered their monetary sovereignty, together they have substantial sovereignty at global level. We saw an unintended proof of this after the announcement made by Mario Draghi in 2012.





Source: Bloomberg.

It will be recalled that the **government securities risk spreads**, which almost fully disappeared before the Greek sovereign crisis, **suddenly soared** in the periphery countries and in the second half of 2010 they reached the level recorded before the

creation of the monetary union, and then continued to rise. Only the announcement of Mario Draghi in 2012 turned the process threatening with the collapse of the euro area, when simultaneously with announcing the **Outright Monetary Transactions ("OMT")** he also committed to using all instruments available to the ECB to keep the monetary union together.⁵⁸ The announcement of Draghi practically reversed the panic caused by the joint declaration of prime ministers in Deauville in October 2010, according to which each country had to cope with the crisis on its own and due to the private sector involvement (PSI) in the costs of crisis management private investors will also incur losses.⁵⁹

The **market panic** that followed the fast reversal aimed at the fiscal adjustment was a **paradox** result, since the **intention** of the policymakers was **to regain market confidence**. Both the markets and the governments – fearing each other's behaviour – tried to decode from each other's conduct whether solidarity between the countries was still strong enough to ensure that all government securities can be deemed risk-free and no "redenomination" (fall-out from the monetary union, and repeated introduction of own currency) will take place either.⁶⁰

⁵⁸ "But there is another message I want to tell you. Within our mandate, the ECB is ready to do whatever it takes to preserve the euro. And believe me, it will be enough." Draghi (2012).

⁵⁹ See, for example, Heise (2013), Malika and Castelletti-Font (2017).

⁶⁰ This situation reminds us of the graphic example of Paul A. Samuelson, the creator of modern macroeconomics. When the economic policy tries to gather the correct policy from the markets' behaviour, it is like when the monkey reacts to its own reflection in the mirror, unaware that it is seeing its own reflection. In the same way, governments got scared by the markets' behaviour and accordingly, they tried to save their own country from the contagion erroneously. Finally, the core countries gained a lot from the panic of the markets by the fact that large volumes of savings flowed to them from the periphery countries even on low or even negative interest. The fears that capital would flow out from the euro area also proved to be unsubstantiated. Samuelson (1994), p. 231.

Since 2012 additional proofs emerged that the **countries of the euro area are not vulnerable to the "markets"**, what's more at present an increasing part of the government securities pay negative interest. It is clear **that nothing hinders the policymakers in pursuing an economic policy that serves the welfare of European citizens, full employment and capacity utilisation in a sustainable manner**, while keeping the monetary union together and solidarity **do not necessitate transfers that would exceed the current ones.**

References

Adam, M., P. Bochmann, M. Grodzicki, L. Mingarelli, M. Montagna, C. Rodriguez d'Acri and M. Spaggiari (2019): Assessing the systemic footprint of euro area banks, in: Financial Stability Review, European Central Bank November 2019, <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/financial-stability/fsr/html/ecb.fsr201911~facad0251f. en.html#toc1</u>

Buch, C. (2019): Capital Markets Union: A Central Banking Perspective on the Way Forward, Keynote lecture prepared for the 2nd Annual Conference of the Joint Research Centre (JRC) Community of Practice in Financial Research Capital Markets Union: Unlocking Europe's Economic Potential, 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.bundesbank.de/en/press/speeches/capital-markets-union-a-central-banking-perspectiveon-the-way-forward-817450</u>

Csortos, O. – Szalai, Z. (2013): Makrogazdasági egyensúlytalanságokat megragadó indikátorok értékelése. (Assessment of macroeconomic imbalance indicators) MNB Bulletin, October 2013

EBA (2019): The Single Rulebook, 2019. 12. 18., <u>https://eba.europa.eu/regula-tion-and-policy/single-rulebook</u>

ECB (2019): What is a deposit guarantee scheme?, 18 December 2019, <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/explainers/tell-me-more/html/deposit_guarantee.hu.html</u>

European Banking Supervision (2016): The first eighteen months, 2016, 2019.12.18., http://bruegel.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Blueprint-XXV-web.pdf

European Commission (2015a): Completing Europe's Economic and Monetary Union, 18 December 2019, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/sites/beta-political/files/5-presidents-report_hu.pdf</u>

European Commission (2015b): Communication from the Commission of the European Parliament to the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – Action Plan on Building a Capital Markets Union, 18 December 2019, <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/HU/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52015DC0468&from=EN</u>
European Commission (2017): Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on the Mid-Term Review of the Capital Markets Union Action Plan, 2019.12.18., <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/info/files/communication-cmu-mid-term-review-june2017_en.pdf</u>

European Commission (2019a): Commission proposes a governance framework for the Budgetary Instrument for Convergence and Competitiveness, 2019.12.18., <u>htt-ps://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_19_4372</u>

European Commission (2019b): Banking union, 2019.12.18., <u>https://ec.europa.eu/</u> info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/banking-union_hu

Council of the European Union (2019): Single Rulebook, 18 December 2019., <u>https://</u>www.consilium.europa.eu/hu/policies/banking-union/single-rulebook/

European Parliament (2011): Regulation 1176/2011/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on the prevention and correction of macroeconomic imbalances, 16 November 2011 <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?u-ri=OJ:L:2011:306:0025:0032:hu:PDF</u>

European Commission (2019): Excessive imbalance procedure, 2019.12.18., <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/economic-and-fiscal-policy-coordina-tion/eu-economic-governance-monitoring-prevention-correction/macroecono-mic-imbalance-procedure/excessive-imbalance-procedure_en</u>

Eurostat (2019): Macroeconomics imbalance procedure, information on indicators, 2019.12.18., <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/macroeconomic-imbalances-procedure/indicators</u>

Franklin, A. and L. Pástor (2018): The Capital Markets Union: Key Challenges, CEPR Discussion Papers 12761, 2019.12.18., <u>https://ideas.repec.org/p/cpr/ceprdp/12761.</u> <u>html</u>

Hassan, F. (2014): Financing of the German economy, 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.finance-watch.org/a-view-from-germany-ii-the-financing-of-the-german-economy/</u>

Heise, Michael (2013): Emerging from the European Debt Crisis. Making the single currency work, Springer Verlag

Horváth, Z. (2011): Kézikönyv az Európai Unióról (Handbook on the European Union)

Kregel, J. A: (1999): Price stability and full employment as complements in a new Europe: a market-based price stabilization policy for the new ECB, 178-194. o., in: Davidson, P. and J. A. Kregel (1999): Full Employment and Price Stability in a Global Economy, Edward Elgar

Malika, B. S. and B. Castelletti-Font (2017): Determinants of sovereign bond yields: the role of fiscal and external imbalances, Rue de la Banque no. 53, 2019.12.18., <u>https://publications.banque-france.fr/en/determinants-sovereign-bond-yields-role-fis-cal-and-external-imbalances</u>

Matolcsy (2019): The American Empire vs. the European Dream

Meseberg Declaration (2018): 2019.12.18., <u>https://archiv.bundesregierung.de/ar-chiv-de/meta/startseite/meseberg-declaration-1140806</u>

MNB (2011): Analysis of the Convergence Process. October 2011, <u>https://www.mnb.</u> hu/letoltes/konvergencia-elemzes-en.pdf

Patrick Jenkins (2019): Can the EU's failed Capital Markets Union be revived?; 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.ft.com/content/d7140246-fc07-11e9-a354-36acbbb0d9b6</u>

Sam Fleming, Mehreen Khan (2019): EU finance ministers approve separate 'eurozone budget' tool, 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.ft.com/content/1cf66b48-eb35-11e9-a240-3b065ef5fc55</u>

Scholz, O. (2019): Germany's Scholz gives ground on eurozone banking union plan. Finance minister says Berlin should support common deposit insurance scheme, in: Financial Times, 6 November 2019, 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.ft.com/content/8ea7e002-ffce-11e9-b7bc-f3fa4e77dd47</u>

Single Resolution Board (2019a): About the SRB, 2019. 12. 18., <u>https://srb.europa.eu/en/mission</u>

Single Resolution Board (2019b): SRF grows to €33 billion after latest round of transfers, 2019.12.18., <u>https://srb.europa.eu/en/node/804</u>

Single Resolution Board (2019c): What is the Single Resolution Fund?, 2019.12.18., https://srb.europa.eu/en/content/single-resolution-fund

The Association for Financial Markets in Europe (2019): Capital Markets Union, Key Performance Indicators, Second Edition, 2019.12.18., <u>https://www.afme.eu/ Portals/0/DispatchFeaturedImages/AFME%20CMU%20Key%20Performance%20</u> <u>Indicators%20Report.pdf</u>

Vallée, S., J. Cohen-Setton, P. De Grauwe and S. Dullien (2019): The proposed reform of the European Stability Mechanism must be postponed, 2019.12. <u>19., https:// blogs.lse.ac.uk/europpblog/2019/12/11/the-proposed-reform-of-the-european-stability-mechanism-must-be-postponed/</u>

3 Country experiences

Balance of the benefits and costs of introducing the euro before and since the 2008-2009 crisis

József Kelemen – Gábor Dániel Soós – Gergő Török – Árpád Vadkerti

The global financial crisis and the euro area (debt) crisis, as well as the lessons learnt from the management of those, changed the balance of the benefits and costs of the euro adoption. As a result of surrendering the independent currency, the transaction costs resulting from the fact that the national currency must be converted into euro and vice versa, will cease to exist. However, owing to the more and more advanced banking systems, they considerable decreased, and presumably the Fintech revolution will reduce them further. The ceasing of the exchange rate volatility as a result of the pegging would have had major positive effect on Hungary due to the formerly high foreign currency exposure. At the same time, the shift toward self-financing materially decreased the exposure of Hungary, the continuation of which further reduces the positive economic effects stemming from the pegging.

The use of the single currency makes trading more efficient and more convenient, and thus the external trade of the respective national economy with the countries of the area increases. One or two decades ago this was a general opinion; however, this effect is no longer so evident. The experiences of the past period mostly consider the deepening of the integration to be the result of the easing trade barriers. Since Hungary already has substantial and strong external trade relations with countries using euro, joining the euro area would have smaller additional effects, also made questionable by several factors of uncertainty (protectionism, technological progress).

The founder euro area members experienced major convergence of yields, while in the countries that joined later, spreads declined materially during the three years of the convergence preceding accession. The global financial crisis and the sovereign debt crisis, which developed in 2010, led to a major increase in the yields of the periphery countries, deemed riskier. Thus, contrary to the expectations, the euro area was less suitable for enhancing the crisis resistance of the member states. In parallel with this, certain country-specific factors came into the limelight, which are no longer compensated by the euro area membership alone.

The long-term inflation effect of the adoption of euro may arise from the combination of convergence and the absence of independent monetary policy. For the less developed countries economic convergence results in higher inflation than that recorded in the developed countries. According to the previous theories, in a friction-free economy (i.e. the prices and real wages are flexible), the adoption of the euro does not give rise to higher inflation and thereby to lower than necessary real interest rates, through the real economy adjustments, in the longer run. At the same time, the experiences of the southern states showed that overly low real interest rates may persist in the long run, leading to severe imbalances. This appreciated the importance of the real economy convergence preceding the adoption of the euro, since the adequate maturity level reduces the probability of the development of imbalances.

During the crisis and the subsequent recovery, the role of the independent monetary policy appreciated. Due to this, one of the most important questions when contemplating the introduction of euro is the surrender of independent monetary policy. On the one hand, the fact that the single monetary policy strengthens the cycles when there are asymmetric business cycles, is a consideration often arising in connection with the monetary policy of the monetary union. On the other hand, excessively low real interest rates may cause the economy to overheat. Moreover, the latter may also give rise to real economy imbalances and blowing of economic bubbles. Following the financial crisis, the sets of the central banks' monetary instruments have undergone a transformation, and due to the appreciation of the importance of unconventional instruments, the assessment of the efficiency of ECB's unconventional instruments on the Hungarian economy – as a new aspect – also became necessary. When assessing the latter, the development level of the Hungarian financial markets is a key issue, which materially influences the efficiency of the monetary policy transmission of the unconventional instruments.

3.1.1 Real economy impacts of the euro

There is no clear consensus in the literature of economic theory in respect of the advantages and disadvantages of the introduction of euro. Prior to the global financial crisis, the issue was examined in an analytical framework relying on the real model of optimum currency areas, deemed traditional. Following the outbreak of the crisis and in the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) the focus of public policy and economic disputes was on the critical stage of crisis management. This turned the attention on the importance of financial cycles, and also on the shortcomings of the monetary union's institutional system. An increasingly larger part of the theoretical literature deals with the efficiency and potential development directions of Economic and Monetary Union's institutional system, also factoring in the lessons learnt from the crisis. The empirical literature strives to identify the effects and to re-estimate the previous results, relying on econometric and structural macro models. Naturally, all this also influenced the analysis of the benefits and costs of the euro introduction, which today shows a changed, but more balanced picture.

Fading of the real theory of accession

Prior to the outbreak of the global financial crisis, the mainstream economic approaches identified the following key benefits of accession to the monetary union:

- external trade generation impact;
- benefits arising from the yield convergence, i.e. the decrease in transaction costs and nominal interest rates, as well as the elimination of the exchange rate risk;
- and the decrease in sovereign and credit risks, and the lower funding costs resulting from that.

Meanwhile they regarded as the potential costs of the accession, and the risks resulting from those the following:

- asymmetric shocks;
- surrender of independent monetary policy;
- additional inflation mostly attributable to the Balassa-Samuelson effect;
- credit booms developing as a result of the low real interests;
- and the large-scale and volatile capital flows.

The basis of the conclusions, costs and benefits described above in most of the analyses is the Optimal Currency Area (OCA) theory described by Mundell (1961). According to the theory, the optimal currency area covers the geographical area of use of one or several currencies, irreversibly pegged to each other. The theory determines several optimality conditions, such as the mobility of the labour force and the factors of production, the total wage and price flexibility, the mobility of capital, economic openness, probability of asymmetric shocks, etc. Thus the conditions specified by the theory are real conditions, since Mundell assumed that monetary policy has no impact on long-term real economy trends. All this means that if there are no rigidities (i.e. the prices and real wages are flexible), the free movement of labour force is ensured and sufficient fiscal centralisation is enforced, the surrender of the exchange rate is not accompanied by excessive costs, reducing the role thereof in the management of shocks. Namely, according to the theory, the regions or countries participating in the pegged exchange rate regime are able to manage the asymmetric shocks affecting them even without adjustment through the exchange rate or in the absence of independent monetary policy.

Within the framework of Optimal Currency Area , the advantages of the single currency include the strengthening competit-

ion resulting from the abolished exchange rate volatility, increasing trade and capital flows among the countries. The main cost of joining the euro area may be the surrender of independent monetary policy, which may make its effect felt in the event of an asymmetric shock hitting the country: this is attributable to the fact that the common monetary authority reacts to it in proportion to the economic weight of the respective country within the area. At the same time, according to the real theory, the high degree of financial integration and the as small as possible nominal rigidities facilitate the management of such shocks. Thus, the exchange rate and financial integration, appear as adjustment channels, and the functioning of these as a channel of contagion is not assumed, although - as it was also highlighted, among other things, by the global financial crisis - the exchange rate and financial markets may also move in a manner that cannot be justified by the economic fundamentals, which is caused by the irrational conduct of market participants. This similarly applies to the financial integration as well: in addition to its advantages, it is not only the intermediary of external shocks, but it may also be a source of endogenous asset price bubbles.

The literature believed that there is sufficient fiscal room for manoeuvre for the member states to manage the asymmetric economic shocks within the euro area, even upon complying with the debt rules. If due to the inadequate functioning of the automatic fiscal stabilisers or to the excessively large cyclical deviation the fiscal room for manoeuvre proves to be insufficient, additional adjustment calls for a flexible labour market (wage flexibility, labour mobility), as the only alternative channel. By accessing the euro area, the monetary policy already rises to community level, and the exchange rate can no longer be devalued, and thus the only way to adjust is through internal devaluation. At the same time, it was a common opinion that euro area integration is able to ensure long-term economic development for the acceding country. According to the **endogeneity hypothesis** of the optimal currency areas (Frankel – Rose, 1998), as a result of introducing the single currency the economic structures come closer to each other to such a degree that it creates the optimal currency area, and this also reduces the costs of accession. De Greuwe – Mongelli (2005) provide an overview of the issue based on which they come to the conclusion that the endogeneity hypothesis may exist based on the pre-crisis information.

A potential advantage of the euro area membership is the strengthening external trade integration and competition resulting from the termination of exchange rate volatility. The costs affecting external trade may decrease due to the termination of exchange rate volatility. However, in practice, the degree of external trade integration is influenced not only by the degree of exchange rate risk, but also - among other things - by the depth of the already existing relations and the position in the global value chains. As it is highlighted by the IMF (2015) paper, recent researches no longer link the positive impacts on external trade to the introduction of the single currency. Certain analyses show that the external trade generating impacts may be related to the previous stage of European integration - to the EU membership - since the member states about to access facilitate trade between them by adjusting (terminating) the customs and non-customs commercial rules to the EU standards.

In nominal terms, the advantages of joining the euro area, may primarily stem from the yield convergence. In parallel with the strengthening of the yield convergence, in addition to the decline in transaction costs additional advantages may also be asserted, following from the decline in real interests and the decrease in sovereign risk premiums due to the diminishing exposure to financial contagion. At the same time, not only the country risk premiums may converge to the euro area level, but in parallel with that the sovereign credit ratings may also improve. In addition, in parallel with the rising confidence resulting from the accession, credit spreads may also decline, which ultimately may lead to a decrease in corporations' funding costs.

According to the paper of the European Commission (2006), the introduction of euro may be accompanied by several changes of key importance from the perspective of the acceding country. From the perspective of the nominal convergence, we can observe - among other things - a decrease in the risk premium and loan supply constraints. Accession to the euro area may lead to persistently lower real interest rates in the acceding countries due to the uniform euro area monetary policy and the excess inflation stemming from the real economy convergence. The decrease in real interest rates may cause faster outflow of credits, rising investment activity and (increasing) current account deficit through the strengthening of domestic absorption (Langedijk -Roeger, 2007), i.e. the economy may set on a faster convergence path. At the same time the decrease in real interest rates accompanying the yield convergence may also give rise to risks. The sudden decline in real interest rates - and to a level lower than observed in the neighbouring countries - most often leads to the overheating of the economy. According to the results of Samarina et al., 2017, in addition to the real economy effects, it may also lead to the division of the total and the mortgage market credit cycle. This process results in the build-up of risks jeopardising the stability of the financial system, which typically appears through the deterioration of the banks' portfolio quality.

The IMF (2015) paper points out that the advantages stemming from the yield convergence and related to the improvement in investor sentiment and credit rating, decreased in the period after the global financial crisis. The fading of the advantages took place around 2010, which suggests that is was attributable to the changed investor sentiment related to the euro area membership resulting from the euro area debt crisis, rather than to the financial crisis. The importance of the change in investor sentiment is also confirmed by the results of Bhatt et al. (2017). When decomposing the bond market yields into global, EMU- and country-specific factors, they find that after the outbreak of the global financial crisis the reason for the yield divergence observed in the European bond markets was the changed perceived risks related to the debt of the individual countries, despite the euro area membership.

One implicit advantage of surrendering the independent currency may stem from the contagion channel nature of the independent exchange rate; at the same time, this may also be the source of idiosyncratic shocks. This was also highlighted, among others, by the global financial crisis. Exchange rates and financial markets may also move in a manner that cannot be justified by the economic fundamentals, which is caused by the irrational behaviour of the market participants (Corsetti, 2008). This similarly applies to financial integration as well: in addition to its advantages, it is not only the intermediary of external shocks, but it may also be source of endogenous asset price bubbles, which somewhat reduces its advantages. This reduces the costs of surrendering the independent exchange rate and monetary policy. Examining the exchange rate data of developed countries, Farrant and Peersman (2006) come to the conclusion that it is the source rather than the absorber of shocks.

However, accession to the euro area may also entail disadvantages for the acceding country. Such disadvantages may include that in certain cases the accession may be regarded as an asymmetric shock. The competition, strengthening due to the termination of exchange rate volatility, may trigger efficiency adjustment coercion in the countries, adjusting without independent monetary policy, in the sectors affected by external trade. According to Frankel – Rose (1997), the deepening integration makes the structure of the economy more symmetric, since an increasing ratio of the external trade flows involve trade within the sector. Krugman – Venables (1995) are of different opinion; according to them, higher integration points to specialisation through the rising returns to scale, i.e. it strengthens the asymmetry. If an economy joins the currency area earlier than it would be optimal, the inflationary pressure will be larger than in the euro **area member states, since the real economy convergence also results in the convergence of the price level.** In the emerging economies the real exchange rate appreciates, which manifests itself either in excess inflation or in the appreciation of the nominal exchange rate. In Hungary, Romania and Poland the main channel of real appreciation was the excess inflation attributable to the Balassa-Samuelson effect (Bauer, 2015). Brůha – Podpiera (2007) present that the countries joining the euro area may experience persistent excess inflation.

3.1.2 Transaction costs of external trade

According to the general approach, joining a single currency area is useful both for the respective country and for the area. It is useful for the national economy, because it is able to integrate in a larger, and thereby more stable, economic environment better, and the processes involving trade may become substantially simpler. Thus, in general, such accession has favourable impacts on the national economies. On the other hand, it is useful from the currency area's perspective, because thereby the total integration of the area deepens, it becomes larger and represents a kind of centre of attraction for additional countries. Thus, the expansion of the currency area is essentially good for both parties. On the other hand, when examining the trends in more detail in the current environment, we may come to the conclusion that the issue should be approached more prudently.

When accessing a currency area, special attention should be paid to examining the consequences the macroeconomic change may have on the respective national economy through the external trade as a result of the accession and the channels through which the benefits and costs are enforced. On the one hand, it is a question what kind of positive economic effects the decrease in the transaction and administration costs may have. On the other hand, it is also questionable whether as a result of the accession any force appears that generates trade surplus. Thirdly, the direction of the changes in the structure of exports is also a question. Finally, consideration should be also given to the exchange rate fluctuation, playing a role in all of the above factors.

The answers to these questions today are no longer self-explanatory. On the one hand, in the short run the cancelled transaction costs may stimulate economic growth, if the resources freed in this way are used for productive activity (e.g. investment, wage increase, etc.). The deepening of external trade is also not evident, if the acceding country has already been strongly integrated with the respective currency area. When examining the structure of exports, in certain cases and circumstances, it may as well have adverse effect on the newly acceding country's export activity, if due to the ceasing own currency, as the case may be, certain sectors suffer price-based competitive disadvantage. In the following, we examine the aforementioned questions in more detail.

Decrease in transaction costs may continue in parallel with technological progress

As a result of surrendering the independent currency the transaction costs burdening corporations (and ultimately the households as well) – simply resulting from the fact that the national currency must be converted into euro and vice versa – will cease to exist. During the conversion, banks and other financial intermediaries charge fees. These costs usually appear in the form of the exchange rate spreads on the buy and sell rate, and as commission for those performing the conversion, which thus generate extra cost for the corporations. In addition, it also generates additional costs that due to trading in foreign currency it is necessary to hedge the risk. Let us think, for example, of the price setting due to the exchange rate volatility. It is difficult to quantify the aforementioned costs (particularly those resulting from administration); at macroeconomic level, it is possible along estimation procedures. If as a result of the termination of the transaction costs, the company uses the resources thus freed for productive activity, GDP essentially may increase by this freed amount. Naturally, this may only be an upper estimate, since the banking sector loses part of the profit. At the same time, resources may be also freed in the banking sector, which thus may be used for other activities.

The European Commission⁶¹ also examined the transaction costs and estimated the potential average savings in the EMU countries at 0.4 per cent of GDP. It should be noted that the estimation was performed in 1990, i.e. almost thirty years ago. Since then these costs may have substantially declined owing to the more and more advanced and wide-spread banking systems. Relying on the calculation based on the foreign currency turnover, Csajbók-Csermely (2001) estimated the conversion costs in Hungary at 0.1-0.2 per cent of GDP. In the absence of detailed foreign currency data, Borowski (2003) concluded that the financial costs of conversion in Poland amount to 0.14 per cent of GDP, based on the current account and FDI flow data. The Slovak central bank examined the dilemmas of the introduction of euro in 2006 and found that based on the foreign currency turnover and spreads, the effect of foreign exchange trading amounts to 0.3 per cent of GDP, while that of the total transaction costs is 0.36 per cent. Lacina et al. (2007) examined the degree of transaction costs on the Czech data, and estimated them at 0.28 per cent of GDP. According to De Grauwe (2012), in Europe the weight of transaction costs as a percentage of GDP is 0.25-0.5 per cent on average.

The Fintech revolution observed in recent years will presumably reduce the costs related to currency exchange and financial transactions further in the years ahead. As a result of the new services and the competition between the service providers, certain economic agents will have access to an increasing number of faster and cheaper cross-border payment solutions. As a result of this they may save major costs compared to the traditional

⁶¹ See European Commission (1990).

banking services, and thus the technological progress, in certain respects, circumvents and substitutes financial integration.

On the whole, according to the current estimates, the conversion and administration costs do not exceed 0.15 per cent of GDP. It is difficult to judge in what form and how much of these terminated costs may be transferred to productive activity. Thus, prudently we may state that the contribution of the termination of the transactions costs to economic growth may not exceed 0.15 per cent of GDP.

3.1.3 Deepening of external trade and change in the structure of exports

When an economy joins a currency area, it is intuitive to think that the exploitation of the benefits of the single currency will also result in closer partnership in external trade. In reality this should be imagined that the use of the single currency makes trading more efficient and more convenient, and thus the external trade activity of the respective national economy with the countries of the area increases. One or two decades ago this was a general and widely accepted opinion; however, in the current situation this effect is no longer so evident. In the past period, in parallel with the globalisation, external trade activity significantly rose, and Hungary's integration with the euro area has substantially increased (before, and then) after joining the EU. Further, strong deepening – merely as a result of introducing the single currency – is neither definite, nor evident. Let us examine the factors that influence these processes.

The general deceleration of world trade also curbs the integration processes

Further, major deepening of exports is also hindered by the fact that the deceleration of world trade became a general phenomenon in the past 10 years. The link between world trade and global economic performance has weakened since the crisis. Between 1980 and 2007, the growth in global economic performance resulted in an almost twice as high increase in world trade, but since the crisis it entailed a more moderate rise. Apart from the middle and the end of the 1970s, in the half-century that preceded the last crisis, world trade always rose at a higher rate than the GDP of the countries. **At the same time, in the past decade world trade significantly decelerated, equally contributed to by cyclical and structural factors.** Although the temporary decline in demands, caused by the global economic crisis, had negative impact on external trade in the recovery phase, after the wear-off of the cyclical effects the dynamics of world trade may lag behind of its pre-crisis average also on a longer horizon.

In the short run, the cyclical effects reduce the import intensity of global economy. In parallel with the declining economic performance, resulting from the crisis, the role of investments fell into the background in the advanced economies. Investments have high import content, and thus this phenomenon entailed the deceleration of external trade. In China, the restructuring of the economy may result in the lasting deceleration of investments and economic growth. In addition, Chinese policymakers also made efforts to reduce the high import content of investments gradually.

In addition to these short-term impacts, the slowdown of world trade may be also attributable to structural factors, prevailing in the longer run as well, such as the determinant geopolitical events of the past decades (e.g. China's joining the WTO, the reintegration process of the Central and Eastern European countries following their political transition), and the protectionist trade policies, in addition to the broadening of global value chains reaching their limits.

Thus, in such a world market environment it is not at all obvious that the introduction of euro is able to generate material additional impact on the performance of the export sector through the external trade channels. On the one hand, from the

1990s the degree of Hungary's integration with the euro area materially increased, thus it has strong external trade relations at present a well. Barriers to trade were also reduced by joining the Schengen Area. On the other hand, as a general phenomenon, the deceleration of the world trade, discussed above, may also reduce further deepening.

Risks stemming from volatility and vulnerability

Hungary's joining the euro area may result in a more significant advantage than the termination of the exchange rate volatility. This was relevant in previous periods, when the forint showed greater volatility, particularly if these effects resulted from the soar of the risk premium, which thus – apart from the negative impacts caused by the increased volatility – had unfavourable impact on the Hungarian economy also through the costs of finance.

However, this phenomenon strongly declined in recent years. Hungary's debt-type indicators decreased materially and gradually; within those the substantial fall in external debt should be emphasised, which fundamentally reduced the vulnerability of the Hungarian economy. From domestic demand side, as a result of the conversion of foreign currency loans – which used to be a major risk factor – stability improved further. Thus, owing to the stable Hungarian economic environment and declining vulnerability, the macroeconomic situation results in a more predictable and stable situation also from the perspective of corporate strategies.

Accordingly, accession to the euro area may undoubtedly reduce risks further, but at the same time, the Hungarian economy is currently on a path as a result of which it is much less exposed to the potential external effects than prior to the 2010s.

Box 3-1: Empirical results for the euro's trade stimulation effect

Researches, using a large volume of data, dealt with the assessment of the euro's trade stimulation effect, relying on the gravity models⁶². For the analysis of the current issue, they use the extended version of the basic model. The essence of the basic model is based on Newton's law of gravity, known from physics, according to which any particle of matter in the universe attracts any other with a force varying directly as the product of the masses and inversely as the square of the distance between them. On the model of this, the simple equation of the external trade's gravity model is as follows:

$$F_{i,j} = G \cdot \frac{M_i^{\beta_1} M_j^{\beta_2}}{D_{i,j}^{\beta_3}},$$

where $F_{i,i}$ is the trade from country ith to country jth, *M* is the income level of the respective country, i.e. practically its GDP, while *D* is the distance between the two countries, and *G* is the constant member. In the case of more specific issues, additional independent variables are added in addition to those already mentioned, such as, for example, the barriers to trade between the two countries, the population of the economies and various dummy variables. For example, it is captured by such dummy variable whether or not the two countries use a single currency, and thereby it becomes identifiable whether the use of such single currency contributes significantly positively to the trade between the two countries. The paper of Davis (2017), related specifically to the euro area, essentially examined whether or not accession to the euro area significantly increases the volume of exports and imports. The model's goodness of fit is pretty high: the variables explain almost 90 per cent from the fluctuation of the dependant variable. On the whole, the signs of

⁶² For more details on the gravity models see, e.g.: Yotov et al (2016).

the parameters correspond to the expected theoretical value. At the same time, **the euro area membership did not result in a significantly positive impact, in statistical terms, on the total external trade turnover**. Pantelidou (2014) and Nähle (2015) find no clearly positive impact either. The gravity model estimate of Gómez – Tamarit (2011), based on panel data (for roughly 26 countries, between 1967 and 2008) identified significant, but small positive impact. In summary, the various estimates typically find small positive relation, but in most of the cases those are not significant in statistical terms.

The changes in the structure of exports are influenced by the competitiveness of the countries

From the perspective of accession, it is not only the entire volume of exports or imports that matters, but also the structure. The export structure may be examined from two sides. Namely, on the basis of territory and on the basis of product structure. On the basis of territory, in order to assess our current export intensity compared to the respective groups of countries. On the other hand, the product structure deserves attention, because an economy is impacted by accession to the currency area depending on to what degree the given country has an export (and import) product structure for which the price-competitiveness advantage is important. In addition, a more concentrated export structure raises the risk that impulses affecting the individual sectors may have negative impact on the whole-economy performance. The level of the Hungarian economy's integration has continuously increased already before the accession to EU. In parallel with this, the volume of external trade also rose to the EU member states that use euro. Accordingly, in the past years/ decades trade increased, for which as a result of the accession to the EU and then to the Schengen Area the barrier to trade were significantly eased, thereby contributing to the development and maintenance of more efficient economic relations. Since the external trade relations are already significant and strong with the countries using euro, accession to the currency area would have smaller additional effect. This is simply because the barriers to trade between the euro area and the Hungarian economy are already minimal as result of the European institutional system.

3.1.4 Benefits of yield convergence

In the set of requirements applicable to the accession to the euro area, the reduction of the differences between the interest rates burdening the long-term government debt has an outstanding role. The convergence expected in long-term yields would provide the possibility for the persistence of the other convergence criteria, and in addition, for the acceding countries, deemed more risky, the decline in the financing costs of the government debt may represent an advantage.

Until the establishment of the currency area in 1999, major convergence of the yields was observed at the founder euro area members; by the time of the establishment, the yields became fully even with the yield of the 10-year German government bond. During that period, the fiscal policy normalised and government debts declined, which - through the decreasing risks - reduced the cost of government debt financing. Spreads fluctuated in a narrow band up until the deepening of the global economic crisis in autumn 2008. The crisis, and the management of that, which varied by countries, led to the major broadening of the yield differential band of the 10-year government bonds. In the years of the financial crisis, the yields of the low-risk countries materially declined compared to the pre-crisis level, following the decline in the lower, short-term yields. However, the yields of the countries of higher risk remained close to the pre-crisis levels.

The sovereign debt crisis, which developed in 2010, led to a major increase in the yields of the periphery countries, de-

emed riskier. Contrary to the expectations, the euro area was less suitable for enhancing the crisis resistance of the former member states and of those that joined during the years of the crisis. Moreover, the appearing structural problems deepened the consequences of the crisis further in many countries. Due to the fear of contagion within the currency area and to the increasing economic uncertainty, the formerly existing risk premium disappeared in the euro area member states. The yield differentials declined upon the lapse of the sovereign debt crisis. The interest rate spread for the riskier issuers within the currency area once again declined, although – contrary to the pre-crisis period – it still remained material.

Does euro area membership foster the convergence of yields?

The direct comparison of the government bond yields is not an appropriate approach to examine the impact of accession to the euro area on the yield spreads, since these are affected by a number of idiosyncratic factors (e.g. the cyclical deviations of economies) and also by the global investor sentiment. One option is to examine credit ratings, as those are affected by these factors to a lesser degree and thus, they capture the more general impacts on yield, valid for a longer term; the other option is to identify these idiosyncratic factors directly and eliminate them from the yields.

The paper of Wiegand (2017) examines the advantages stemming from the euro area membership based on the credit ratings.⁶³ Based on the paper, the advantage, stemming from the euro area membership and reducing the country risk, was considerable before the crisis, but it disappeared as a result of the crisis. The regulatory and institutional reforms launched after the global economic crisis helped partially restore the confidence in euro,

⁶³ Wiegand, J. (2017): The Re-Emerging Privilege of Euro Area Membership, IMF Working Paper, WP/17/162.

and thus membership is once again accompanied by a moderate decrease in country risk.

It is also possible to approach the impact of accession to the euro area on bond spreads by examining the spreads of the new members: however, due to the few new members, only a small number of observations are available, and thus conclusions should be treated prudently. In the three years preceding the accession to the euro area, spreads declined on average by roughly 100 basis points. However, after the accession, the level recorded at the time of the accession was maintained without any further decline. Based on this, compliance with the strict criteria of joining the euro area have already improved the perception of the country's debt before. Accordingly, for the government bond yields, the advantages of joining the euro area primarily appeared in the convergence period preceding the accession.

3.1.5 Does accession generate excess inflation differential

The **introduction of the single currency** may have not only real economy impacts, but may also affect prices expressed in the new currency, i.e. **inflation**. The inflation caused by the introduction of euro may represent a risk for the success of adopting the single currency. **The higher or rising inflation after the introduction of euro under a monetary policy stance defined for the entire area results in overly low real interest environment and the appreciation of real exchange rates. This is also supported by the experiences of the South European countries, i.e. Italy, Spain, Portugal, Greece and Slovenia.⁶⁴ Accordingly, it is a relevant question how**

⁶⁴ See Sections 8.1 and 8.3. In addition to the South European countries, the Baltic states also faced similar problems despite the fact that at the time of the development of the pre-crisis credit bubble they have not yet adopted the euro. At the same time, the three Baltic states are exceptions in terms of the adoption of euro, since they pursued pegged exchange rate policy since their

the adoption of the single currency influences prices, and how the potential inflation effects generated by the adoption can be mitigated. The relevance of the question is also supported by the fact that in most of the countries that have adopted euro, the majority of the households were concerned about the inflationary consequence of adopting the single currency.

Sources of inflation differential

The introduction of euro may influence inflation in two ways. The impacts appearing directly at the time of the introduction, during the changeover from the old currency to the euro may be regarded as short-term, temporary inflationary effect. These may occur due to several reasons:

- The **rounding** of the prices expressed in the previous currency **after the conversion** into euro, during which companies round the new price, expressed in euro to a more favourable price, from marketing perspective, and mostly upwards (Eife, 2006).⁶⁵
- Changeover to euro also generates costs for the companies

 menu cost which they charge to the consumers (Folkertsma, 2001).
- Prices may also rise as a result of the **"rational inattention"** of consumers in connection with the conversion. In this case, after adopting the euro, customers convert the new prices to the prices in the old currency applying the rule of thumb, and companies may exploit this for their own benefit (Ehrmann, 2006).
- The day of the changeover facilitates **synchronised repri-cing**. During the conversion, all companies can without

independence, which after joining the EU represented for them an economic environment similar to the adoption of the euro (see Section 8.2).

⁶⁵ According to the marketing psychology, prices ending on 9, such as EUR 1.99, appear to be more attractive for the customers.

additional costs – change their prices, which in this way result in a larger price change at aggregate level than when only part of the companies changed the prices (Folkertsma, 2001). Synchronised repricing also provides the opportunity to **divert the economic agents toward the higher equilibrium price** if there are several of those (Adriani et al., 2003).

In the short run, the inflation effects resulting from the immediate repricing may also influence the long-term price developments. If the population regards the temporarily larger prices rise resulting from the introduction of the euro as a permanent trend, it may also appear in the inflation expectations. If the single monetary policy fails to address the higher inflation expectations resulting from this, it may lead to permanently higher inflation.

The other, long-term inflation effect of the adoption of euro may arise from the combination of convergence and the absence of independent monetary policy. Based on the data observed in the past few decades, the price level is higher in the more developed countries and economic convergence for the less developed ones results in higher inflation than in the developed countries (Penn effect). One source of the higher inflation in the emerging country is Balassa-Samuelson effect, formulated by Balassa (1964) and Samuelson (1964). According to this, economic growth and convergence mostly originate from productivity growth, which primarily affects the industrial sector producing for the world market, while the productivity of services producing mostly for the domestic market does not increase to such a large degree. Since as a result of the labour movement between the two sectors should not substantially differ, the wages rising in the service sector in parallel with the industrial sector - in the absence of productivity growth of adequate degree - necessitate the raising of prices. Thus in the emerging countries that face faster productivity growth the price of services rises faster

than in the developed countries, which results in inflation differential. According to the calculations of Bauer (2015) the inflation differential rate is 0.5-1 percentage point for each additional economic growth of one percentage point. Thus the country, the growth of which exceeds that of the developed countries by 1 percentage point annually, faces higher inflation by 0.5-1 percentage point on average. After joining the euro area, the single monetary policy is unable to manage this higher inflation, and thus in the emerging country lower than ideal real interest environment may develop, which may result in the overheating of the economy and through that in even higher inflation.

According to the estimates of Eurostat, the immediate inflation effect from the adoption of euro did not exceed 0.3 percentage point in any of the countries. In the countries that introduced the euro at different times - and in substantially different economic situation - almost identical repricing was observed, and thus the cyclical position of the respective country presumably had no material impact on the immediate inflation effect of the adoption of the euro. According to the results, companies indeed capitalised on the opportunities offered by repricing, but the impact of this on total inflation was only temporary and moderate. On the other hand, the inflation perceived by households rose for several months after adopting the euro (Chart 3-1). However, this rise was not reflected in the inflation expectations, and thus although households perceived material inflation effects in relation to the introduction of the euro, they regarded this as a temporary effect. Based on this, the impact of the immediate repricing implemented in connection with the adoption of the euro presumably did not pass through to the inflation processes and did not influence prices in the longer run.



Chart 3-1: Short-term inflation effect of the adoption of the euro, estimated by Eurostat

Source: Eurostat (2002, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2011, 2014, 2015).

As a result of introducing the euro, prices rose in the short run particularly at services. Major price increase was observed in restaurant services; in several countries – e.g. in Slovenia – this single service accounted for almost half of the price rise. In addition, the prices of seasonal products also significantly rose in January 2002; however, a large part of this may have been attributable to the unfavourable weather conditions (ECB, 2002). However, Eife (2006) notes that in the case of products the prices of which change often – such as, for example, seasonal food – it is difficult for consumers to develop a reference price, which provides the opportunity for companies to raise the price of these products to a greater degree during the changeover to euro. Based on this, major effect may be attributed to the adoption of the euro also in the case of food, but this cannot be separated unambiguously from other factors that influence the prices.

The long-term inflation effects of the adoption of euro, resulting from the Balassa-Samuelson effect and from the potential overheating of the economy, may be analysed primarily through the services price inflation. This is due to the fact that both the Balassa-Samuelson effect and the demand inflation resulting from the overheating of the economy primarily appear in the prices of these products. The potential acceleration of inflation as a result of adopting the euro can be better detected in this product range due to the fact that the changes in market services inflation are not influenced or much less influenced by external economic effects (international inflationary environment, oil and commodity prices).

Looking at the euro area as a whole in general, in the 18 countries that introduced euro, services price inflation moderately declined on the whole after adopting the euro. However, there are major differences between the individual countries; inflation developments after the introduction of the euro vary in a wide band. This is due to the fact that the euro was adopted in the various countries at different times and in different economic situation. The post-accession inflation developments may be also influenced by the real economy convergence, since convergence is the source of inflation differential. If this convergence decelerates after accession, it may also influence inflation. When eliminating this effect, it can be established that after accession the rate of inflation necessary for one unit of convergence rose and the line - of positive slope between the growth and excess inflation compared to the reference countries - illustrating the Penn effect, became steeper (Chart 3-2). This indicates that after joining the euro area, as a result terminating the independent monetary policy, the acceding countries were not able to offset the inflation differential resulting from convergence and the decline in inflation after accession is partially explained by the slowdown of convergence. In the absence of the latter, inflation would have increased after accession.





Note: the chart shows the average of the growth and services price inflation of 17 euro countries 3 years before and after accession compared to the core countries; Ireland is not included due to lack of data. Euro area core countries: Germany, France, Benelux states and Austria.

Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

However, in addition to the general analysis of the euro area it is also worth reviewing the experiences of certain groups of countries, showing similarities, since these are able to highlight the long-term inflation effects of the adoption of euro from different aspects. No acceleration in the services price inflation was observed after the introduction of the single currency in the countries that adopted euro in 2002. After the wear-off of the temporary, short-term effects, inflation declined in several periphery countries, e.g. in Ireland and Greece. This is attributable, in addition to the already mentioned slowdown of convergence, to the fact that these countries also adopted, together with the single currency, a monetary policy that was more credible than the previous one, which contributed in these countries to disinflation through the declining inflation expectations. At the same time, the level of inflation exceeded the price developments of the core countries even under the declining expectations. This resulted, in addition to the converging interest rates, in an excessively low real interest environment and led to the development of imbalances serving as a source of the real economy divergence observed during the crisis (see Section 3.2). Namely, although the single currency caused no inflation differential in these countries, it did not prevent that the introduction of the euro in the South European countries had negative consequences on the whole. This is due to the fact that these countries failed to address those structural problems – wage dynamics exceeding, overspending budget – before accession, which served as the source of the excessively large inflation differences compared to the core countries.

Adequate economic development helps manage inflation effects

On the whole, it can be established that the introduction of euro may result in rising inflation in the country that introduces the single currency both in the short and the long term. In the short run the faster rise in prices may be caused by the repricing implemented during the conversion, while in the longer run by the inflation differential resulting from the economic convergence and unmanageable in the absence of independent monetary policy, as well as by the potential overheating of the economy. Although at the level of the entire euro area, following the introduction of the single currency and the wear-off of the impacts of the immediate repricing, inflation on the whole moderately decreased, this is primarily attributable to the decelerating convergence, while the degree of the inflation differential related to convergence rose. In those countries where convergence continued, the inflation accompanying the convergence rose compared to the period before accession. The experiences of the individual euro countries also prove that the two factors appearing in the longer run may be present in inflation also independently of each other - e.g. see Slovenia and Slovakia - after the adoption of the euro, but the two factors may also reinforce each other's

effect (Baltic states). The case of the South European states demonstrates that the development of imbalances is not necessarily conditional upon the increase in inflation as result of adopting the euro. It is sufficient for this if the new members join the euro area with overly high inflation differential, which does not decrease even after accession due to the structural differences. At the same time, both the short- and long-term inflation effects can be managed, if the country adopting the euro is well-prepared. The price rises implemented during the conversion can be prevented by the dual display of prices and by the households becoming more aware with the assistance of the media.

The inflation stemming from the difference in the level of development may be reduced, if **the economic lag of the country newly adopting the euro is moderate compared to the countries already being the members of the euro area**. In this case a lower surplus growth is also sufficient for the continuation of convergence, which reduces the excess inflation arising from the convergence. Whereas, the remedy for the inflation arising from the overheating of the economy is the prevention of the overheating, which may be ensured by **anchored inflation expectations and proper macroprudential policy**.

In whose favour do the scales tip?

It is clear from the considerations described above that the favourable perception that preceded the global financial crisis and the debt crisis of the euro area has faded away, while several new criteria were added to the analytical framework. On the one hand, it became clear that the adoption of the euro alone provides no guarantee for the convergence of the countries and for the harmonisation of the economic cycles. Moreover, due to the experiences of the past decade, the importance of the financial cycle also appreciated. Namely, in the absence of these the risk of the development of real economy imbalances and the blowing of financial bubbles has also material impact on the economies' long-term performance. On the other hand, membership in the euro area alone is not a solution for the country-specific vulnerabilities, and thus the pre-accession preparation, as well as the real economy and financial convergence gain increasing importance.

Table 3-1: Assessment of the aspects of introducing the euro and future prospects

	Before the global crisis	After the global crisis	Future outlook
Conversion costs and administrative expenditures	approximately 0.4 per cent of GDP	approximately 0.15 per cent of GDP	going forward, Fintech revolution may reduce it further
Currency pegging	significant positive impact due to high FX exposure	shift towards self-financing re- duces its economic importance	continued decrease in external exposu- res reduces positive effects further
Increasingly in- tegrated foreign trade	regarded as a result of introducing the euro	the result of prepa- rations for accessi- on to the European Union (e.g. removal of tariffs)	uncertainty (protectionism, technological changes)
Yield convergence	Member States' relative spreads decreased significantly	significant diver- gence of individual countries' yields due to the Europe- an debt crisis	emphasis shifting to country-specific factors
Long-term effects of inflation	mitigated by flexible price and wage adjustment	persistently low real interest rates lead to imbalances	achieving an appropriate level of development redu- ces the risk of imba- lances emerging

Source: MNB compilation.

3.1.6 Consequences of surrendering the independent monetary policy

The most often mentioned cost of adopting the euro is the surrender of independent monetary policy and the raising of the monetary policy decisions to Community level. The pre-crisis mainstream opinion was that the long-term effect of monetary policy is neutral. At the same time, the lessons learnt from the crisis showed that the economy's ability to grow in the long run is sensitive to the short-term change in demand conditions. Without using the euro, Hungary's economy is influenced by the monetary policy of both the Magyar Nemzeti Bank and the European Central Bank. When pondering over the timing of adopting the euro, it is important to understand what the Hungarian economic policy will lose by surrendering the independent monetary policy, or in other words, to what extent the single monetary policy is able to fill the vacuum thus developing.

On the one hand, the fact that the single monetary policy strengthens the cycle everywhere when there are asymmetric business cycles, is a consideration often arising in connection with the monetary policy of the monetary union. Since the single interest policy deals with the average of the area, it is not tight enough where tightening is required and not accommodative enough where easing would be justified. The business cycles of Hungary and the core of the euro area are pretty much harmonised (MNB, 2011, p. 41.; IMF, 2015). Accordingly, the aforementioned procyclical monetary policy would presumably represent a problem for Hungary to a lesser degree. However, for a country being at an insufficient economic development level this may generate severe real economy imbalances and financial bubbles. On the other hand, the absence of independent monetary policy and exchange rate channel complicates the management of asymmetric shocks, the detrimental effects of which were also highlighted by the financial crisis. This may as well result in a deeper, protracted recovery from the crisis.

In contrast, during the crisis and in the years after, the countries operating under a more flexible monetary regime showed more favourable growth. Those operating in a flexible monetary policy regime achieved faster and steadier growth both in the large economies and the northern countries. The example of the small, open economies shows that the more flexible monetary policy framework – with properly targeted measure – resulted in major additional economic growth in Hungary. Based on the comparisons we may assume that the independent monetary policy – particularly in a recession environment – is still able to achieve higher growth stimulus than the monetary policy decisions taken at community level.

The monetary conditions may ease as a result of the accession, but not significantly. At present the euro area base rate is 0 per cent, i.e. lower by 0.9 percentage point than the Hungarian base rate. But then again, after the accession, the optimal Hungarian base rate would be also somewhat lower than its present level. Namely, on the one hand the exchange rate risk premium would be terminated, and on the other hand the exchange rate channel would lose significance. The experiences of the Mediterranean countries highlighted the fact that an overly accommodative single monetary policy may result in rising inflation, low real interest and debt overhang. However, it should be noted that owing to the MNB's unconventional measures, short-term yields fell close to zero in Hungary as well, and thus it would not represent a material difference. In addition, the processes may be somewhat softened by the fact that there may still be differences in market yields between the individual countries. For example, the Hungarian government securities' yield may remain higher than the German one, due to the higher credit risk and liquidity risk spread.

As a result of the measures taken to recover from the financial crisis, the central banks' set of monetary policy instruments was restructured and materially reformed. Central banks tried to mitigate the unfavourable effects of the crisis by major interest rate cuts and to prevent money market freezes by their liquidity providing instruments. The pre-crisis decline in inflation resulted in the parallel fall in nominal interest rates, and thus after the crisis the central banks bumped into the lower limit of nominal interest rates. Central banks tried to achieve the necessary, additional easing of the monetary stance by new, unconventional instruments (Karácsony et al., 2019.). Due to this, in addition to the main policy instrument, it is equally important – if not more important – to take into consideration the differences between Hungary and the euro area in the area of unconventional mo-

netary policy measures. Due to the appreciation of the importance of the unconventional instruments, in the following we examine this in detail.

Efficiency of the unconventional monetary policy in small economies

To this end, we examine the efficiency of the ECB's and the MNB's unconventional programmes, and also assess how likely it is that the ECB's programmes would have the desired impacts on the operation of the Hungarian economy and the financial markets. During the analysis we take the current situation as the starting point, i.e. we do not examine to what degree Hungary would have faced other types of challenges under a euro area membership lasting for a while.

The ECB's unconventional measures proved to be efficient in easing the borrowing conditions, but they were realised in a less targeted manner. Lending rates for enterprises materially declined, outstanding borrowing rose in the less vulnerable euro area member states, while in the vulnerable states the contraction of outstanding borrowing decelerated. At the same time, some of the results suggest that the programmes were less effective in the smaller member states and stimulated retail lending instead of corporate lending. According to most of the studies, the ECB's unconventional monetary policy reduced the fragmentation of the market within the euro area, but its impact on the emerging markets is not straightforward. The unconventional monetary policy of the Magyar Nemzeti Bank proved to be efficient. Both the Self-Financing Programme and the Funding for Growth Scheme eased monetary conditions in a targeted manner. In addition, the MNB's credit schemes stimulated lending to SMEs, thereby also increasing investment directly. The ECB's existing unconventional instruments were elaborated not for the development level of the Hungarian financial system, as those are dominated by schemes that influence the size of the central bank balance sheet.
Unconventional policy and maturity of the capital market

Without using the euro, Hungary's economy is shaped by two types of unconventional monetary policy: namely, the unconventional policy of the MNB and of the European Central Bank. However, after joining the euro area, only the ECB's unconventional policy would be relevant. The ECB's unconventional monetary policy has varying effect on the individual groups of countries within the euro area. In the euro area countries resembling Hungary the most (Slovakia, Slovenia, Estonia) substantial positive impact on real GDP can be observed (in 1 year about 0.2-0.5 per cent on a balance sheet total shock of one standard deviation). However, the inflationary effect is more balanced among the individual countries (in 1 year about 0.1-0.25 per cent price level effect; Boeckx et al., 2017a). At the same time, presumably not all of the ECB's unconventional policies would be efficient in Hungary.

The existing unconventional ECB instruments were elaborated not for the Hungarian financial system's level of development. Considering the ECB's present unconventional instruments, primarily the comprehensive asset purchase programme would count as a novelty in Hungary. Several of the instruments would be able to exert their impact in Hungary only to a limited degree due to the insufficient maturity of the sub-markets. The market of covered bonds and asset-backed securities in Hungary is still under development, and thus the purchase of such assets cannot achieve the further easing of the monetary conditions. Taken together, it can be stated that large companies are less liquidity-constrained, and banks' lending capacity is adequate, while the capital market needs to be developed. The MNB initiated or plans in the near future to deepen and enhance the Hungarian financial system in several areas, which fosters the development of the financial sub-markets that for the time being are less developed in Hungary.

On the whole, it can be stated that the ECB's present set of monetary policy instruments is dominated by instruments that

influence the size of the central bank balance sheet. The asset purchase programmes provide the counterparty banks with liquid assets and in the longer run they also beat down the yields on longer-maturity bonds. The comparison of the euro area and Hungarian achievements may attempt to answer to what degree it would have been different if during the financial crisis Hungary had to rely solely on the ECB's instruments and what kind of instrument would have been missing from the set of monetary policy instruments that proved to be efficient under the Hungarian economic conditions. In view of the aforementioned criteria, we highlight two of the potential areas. The first one is the central bank instruments supporting corporate lending, where there is a major difference between the MNB's and the ECB's approach. The second one is the reduction of long-term yields with the use of unconventional instruments, where the central bank of the euro area and of Hungary also opted for different solution. Such difference is that while the ECB wished to achieve the desirable results by increasing the size of the central bank balance sheet, the MNB intended to do so by the restructuring of the balance sheet.

Credit stimulus: general lending policy or lending policy focusing on the small and medium-sized enterprises Lending is key to the financing of corporations both in the euro area and in Hungary. Sound lending activity also impacts – through

area and in Hungary. Sound lending activity also impacts – through the operation of corporations – the economy's investment, production and employment processes, as well as the efficient functioning of the monetary policy. Accordingly, if the central bank is unable to influence lending conditions efficiently, it complicates the softening of macroeconomic fluctuations to the desirable degree.

The efficiency of the monetary policy upon addressing a credit shock depends on the synchronisation level and type of the shock (supply or demand). Table 3-2 provides an overview of the different types of credit shocks and the options to address them. In the relation of the euro area and Hungary, synchronised shocks may be relevant. This is justified by the harmonised business cycles, the Hungarian banking sector, a substantial part of which is owned by Western European banks, and the similarity of the lending processes after 2008. It is worth managing synchronised shocks by a single policy; however, it is difficult to separate credit supply and credit demand: both in the euro area and in Hungary, long-term credit supply and credit demand decreased together during the crisis, and then both of them started to rise. It can be established that it is easier to manage credit supply shocks than credit demand shocks. Furthermore, during downside shocks the room for fiscal manoeuvre is restrained by the Maastricht deficit criterion of 3 per cent as a percentage of GDP.

Table 3-2: Different types of credit shocks and the management of those

Synchronised		ldiosyncratic	
Credit supply	Credit demand	Credit supply	Credit demand
Monetary policy			
 Manageable with common policy (conventional or (targeted) non-conventional) 	 Partly manageab- le with common policy (signalling, conventional and/ or non-convent- ional) 	 Manageable with independent policy (conventional or (targeted) non-conventional), not with common policy 	• Partly manageab- le with independent policy (signalling, conventional and/ or non-conventio- nal), not with com- mon policy
Fiscal policy			
 Coordinated policy necessary, 3 per cent deficit 	• Manageable with coordinated policy (e.g. income stabi- lisation),	Manageable with independent policy;	• Manageable with independent policy (e.g. income stabi- lisation),
limit	· 3 per cent deficit limit	limit	· 3 per cent deficit limit
Regulation			
 Manageable with common rules 	• No impact	 Manageable with independent rules 	• No impact
'Private insurance'			
• Not applicable	• Not applicable	 Functions if financial markets are integrated 	 Financial integ- ration could even have a negative impact (if credit demand is high)

Note: synchronised shocks impact the currency area member states identically, while the idiosyncratic ones affect only one country. "Private insurance" means the private sector's diversification of risk, which may help manage idiosyncratic shocks in integrated financial markets. Source: MNB.

The European Central Bank's unconventional measures proved to be efficient in easing the borrowing conditions, but they were realised in a less targeted manner. The ECB commenced the second phase of its targeted longer-term refinancing operation (TLTRO-II) in mid-2016, where it provides the counterparty commercial banks with funding for a tenor of 4 years, at the most, with favourable conditions. Altogether four operations were implemented. Here the incentive was that the drawdown of the preferential funding was conditional upon increasing the outstanding lending to the private sector. No other expectation was prescribed.

In autumn 2017 and later on in several steps, the ECB's credit stimulus objective was once again supported by extended central bank asset purchases (covered bond, asset-backed securities, government securities, corporate bond). According to the lending surveys of the European Central Bank, both the targeted liquidity provision and the central bank's asset purchases improved banks' liquidity position and the market funding conditions, while the first also had favourable impact on banks' profitability (ECB, 2017b, 2017c). All this appeared in the easing of lending conditions in corporate (and partially in retail) loans. 60 per cent of the respondent banks reported that the funds obtained through TLTRO had contributed to their lending activity, while this was less typical at asset purchases.

According to the ECB's analysis, TLTRO (together with the ECB's other measures) efficiently helped lower key interest rates pass through to the lending conditions. Due to the shortness of the time since the introduction of the scheme, the number of empirical analyses is limited. At the same time, it can be established that

lending rates for enterprises substantially decreased, and to a larger degree in the countries that previously had higher interest rate level, and thus the differences between the countries also decreased (ECB, 2017a). The composite interest rate on corporate loans between mid-2016 (the launch of TLTRO-II) and September 2017 declined in the vulnerable members (Ireland, Spain, Italy, Cyprus, Slovenia, Greece and Portugal) by 20-80 basis points, and in the euro area as a whole by 20 basis points. The ECB's measures may have made major contribution to the decline. The programme supported the growth in outstanding borrowing in the less vulnerable euro area member states, while in the vulnerable states the contraction of outstanding borrowing decelerated. Other analyses also confirm that the ECB's aforementioned unconventional measures successfully stimulated lending in the euro area by reducing interest rate on loans and increasing the volume of credits (Altavilla et al., 2016; Boeckx et al., 2017b).

The ECB has no targeted programme for stimulating lending to SMEs (and investments) despite the fact that small and medium-sized enterprises play a major role also in the euro area economy. More than half of the euro area added value is produced by SMEs, and in certain sectors (e.g. construction and service sector) this exceeds even 80 per cent(IMF, 2016). However, TLTRO-II is not an SME-focused central bank programme. Based on the analyses performed on French data, the previous liquidity providing programme (LTRO) also had positive impact on credit supply, but this mostly appeared at the large corporations (Andrade et al., 2015). The impact of the asset purchases (PSPP) was directed not on the SME sector either: although based on the responses of Slovak banks participating in the lending survey, the funds were used for increasing retail and corporate credit supply, according to the analysis, the asset purchases may have impacted retail lending to a larger degree (Lojschova, 2017). It is also questionable to what degree the banks of the smaller member states participated in the ECB's programmes. For example, Latvian banks typically did not participate in the TLTRO tenders, citing their liquidity position and collateral-related constraints. In addition, they also believed that the asset purchases had no major effect on their lending activity either.⁶⁶

The credit schemes of the Magyar Nemzeti Bank stimulate lending to SMEs in a targeted manner. In the Funding for Growth Scheme (FGS), the central bank provided credit institutions with refinancing forint loans at an interest rate of 0 per cent, which they could use for lending under an interest margin of maximum 2.5 per cent. Commercial banks were permitted to use the FGS funds only for corporate lending, and thus the funds flowed to and lending improved in the segment that was determinant also in terms of employment and was exposed to the largest risks during the crisis. As a result of the targeted credit programme, more than 37,000 enterprises had access to funding until the end of 2016 in a total amount of roughly HUF 2,600 billion. The outstanding borrowing of SMEs as a percentage of GDP in Hungary roughly corresponds to the EU average, but falls short of the Slovak or Slovenian indicator.

At the same time, FGS was able to respond to the challenges of the lending activity more flexibly. At the ECB's programmes the drawdown was connected to 4 operations with quarterly frequency. By contrast, FGS was characterised by longer commitment period and continuous drawdowns. In the later stage of the scheme foreign currency funding at favourable terms also became available to SMEs with natural hedge. Compared to the ECB's instrument, it represented a higher volume also as a percentage of GDP, as the facility amount amounted to 8.7 per cent of GDP (Bodnár et al., 2017). In addition to its credit stimulus effect, FGS also had major impact on economic growth, and under the substantial weight of investment loans, it increased investments directly as well (Endrész et al, 2015). Since the FGS fulfilled its mission, the MNB strives to reinstate lending on market basis in Hungary through the Market-based Lending Scheme.

⁶⁶ https://www.bank.lv/en/publications-r/euro-area-bank-lending-survey

Purchase of government securities: declining yields and decreasing vulnerability

According to most of the studies, the European Central Bank's unconventional monetary policy reduced market fragmentation within the euro area, i.e. narrowed the gap between the yield on the periphery and core countries' government securities. The previous measures (SMP, LTRO) also materially reduced the yields on long-term government securities, as a result of reducing aversion to risk, and decreasing bank and sovereign credit risk (Fratzscher et al., 2014; Szczerbowicz, 2015). The purchase of government securities (PSPP) took place in a relatively calm period and within limits, and thus its expected effect was smaller. Bond yields decreased to a larger degree in those euro area countries, where the yield level was higher. The cumulative yield decrease in the periphery and core countries amounted to 45-85 and roughly 5-25 basis points, respectively (Urbschat and Watzka, 2017).

The effect of the ECB's unconventional monetary policy on the Central and Eastern European (and generally on the emerging) economies is not straightforward (similarly to the unconventional measures of the Federal Reserve). Several results show that the ECB's unconventional programmes had global passthrough effects, which made their positive effect felt also in the EU states outside the euro area. However, the strength of this is questionable. According to Falagiarda et al. (2015), the strong economic and financial integration of the euro area and the CEE region supports the pass-through effects of the ECB programmes, which appeared particularly at the sovereign bond yields. When examining the individual measures separately, the passthrough effect of particularly the Securities Markets Programme (SMP) proved to be strong in several countries of the region. However other results imply that yields decreased only moderately and that it was rather the bank's equities that increased (Fratzscher et al., 2014). If Hungary was the member of the euro area, Hungarian government securities could be purchased under the

ECB's asset purchase programme in proportion to the capital key (1.3798 per cent). The impacts in Hungary may be reduced by the fact that although in the programme the ECB purchases not only government securities (e.g. agency, regional or multilateral development bank bonds), in Hungary essentially only central government bonds are available. These are mostly owned by banks, and thus the asset purchase may theoretically hinder bank' liquidity management, although liquidity management through securities is negligible.

With its unconventional measures, the Magyar Nemzeti Bank reduced Hungary's external exposure and vulnerability, and it also materially contributed to reducing long-term yields. The Self-financing Programme, launched in spring 2014, encouraged credit institutions to purchase securities issued in Hungary. As a result of the programme, gross external debt and the foreign currency ratio of the government debt both decreased substantially. On the other hand, Csávás and Kollarik (2016) demonstrated that the decline in the long-term government securities' yields was partly also attributable to the Self-financing Programme. Through the central bank interest rate swap instrument and the decreasing risks, the programme contributed to the decrease in government securities yields, directly and indirectly, respectively. Based on these, the Self-Financing Programme certainly reduced the observed yield by 30-60 basis points, but the total effect may have been as high as 75-90 basis points. Within the euro area, the concept of self-financing would lose significance, since the government's euro debt would cease to exist, the MNB would have no loss (or it would have only a small loss), and external debt would also appear in a different context (within the euro area the constraint for the build-up of the central bank's TARGET2 balances may be represented by the banks' securities eligible as collateral for central bank operations, and the euro is the reserve currency and in connection with this the foreign exchange reserves of the euro system is minimal).

Outlook

The unconventional central bank schemes in the euro area would probably not be able to exert their full effect until such time as the convergence of the Hungarian economy is completed and as long as the maturity of our capital market lags behind that of the Western European one. In the convergence period, the single monetary policy targeting the average of the monetary union is not necessarily appropriate for Hungary. The reduction of the monetary conditions through the purchase of government securities within the area is a more realistic option. However, the development of the Hungarian capital market may be contributed to the most efficiently by the independent monetary policy, for example, by announcing such securities purchase schemes, the conditions of which foster market building. In the area of stimulating lending activity, mainly the absence of a targeted euro area SME credit scheme should be emphasised. On the other hand, it is questionable that at the time of future accession what kind of unconventional instruments the ECB will have.

References

Adriani F. – Marini, G. – Scaramozzion, P. (2003): *The Inflationary Consequences of a Currency Changeover: Evidence form the Michelin Red Guide*. CEIS Tor Vergata Research Paper Series, No. 27

Andrade, Philippe – Cahn, Christophe – Fraisse, Henri – Mésonnier, Jean-Stéphane (2015): Can the Provision of Long-Term Liquidity Help to Avoid a Credit Crunch? Evidence from the Eurosystem's LTROs. Bank de France Working Paper, No. 540.

Altavilla, Carlo – Canova, Fabio – Ciccarelli, Matteo (2016): Mending the broken link: heterogeneous bank lending and monetary policy pass-through. Working Paper Series No 1978, European Central Bank.

Béla Balassa (1964): *The Purchasing Power Parity Doctrine: A Reappraisal*. Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 72, 584–596.

Péter Bauer (2015): Factors of price convergence and its estimated level in Hungary. MNB, OP 119.

Bhatt, V. – N. Kundan Kishur – Jun Ma (2017): The impact of EMU on bond yield convergence: Evidence form a time-varying dynamic factor model, *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, Volume 82, pp. 206-222.

Bodnár István – Hegedűs Sándor – Plajner Ádám – Pulai György (2017): Targeted lending incentive instruments: from FGS to GSP. In: The Hungarian way – Targeted central bank policy. Magyar Nemzeti Bank, pp. 395–419.

Boeckx, Jef – Dossche, Maarten – Peersman, Gert (2017a): Effectiveness and Transmission of the ECB's Balance Sheet Policies. International Journal of Central Banking, Vol. 13 No. 1, pp. 297–333.

Boeckx, Jef – De Sola Perea, Maite – Peersman, Gert (2017b): The Transmission Mechanism of Credit Support Policies in the Euro Area. CESifo Working Papers No. 6442.

Brůha, J., Podpiera, J. (2007): Transition Economy Convergence in a Two-Country Model: Implications for Monetary Integration, ECB Working Paper No. 0740.

Corsetti, G. (2008): A modern reconsideration of the theory of optimal currency areas. CEPR Discussion Paper, No. 6712.

Csajbók, A. Csermely, Á. (2001): Az euró bevezetésének várható hasznai, költségei és időzítése, MNB Műhelytanulmányok 24.

Csaba Csávás – Kollarik András (2016): Az Önfinanszírozási program hatása a monetáris kondíciókra. In: Hoffmann Mihály – Kolozsi Pál Péter (szerk.): Az Önfinanszírozási program első két éve. MNB.

De Grauwe, P. (2012): Economics of monetary union (9 ed.), Oxford: Oxford Press.

De Greuwe, Paul (2013): *Economics of Monetary Union*, Ninth Edition, Oxford University Press, New York.

Ehrmann, M. (2006): Rational Inattention, Inflation Developments and Perceptions After the Euro Cash Changeover. ECB Working Paper Series, No. 588

Eife, T. A. (2006): Price Setting Behaviour and Price Setting Regulations at the Euro Changeover. Bank of Estonia Working Paper Series, 2006/6.

Endrész Mariann – Harasztosi Péter – Lieli Róbert P. (2015): The Impact of the Magyar Nemzeti Bank's Funding for Growth Scheme on Firm Level Investment. MNB Working Papers 2/2015.

Eurostat (2002): Euro-indicators. Eurostat news release, 69/2003, June

Eurostat (2007): Euro changeover and inflation in Slovenia.

Eurostat (2008): Euro changeover and inflation in Cyprus and Malta.

Eurostat (2009): Euro changeover and inflation in Slovakia.

Eurostat (2011): Euro changeover and inflation in Estonia.

Eurostat (2014): Euro changeover and inflation in Latvia.

Eurostat (2015): Euro changeover and inflation in Lithuania.

Európai Központi Bank (2002): Monthly Bulletin. 2002 March.

ECB (2017a): The targeted longer-term refinancing operations: an overview of the take-up and their impact on bank intermediation. ECB Economic Bulletin, Issue 3/2017, pp. 42–46.

ECB (2017b): The euro area bank lending survey – Second quarter of 2017. European Central Bank.

ECB (2017c): The euro area bank lending survey – Third quarter of 2017. European Central Bank.

European Commission (2006): The European Economy: 2006 Review – Adjustment Dynamics in the Euro Area. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/publication425_en.pdf.</u>

Folkertsma, C. K. (2001): The Euro and Psychological Prices: Simulations of the Worst-Case Scenario. Dutch Research Memorandum, No. 659

Frankel, J. A. – Rose, A. K. (1997): IS EMU More Justifiable Ex Post Than Ex Ante?, *European Economic Review*, 41, pp. 753–760.

Frankel, J. A. – Rose, A. K. (1998): The Endogeneity of the Optimum Currency Area Criteria. *Economic Journal*, 108(449), pp. 1009–1025.

Fratzscher, Marcel – Lo Duca, Marco – Straub, Roland (2014): ECB Unconventional Monetary Policy Actions: Market Impact, international Spillovers and Transmission Channels. Paper presented at the 15th Jacques Polak Annual Research Conference.

Gómez E. – Tamarit C. (2011): The Euro effect on trade: evidence in gravity equations using panel cointegration techniques, Universidad de Valencia, 2011.

International Monetary Fund (2012): World Economic Outlook, 2012. október, <u>htt-ps://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/02/pdf/text.pdf</u>

International Monetary Fund (2015): Central and Eastern Europe: New Member States (NMS) Policy Forum 2014. IMF Country Report, No. 15/98., <u>http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2015/cr1598.pdf</u>

IMF (2015): Euro adoption – Macroeconomic benefits and challenges. IMF Country Report No. 15/98, Selected Issues.

IMF (2016): Investment, firm size, and the corporate debt burden: a firm-level analysis of the euro area. IMF Country Report No. 16/220, Selected Issues.

Karácsony Tímea – Kuti Zsolt – Török Gergő (2019): Egy cél – egy eszköz helyett több cél – több eszköz. Külgazdaság LXIII. évfolyam 2019/7-8

Krugman-Venables (1995): Globalization and the Inequality of Nations, *The Quar*terly Journal of Economics, Vol. 110, No. 4, pp. 857-880

Lacina, L. et al. (2007): Studie vlivu zavedení eura na ekonomiku ČR, Ministerstvo financí České republiky.

Lojschova, Adriana (2017): Did quantitative easing boost bank lending? The Slovak experience. Working Paper 1/2017, National Bank of Slovakia.

Matolcsy (2015): Economic Balance and Growth.

MNB (2011): Elemzés a konvergenciafolyamatokról. Magyar Nemzeti Bank.

Mundell, R. A. (1961): A Theory of Optimum Currency Areas. *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 51, Issue 4, pp. 657-665.

Nähle, T. (2015): *Exchange Rates and Trade*, Jönköping International Business School, 05/2015.

Pantelidou, E. (2014): *Has the Euro led to an increase in trade among its member states?*, Ec326 Economics of the European Union 1104752, 2/4/2014.

Samarina, Anna – L. Zhang – D. Bezemer (2017): Credit cycle coherence in the eurozone: Was there a euro effect?, *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 77, pp. 77-98

Samuelson, P. A. (1964): *Theoretical Notes on Trade Problems*. Review of Economics and Statistics, No. 46, 147–154.

Szczerbowicz, Urszula (2015): The ECB Unconventional Monetary Policies: Have They Lowered Market Borrowing Costs for Banks and Governments? International Journal of Central Banking, Vol. 11 No. 4, pp. 91–127.

Urbschat, Florian – Watzka, Sebastian (2017): Quantitative Easing in the Euro Area – An Event Study Approach. CESifo Working Papers No. 6709.

Wiegand, J. (2017): The Re-Emerging Privilege of Euro Area Membership, IMF Working Paper, WP/17/162.

The experiences of the new accession countries: the pros and cons

Katalin Kis – Kálmán Árpád Marincsák

New accession countries have had a mixed experience regarding the success of the introduction of the euro. In the Mediterranean countries, the economic consequences of euro area accession may be regarded as negative because their convergence to the core countries was interrupted and divergence took place instead of the expected convergence. Beyond certain economic policy measures, the reasons for this lay in the persistently high negative real interest rates, which resulted in imbalances and rising indebtedness. In the Baltic states, the introduction of the euro may be regarded as **mostly positive**. Accession to the euro area initially entailed major real economic costs but, on the longer term, convergence was achieved with the euro area. The introduction of the euro may be regarded as positive in Slovakia, where economic policy measures enabled the country to prepare for minimising the risks associated with the euro and these conditions were maintained after the introduction as well. By contrast, Slovenia's experience is mostly negative: once it stopped monitoring and managing the potential risks of the euro following its introduction, it developed imbalances similar to those in the Southern European countries. Experience shows that monitoring these processes should remain a high priority after introduction as well.

3.2.1 The case of Mediterranean Countries

In the following chapter, we show through the example of the Mediterranean countries the reasons why the introduction of the euro can cause growth problems rather than convergence

on the medium term (Chart 3-3). After accession, nominal interest rates decreased quickly to the same level throughout the euro area and therefore ceased to reflect the actual risks on individual countries. Besides the levelling of interest rates, a general decreasing trend was also observed in all the countries. In addition to the generally available ample liquidity, this was due to the fact that the creation of the currency union ended exchange rate risk, which led to the illusion that country-specific risks had ceased to exist. Yet inflation rate varied across the euro area and real interest rates, determining consumption and investment decision, were therefore lower in the Mediterranean countries having higher rates of inflation. This contributed to irresponsible overspending and excessive external debt in the countries of Southern European and, overall, a forced and unsustainable convergence as money market adjustment failed to deliver genuine, real economic convergence. The problems were further aggravated by the fact that the significant decreases in interest rates almost eliminated any liquidity constraints in these Mediterranean countries and therefore led to higher indebtedness.



Chart 3-3: Real GDP per capita in Southern European countries

Note: Eurozone = 100. Source: Eurostat.

Furthermore, by relinquishing their own currencies, these countries no longer had the opportunity to adjust their nominal exchange rates, which contributed to real appreciation and declining competitiveness in their economies. It is important to note that, besides the single currency, certain unique economic policy steps also led to the divergence of these countries. Excessively loose fiscal policies and lending conditions, a fragile economic structure, structural issues and the financial crisis all contributed to the fact that the introduction of the euro in the Mediterranean countries has so far failed to deliver on the hopes pinned on convergence. Beyond the structural problems shared by these Mediterranean countries, it is worth noting in greater detail what other individual characteristics and issues led to a lack of success in the convergence of the Southern countries. This chapter presents the cases of Spain, Italy and Portugal, and finally Greece.

3.2.2 Spain

The Spanish economy showed a positive picture from the second half of the 1990's. Real GDP grew by around 4 per cent towards the end of the decade, faster than the average real GDP growth in the euro area. This favourable growth took place against a backdrop of a rise in the employment rate and a high but dynamically falling unemployment rate. The rate of inflation also exhibited a decreasing trend, even as it continued to exceed the euro area average (IMF, 2000).

In the years before accession, Spain's high unemployment rate had been aggravated by a bureaucratic framework encouraging lower levels of activity. Before the 2000's, unemployment rate in Spain repeatedly exceeded 20 per cent. There were several contributing factors. Firstly, the labour market was dominated by fixed-term employment arrangements instead of permanent contracts, due to the high costs of dismissal. As a result, it was costly for workers to find a new job when their contracts ended; this represented considerable economic and social costs (IMF, 1999). Secondly, regulatory economic incentives also encouraged lower levels of activity among workers. One of the main reasons was the fact that the marginal tax burden was much lower for a household with one active earner than for a household with one active earner and one unemployed person (IMF, 2000). This significant difference probably encouraged exits from the labour market.

The housing market cycle starting in 1996 resulted in a significant increase in home building in Spain, initially benefiting both the private and the public sectors. The number of new homes rose from 300,000 a year in 1996 to over 500,000 in 2000 and as many as 860,000 in 2006 (Akin et al., 2014). This market boom was underpinned by an interest rate that was low for the Spanish economy and also supported by the government, since the construction boom created more than 8 million jobs, twenty per cent of which were in the construction industry and nearly half were in industries with low productivity and low qualification requirements (Romero et al., 2012). The unemployment rate fell below 5 per cent and there was a significant growth in investments. As this had a positive impact on economic growth, the housing market cycle enjoyed the support of successive governments, since the high tax revenues generated by higher economic growth also improved the fiscal situation. This process also benefited the population, as it contributed to falling unemployment and rising wages, and therefore most participants had an interest in sustaining the upward phase of the cycle. A tourism boom in the years after accession also underpinned the growth of the Spanish economy (López – Rodríguez, 2011).

The property market bubble grew as foreign buyers joined the domestic buyers, and banks obtained funding from abroad as well in order to finance property purchasing and construction transactions. The private sector rather than the public sector was thus the root cause for the problems that Spain experienced later. Besides the domestic players, the demand side of the housing market was also driven by foreign homebuyers appearing in ever increasing numbers. This resulted in a substantive growth in demand on the housing market, which increased the value of investments. Spanish banks were unable to finance from domestic sources all the loans they granted and were forced to rely on foreign sources of funding (Chart 3-4). The rise in Spain's external debt is therefore attributable to processes in the private sector, while the Spanish government tried to counterbalance the loose borrowing terms with a tighter fiscal policy (IMF, 2000). As regards its budget balance, Spain managed to reduce its spending after accession but its revenues remained more or less unchanged as a percentage of GDP; the general government primary balance was therefore a consistent surplus between the time of accession and the crisis (IMF, 2009b).



Chart 3-4: Evolution of Spain's net external debt as a percentage of GDP

Source: Eurostat.

Household indebtedness was further boosted by the fact that lending thresholds were even looser in Spain than in other countries of the euro area. Beyond the factors listed above, indebtedness in the private sector was boosted further by the fact that Spanish households tended to borrow at variable rates of interest. A relatively lower interest rate was coupled with the accumulation of substantial interest rate risk in household balances. The fast expansion in lending volumes was underpinned by loose lending conditions and regulations (Akin et al, 2014 and Gros, 2011).

A banking system reliant on external sources and a collapse in demand following the crisis caused the property market bubble to burst and resulted in private sector problems that also sent tremors through the public sector. In the years before the financial crisis, the Spanish economy grew through reliance mostly on uncompetitive sectors (construction industry, tourism) and was highly dependent on external inflows. Debt in the private sector rose substantively and therefore when the external inflows stopped during the financial crisis and external demand contracted significantly in both the construction industry and tourism, it was initially the private sector that felt the serious consequences. As unemployment rose, an increasing proportion of loans became non-performing. In consequence, Spanish banks saw their losses on assets increase. In the absence of alternative sources of recapitalisation, the central budget had to come to the aid of the banking operators at the expense of government debt. The example of Spain clearly demonstrates that, in contrast to the Maastricht criteria, a monitoring of public finance trends only is inadequate, because private sector indebtedness can easily impinge upon the public sector.

3.2.3 Italy

Unlike the other Mediterranean countries, **Italy had been on a moderate course of growth already before the crisis of 2007-2008.** Already in the 1970's and 1980's, the country was characterised by high inflation and a significant government deficit, with high government spending substantively increasing the government debt to GDP ratio. The currency crisis of 1992 had a deep impact on the Italian economy, making compliance with the Maastricht criteria adopted in the same year even more of a challenge.

The main reasons for the structural problems of the Italian economy include its labour-intensive and low-technology industries with a dominance of small and medium-size businesses, the decades of inflation, regional dualism and problems on the labour market. The unproductive operation of its SME's is one of the reasons why the country has lost much of its competitiveness over recent decades. These small firms are often below the smallest sizes for corporate productivity, which limits their opportunities, for instance in innovation, thus jeopardising the country's ability to remain competitive in a technologicalyly oriented global economy. Its extremely high rate of inflation (up to 20 per cent a year) exerted permanent upward pressure on wages and labour costs, weakening Italy's competitiveness even further. A meaningful decrease started only in the 1980's, thanks to a strict monetary policy and the nominal anchor of the European Monetary System. The regional duality within the country also proved to be an obstacle to growth, as aiding the convergence of the Southern part of the country with the North tied up resources. Anomalies on the labour market were also significant constraints on the economy and included, for example, significant unemployment and an employee protection regime that was generous to certain groups but practically non-existent elsewhere (Cencig, 2012).

Declining competitiveness, government debt in excess of 100 per cent of GDP, which greatly limited the freedom of decision-making, and the commitments made in the Maastricht Treaty forced Italy to carry out reforms. One step was the adoption of a number of labour market measures, holding wages back to prevent a wage-price spiral, all of which were intended to create a much more flexible labour market. Although this indeed happened, the results are ambivalent as several forms of atypical employment (temporary and part-time jobs) became available (Fana et al., 2015), putting the employer in a better bargaining position even as some of the existing constraints continued to apply to full-time employment. Overall, this led to an increase in the weight of atypical employment and a deterioration in the relative bargaining position of employees, which is likely to have resulted in lower employee motivation and therefore falling productivity. As a result, a more flexible labour market was achieved with some costs: the wage share decreased and inequality grew, resulting in lower aggregate demand. Besides, a strict fiscal policy was followed in order to reduce government debt, which therefore decreased from 109 per cent to 100 per cent of GDP in the period between 2000 and 2007 (Chart 3-5). However, the fall in interest expenditures in an environment of low interest rates also played an important role besides the government's measures (Cencig, 2012).





Source: Eurostat.

Political uncertainty is likely to have contributed to the economic problems. With the repeated recurrence of political problems, the demand for a smaller state emerged within society, leading to the fast privatisation of state-owned companies and a liberalisation of markets. Even these measures tended to have mostly negative consequences: implemented in an incomplete manner, liberalisation created monopolistic markets, with private capital unable to replace the indiscriminately privatised state firms; this resulted in the overall decline of Italian industry (Tridico, 2012). Also, as China entered the international markets, it became a significant competitor to the Italian economy, and the share of Italian industry decreased further as a result. Political uncertainty has been extremely high in Italy for decades, with a total of 27 governments in power between 1980 and 2016. Political instability has had a negative impact on economic growth through a number of channels: firstly, corporates are less likely to invest in an uncertain environment and, secondly, foreign investors also prefer stable government due to the risk of a

new government changing property rights and the regulatory environment (Alesina et al., 1996). The World Bank puts Italy well below the core euro area countries in terms of a number of governance quality indicators since the 1990's to this day.

The global financial crisis placed an already structurally weak economy into an even more difficult situation. Italy is highly reliant on exports and the unproductive small and medium-size business sector dominating its economy, and this makes it especially sensitive in the time of global recessions. This was exacerbated by the fall in household consumption resulting from higher unemployment and stricter lending conditions (it is worth noting, however, that no credit or property market bubble had developed in Italy before the crisis). Of all the Mediterranean countries, Italy reported the lowest rate of domestic private lending as a proportion of GDP in 2008. But the Italian banking system had accumulated a high-risk portfolio⁶⁷, where a high proportion of non-performing loans after the crisis impaired their profitability and the stability of the financial system; its impacts are felt to this day. The ability to grow the economy through fiscal stimulus was constrained by a high government debt of 100 per cent. As a result, the measures adopted, which focused on supporting the SME sector, failed to achieve significant improvements even as they increased an already high government debt even further (IMF, 2010).

Overall, the Italian economy faced numerous structural problems even before the introduction of the euro and was on a course of more modest growth already before the crisis. Faced with historically low labour market activity rates, segmentation, regional dualism, unstable governments and weak performance in terms of the transition from education to work, Italy encountered

⁶⁷ According to the IMF's Financial Soundness indicators, risk-weighted regulatory tier 1 capital stood at 6.9 per cent in the Italian banking system in 2008, and the proportion of non-performing loans grew from 6.3 per cent to 18.1 per cent from the outbreak of the crisis to 2015.

further economic problems arising from the crisis: relatively high corporate profits versus low wages and consumption levels, stagnating productivity and innovation all contributed to social inequality (Tridico, 2012). The high government debt imposes an important constraint on government measures and thus prolongs the period of recovery. The stability of the financial system is also threatened by the low profitability and high non-performing loan portfolios within the Italian banking system.

3.2.4 Portugal

In the second half of the 1990's, i.e. in the years leading up to the introduction of the euro, Portugal achieved outstanding results in the real economy and in fiscal as well as monetary policy. Its GDP per capita rose at a faster pace than the EU average, its budget deficit fell from 7.7 per cent to 2.7 per cent between 1993 and 1999, and it met by the deadline all the criteria imposed by the Maastricht Treaty. However, these results were attributable primarily to the cyclical boom experienced throughout Europe in the second half of the 1990's. The substantive and fast decline in nominal interest rates was not matched by the rate of inflation, and thus real interest rates decreased significantly; combined with financial liberalisation and the resulting easier access to loans, this resulted in an excessive growth of domestic demand and therefore private sector debt.

During the cyclical boom, unemployment fell considerably, there was practically full employment; however, the main underlying reason was the overly regulated labour market. This high employment and labour force participation was achieved against a backdrop of extremely low labour mobility. The main reason for this was **strong employee protection**: layoffs were strictly regulated, with several notification obligations, mandatory severance pay and steps to help employees' return to the labour market. The high layoff costs had a negative impact on productivity in the economy through a number of channels. Firstly, they curtailed new job creation and, secondly, they reduced total-factor productivity (IMF, 2002). As a result of low unemployment, wages grew dynamically, more steeply even than the EU average and much faster than the productivity growth rate. At the same time, consistently decreasing competitiveness resulted in a shift of towards nontradable goods and services within economic activities. This in turn led to a rise in demand for tradable goods and therefore rising imports, and ultimately a growth in the current account deficit and external debt. Still, the economic boom concealed these issues: as a result of GDP growth and low interest rates, not even a more restrictive fiscal policy was necessary in order to comply with the Maastricht deficit criterion.

The dynamic growth of the Portuguese economy was halted when the Europe-wide cyclical boom subsided: in the member states that joined the euro area later, GDP growth fell from 2.8 per cent in the second half of the 1990's to 1.1 per cent on average in the period between 2001 and 2007. Meanwhile, loose fiscal policies and decreasing tax revenues caused gradual rises in government debt; in the absence of sufficient domestic sources of funding, this drove up the country's external debt. Portugal was also badly affected by the loss of much of its key export product markets due to its weak competitiveness and the advances made by emerging countries, while its services sector, formerly competitive due to its low labour costs, lost ground once the even cheaper Eastern European countries joined the EU in 2004. In the meantime, the government was unsuccessful in its efforts to reduce the government deficit, which rose by 5 percentage points between 1995 and 2005, and amounted to 10.1 per cent in 2009 (IMF, 2006; Park, 2015).

Overall, we conclude that Portugal did not have the real economic conditions necessary for a successful adoption of the euro. Its accession to the currency union heated its economy in addition to its cyclical boom through the excessively optimistic income expectations, which resulted in unrealistic wage growth, an overestimation of potential output and rising indebtedness. If demand growth entails excessive borrowing, fiscal policy must adopt restrictive measures to create reserves and smooth the financial cycle; yet this was not done due to the excessively optimistic outlook (Abreu, 2006). The failure was therefore partly attributable to the fact that the single currency was introduced during cyclical boom, in an overheated economy.

3.2.5 Greece

Although Greece's economic performance improved in the second half of the 1990's compared to the earlier part of that decade, the IMF (2001) highlighted certain existing structural shortcomings already at the time. Average GDP growth in Greece remained below the euro area average in the period between 1991 and 1995 but exceeded that average by 0.8 percentage points between 1996 and 2000. This growth was achieved against a consistently decreasing inflation index and a rising unemployment rate (IMF, 2001).

In Greece, the cause for divergence was serious long-term overspending by governments. According to certain studies, the government had spent beyond what was sustainable on the long term from as early as the 1980's. Well before the outbreak of the financial crisis and before accession to the euro area, studies were written about how **unsustainable Greek government debt** was. According to a study examining the changes in government debt between 1959 and 1995, government balance was unsustainable on the long term already in 1979 (Makrydakis et al., 1997). The situation was further aggravated by the fact that successive Greek governments intensified public spending from the 1980's onwards, which also involved the expansion of the public sector (Lyrintzis, 2011). Already in the 1990's, a persistently loose fiscal policy drove government debt above 80 per cent of GDP. This excessively loose fiscal policy contributed to the fast increase in government debt already after the country's accession to the EU in 1980; debt grew from its earlier levels of 25 per cent to over 80 per cent by 1990. Fiscal policy relied on growing debt to finance the rising living standards of Greek households. The situation was aggravated by the distribution of EU funds, spent mostly on financing infrastructural investments, and by the impact of agricultural subsidies in boosting incomes (Kouretas – Vlamis, 2010).

In order to meet the Maastricht criteria, the deficit was temporarily reduced, albeit with the help of certain statistical loopholes; however, this did not prove lasting. In order to meet government deficit criterion stipulated as a condition for the introduction of the euro, the Greek government had to implement considerable restrictions. At the time, the Greek government only implemented these measures temporarily and partially, with government deficit shown in earlier statistics to have fallen to below 2 per cent of GDP by 1999. This reduction was achieved partly by measures that reduced the deficit statistics yet did not represent a genuine change in fiscal policy. Although the statistics of the time showed Greece to be compliant with the Maastricht criteria when it introduced the euro, we now know that Greek government deficit amounted to nearly 6 per cent of GDP in 1999, i.e. almost twice as much as the criterion for the introduction of the euro. Furthermore, in spite of some temporary adjustments in the budget balances between 1995 and 2000, the deficit figure then started to rise again.

The budget failed to return to equilibrium even after accession to the euro area. Between 2000 and 2004, Greek government revenues shrank by around 5 percentage points (from 43 to 38 per cent); under expenditures, social costs rose by 3 per cent of GDP and public sector wage costs also rose at a fast rate (IMF,

2009a). As a result, the general government primary balance switched from a surplus of nearly 4 per cent of GDP in the early 2000's to a deficit of more than 2 per cent by 2004. In the early 2000's, the expenditure of holding the 2004 Olympics also added to public spending. **It became clear then that Greek public finances were unsustainable on the long term:** government debt rose to 107 per cent of GDP from 102 per cent in 2003. In order to reduce it, **significant cutbacks were introduced in the public sector in 2005.**

The considerable wage growth described above had eroded much of the competitiveness of the Greek economy. This dynamic wage growth led to the appreciation of the real exchange rate, resulting in a substantive deterioration of competitiveness. This was reflected in the high current account deficit and the increasing external indebtedness of the economy.

Greek economic growth was highly reliant on tourism and shipping, which depend on foreign demand, and as foreign trade and tourism shrank after the crisis, this fact further deepened Greece's problems. Like Spain, Greece was also greatly reliant for its growth on industries significantly dependent on external demand. Tourism had been one of the industries driving growth in Greece but it shrank after the crisis as consumption fell in many countries. Another such industry was transportation, especially sea shipping, which had achieved significant growth before the crisis, also resulting in a contraction of the weight of other services, such as financial and ancillary services (Bennett et. al., 2008). Greek firms with a stake in shipping were badly affected by the decline in international trade after the outbreak of the crisis.

While much of the government debt was financed from external sources, the changes in risk ratings in the wake of the financial crisis made it impossible for the Greek government to finance its expiring debts, which ultimately forced it to seek financial help from international organisations. Much of government debt was financed from external sources. As risk ratings changed following the crisis, foreign investors were less willing to finance the renewal of Greek government debt, and therefore Greece was forced in 2010 to seek help from international organisations. However, this entailed serious consequences for public sector spending, which in turn resulted in wide-ranging effects for the real economy.

3.2.6 Lessons learnt

After the introduction of the euro, nominal interest rates in the Mediterranean countries soon started to converge with the rates in the core countries. Inflation did not follow similar trends, however, and its higher rates led to permanently negative real interest rates. This contributed to irresponsible overspending in the Southern European countries, excessive external debt and, overall, an unsustainable convergence as money market adjustment failed to deliver genuine, real economic convergence. The euro area lacked the mechanisms for channelling the diverging macroeconomic processes of member states towards convergence. While the economic indicators of the core countries tended to improve over the past decades, deteriorating competitiveness led to serious imbalances and rising external debt in the countries of the Mediterranean. Since the members of the monetary union no longer had recourse to devaluing their currencies, they needed to rely on adjustment measures in order to recover external equilibrium and comply with the Maastricht criteria; this inevitably resulted in a rise in unemployment. The post-crisis **adjustment** therefore entailed great **sacrifices in** employment and growth, which also resulted in social tensions (De Grauwe, 2015). Although steps were taken to increase the (export and labour market) flexibility of the economies, the euro area still failed to satisfy the conditions of an optimal currency area, so that the imbalances have survived to this day, in spite of the economic downturn. Several economists maintain that the surplus countries should have compensated for the missing aggregate demand of the deficit countries through fiscal incentives, which would have reduced the existing external imbalances as well (Wolf, 2014, De Grauwe, 2015). Besides, the excessive lending and the bad portfolios encouraged by negative real interest rates led to rising instability in the banking system. This highlights the importance of a macroprudential toolkit in addition to the need for country-level optimal nominal interest rates.

The crisis has highlighted that external and internal economic equilibrium is an important condition for the success of accession to the monetary union. Although it was widely assumed after the introduction of the single currency that current account problems would, to an extent, resolve by themselves, this illusion was shattered after the crisis (Gros, 2015). The experience of the Mediterranean countries shows that euro area accession does not resolve structural problems and may in fact worsen them. The convergence of yields towards a low level led to a lending boom, which resulted in further rises in external indebtedness. We have seen that individual economic policy steps also contributed to the emergence of the crisis. The examples of Greece, Italy and Portugal all show that inappropriate fiscal and competitiveness policies can contribute to the rise of imbalances and, on the longer term, to divergence from the euro area as a whole. By contrast, fiscal policy in Spain had sought to offset the imbalances emerging in the private sector, and therefore it has been the only Mediterranean country achieving convergence since the crisis. Overall, the new accession countries must pay special attention to ensuring that they remain on a sustainable and balanced path of growth even after accession to the euro area. This requires fiscal discipline and a macroprudential policy ensuring that it remains possible to finance external debt.

3.2.7 The case of the Baltic states

As regards the three Northern countries that were the most recent to introduce the single currency (Estonia joined the euro area in 2011, Latvia in 2014 and Lithuania in 2015), it is harder to assess the success of the introduction of the euro than is the case with the Southern European countries. Unlike the latter, these countries offer only a few years of observed data regarding what consequences the introduction of the euro may have. A notable shared characteristic of these three states is their pegging of their currencies to the euro, which Estonia and Lithuania did back in 2002 and Latvia in 2005, and the fact that all of them had **followed a monetary** policy of fixed exchange rates even before, practically since they became independent. Accordingly, these countries had relinquished their independent monetary policies and the possibility of external adjustment through the exchange rate in the event of a crisis or a deterioration in competitiveness more than two decades before the introduction of the euro (Marer, 2015).⁶⁸ Both before and during the global financial crisis, this created conditions for the three countries almost equivalent to being members of the euro area. These countries therefore met the convergence criteria for the introduction of the euro and faced the crisis already operating in an economic environment similar to those of the euro area member states. It is therefore important to analyse the experiences of these three countries in the crisis, as this will help us understand the level of their 'euro maturity'.

⁶⁸ Accordingly, the introduction of the euro did not represent a change of the magnitude seen in the Southern European countries examined above or in Slovenia and Slovakia, which will be the subject of the next section and where accession to the euro area also entailed relinquishing their independent monetary policies. In this sense, the Baltic states adopted only the advantages of the euro when they introduced the single currency; they had already borne its main disadvantage in the period preceding its introduction.

Thanks to their fixed exchange rate regimes, the need to comply with the Maastricht exchange rate criterion was not an obstacle for them when it came to actually introducing the euro. Nevertheless, at the time of their accession to the European Union in the early 2000's, their fixed exchange rate regime and highly liberalised money and capital markets resulted in significant (mainly speculative financial) capital inflows, a considerable surge in lending and overheating in the economy. In all three countries, foreign financial investments approximately doubled between 2004 and 2007, and nominal interest rates noticeably fell. Such fast convergence resulted in an environment of extremely low real interest rates (even lower than in Southern Europe) against a backdrop of relatively high inflation (Chart 3-6). This led to the biggest property bubble anywhere in Europe, as property prices more than trebled in Latvia and more than doubled in Lithuania and Estonia in the period between 2003 and 2007 (European Commission, 2010).





Note: The real interest rate is calculated as the difference between the long-term interest rate in the Maastricht convergence criteria and the Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices (HICP). There is no published interest rate data for Estonia. Source: MNB calculations based on Eurostat data.

The lending boom and the inflow of foreign capital ended with the emergence of the financial turbulences immediately preceding the crisis (Chart 3-7). With the rise in risk avoidance, foreign capital left the country and interest rates on loans rose steeply. Combined with the bursting of the property bubble, this resulted in these three countries facing the biggest downturn within the European Union when the crisis broke out; in 2009, GDP in all three countries fell by over 14 per cent, while the average recession across the EU stood at 4.4 per cent.





Source: Eurostat.

In their crisis management, all three Baltic states opted for internal devaluation to manage the imbalances that emerged before the crisis. One reason is that, besides giving up on their earlier monetary policies predicated on a fixed exchange rate, the devaluation of their currencies would have delayed the introduction of the euro, which all three countries had set as an urgent target. An economic counterargument to the devaluation of the currencies was that, in all three countries, most loans were currency loans denominated in euros, and thus devaluation would have significantly driven up the debts of households as well as corporates (Kattel–Raudla, 2012). **Once the option of currency devaluation was excluded, only internal devaluation offered a chance** for all three countries to return the equilibrium, lost before the crisis, between productivity and wages, thus improving the international competitiveness of these countries.

The process of internal devaluation took place in the period from 2008 to 2010 in all three countries, through the reduction of nominal wages. In Latvia, wages fell slightly in the private sector (wage adjustments were particularly significant in the public sector), whereas wage reduction was more balanced between the private and the public sectors in the other countries (Chart 3-8). Considering the different branches of the national economy, wages fell in all industries, albeit not at all equally. Wages fell most steeply in the market services sector, especially the financial sector, and the construction industry, with less significant falls in wages in the manufacturing industries (Masso– Krillo, 2011).





Source: National statistical offices.

Although nominal wages are, in general, characterised by downward rigidity, the wage cuts in the 2008 crisis were not unheard of in the history of the three countries. Of all the countries impacted by the Russian financial crisis of 1999, almost only the Baltic states recorded a reduction in wages. The substantive decrease in nominal wages, also affecting the private sector, and the ensuing internal devaluation were made possible by the extremely flexible and liberalised labour markets of the three countries. Collective agreements covering fewer people, weaker trade unions, wage cuts that could be implemented without mutual agreements in some cases, and flexible wage regimes (e.g. remuneration regimes based on personal or corporate performance) allowed companies to reduce the wages of their employees (Masso-Krillo, 2011). As wages fell more than productivity, the real exchange rates of the three countries devalued, which improved their competitiveness and allowed for a faster recovery from the crisis.

The adjustment of wages during the crisis alleviated but did not entirely eliminate the need for quantitative adjustment, so that the economic downturn was coupled with a significant rise in unemployment rate in all three Baltic states. High two-directional labour mobility significantly reduced the social costs of the above and therefore helped economic recovery (European Commission, 2013, 2014). When the crisis broke out, emigration accelerated, but a large part of those who went abroad for work then returned home after the recovery. However, net emigration remained high even after recovery of the economy.

In addition to cutting wages, the Baltic states employed fiscal austerity measures as a second component of internal devaluation. Although all three countries had followed prudent fiscal policies and had low government debts before the crisis, the increasingly risk-avoidant behaviours during the crisis meant that practically none of the countries were able to ac**cess credit**. This forced them to carry out fiscal adjustments and Latvia even had to take out an IMF loan in late 2008. All three **countries carried out significant fiscal adjustments between 2008 and 2010**, around two thirds by cutting costs and one third by boosting revenues (Kattel–Raudla, 2012). In parallel with the other component of internal adjustments, i.e. the reduction of wages, the cost cutting measures involved mainly a **significant wage cut for public sector employees, but the impact on social costs** (pensions, health and unemployment benefits) **was also significant**. The changes implemented in order to raise revenues applied to a wide range of tax types. All three countries raised sales and excise taxes and reduced eligibility grounds for reclaiming income taxes.

Although the three countries carried out fiscal adjustments of nearly equivalent degrees, the initial impacts of their tightening varied. Estonia was characterised by a quickly improving budget balance and faster economic recovery. The divergent impacts are attributable to the timings of the measures (Estonia had started consolidation earlier, already in early 2008), the higher reserves accumulated by the Estonian government before the crisis and the resulting greater room for manoeuvre, as well as the structure of its banking system, which meant that bank consolidation represented a smaller burden for Estonia (Kattel-Raudla, 2012). Overall, thanks to their adjustment measures all three countries managed, even if not at the same speed, to reduce their deficits to below the Maastricht criterion of 3 per cent of GDP by 2012 at the latest. It is worth noting that Estonia's deficit never exceeded the 3-per cent criterion, even in the hardest year of the crisis. Their temporarily higher deficits resulted in growing government debt in all three countries, but their pre-crisis prudent fiscal policies still put them among the best within the Union (in 2018, Estonia, Lithuania and Latvia reported consolidated government debts of 8.4, 34.1 and 36.4 per cent of GDP, respectively).
While internal factors were key to satisfying the exchange rate and fiscal criteria (especially the monetary policy stances adopted and the fiscal adjustments implemented during the crisis), global factors over which the Baltic states had no control played the central role when it came to meeting the price stability criteria. The three countries were characterised by high inflation before the crisis (10 to 15 per cent in 2008), which rose considerably after their accession to the EU in 2004. This environment of high inflation arose from unsustainable and overheated growth. The crisis restrained the price dynamics significantly in all three countries, in line with a collapse in internal demand. Internal devaluation also exacerbated the effects of the crisis, reducing the rate of inflation through the demand-reducing effects of lower wages and fiscal adjustments. At the time of the last convergence report (European Commission, 2010), the disinflationary impacts of stabilisation were still strongly felt in Estonia, with the rate of inflation examined against the criterion still negative.

In line with economic recovery, inflation rose in all three countries and it even surpassed the convergence criterion in Estonia after it joined the euro area. The acceleration in the rate of inflation ended when inflation falling due to the sove-reign debt crisis in the euro area was imported; then, from 2014 onwards, all three countries recorded their inflation rates declining to around 0 per cent as global oil prices fell. It was already in this environment of moderate global inflation that Lithuania and Latvia introduced the single currency, so that we can conclude that, in the case of the three Baltic states, compliance with the inflation criterion was predicated primarily on external shocks and not the restructuring of the economy (European Commission, 2013, 2014).

Overall, therefore, we may conclude that the three Baltic states were able to meet the Maastricht convergence criteria thanks to their adherence to fixed exchange rate policies, their restrictive fiscal policies during the crisis and a disinflation significantly shaped by certain global factors. The lessons from the crisis, and therein especially the example of Southern European countries, have proven that it is not only the nominal criteria that matter for euro maturity: an appropriate level of real convergence is also essential. As regards economic convergence, these three countries had achieved fast convergence before the crisis; the relative prosperity of all three states, as measured against the euro area, rose from 16-19 per cent in the early 2000's to more than 30 per cent by 2007. Nevertheless, some of this fast convergence originated from unsustainable growth, so that the trend stalled temporarily once the crisis started. Still, a period of crisis management helped the economy to recover and, although at a slower pace, the process of convergence then continued (Chart 3-9). Estonia introduced the single currency at a relative prosperity level of 42 per cent of the founding members, Latvia at 39 per cent, and Lithuania at 40 per cent.



Chart 3-9: Convergence in the Baltic states

Note: As a percentage of GDP per capita in the 12-member euro area. Vertical lines indicate the year when the country of a given color joined the euro area. Source: MNB calculations based on Eurostat data.

As regards the harmonisation of economic cycles, the three Baltic states exhibited very low or insignificant comovement with the Union at the time of their accession. This meant that the three Baltic states had the least synchronized economic cycles out of all the countries that joined in 2004.⁶⁹ This moderate comovement was attributable mainly to the lower intra-industry trade of the three countries with the Union and their tighter economic relationships with the Scandinavian countries, which are less correlated with the EU (Darvas–Szapáry, 2004). Although harmonisation increased after accession as the trade relationships were deepened, the three Baltic states continue to have the least synchronized economic cycles with the EU core countries.

Only a few years have passed since the introduction of the euro from which to draw conclusions regarding all the three countries, therefore any assessment of the success of the accession of the Baltic states is limited primarily to the assessments immediately following accession and an overview of the risks associated with joining. According to Eurobarometer surveys, the overwhelming majority of the populations of the three countries consider the transition to the euro to have been unproblematic, even though the conversion of prices expressed in the former currencies to euros was not necessarily always fair according to the respondents interviewed on this matter. In all three countries, over half of the respondents interviewed about their views on the introduction of the euro considered it a significant risk that inflation might rise as a result of the introduction of the single currency; the European Commission (2013, 2014a) also considered this as the highest risk related to the introduction of the euro. This is due to the fact that inflation in the three countries is extremely sensitive to energy price changes due to the structure of their economies. It evidences the real risk of accelerating inflation that inflation in Estonia rose significantly after its accession

⁶⁹ See for example: Darvas–Szapáry (2004), Fidrmuc–Korhonen (2006), Stanisic (2013).

in 2011; the rate fell to below the Maastricht threshold only in 2014, once global oil prices had fallen. At the same time, over the last year the three Baltic states had the highest rate of inflation within the euro area besides the Netherlands and Slovakia.

Accelerating inflation can have an impact on wages too, which may then result in worsening competitiveness. This process is demonstrated in how Estonia's effective real exchange rate started to appreciate quickly after euro area accession, having depreciated in the wake of the crisis. Fast real appreciation after accession is also seen in Latvia and Lithuania. Similarly to the other Central Eastern European countries, the Baltic states are also faced with the challenge of the prevailing demographic trends (aging and declining populations), which is exacerbated by the migration of working-age populations to other parts of the EU. The latter may make the labour market tighter and therefore accelerate the rise in wages, thus increasing the divergence between productivity and wages. Besides inflation and the demographic trends, there is a risk inherent in the relatively low synchronization of the economic cycles of the Baltic states, which entails the risk of asymmetric shocks as well.

Overall, we conclude that the brevity of the period under review is not the sole reason why the success of the introduction of the euro in the Baltic states cannot be judged unambiguously. This is due to the fact that the risks arising in connection with euro introduction overshadow the euro maturity of the three countries, even as we must emphasise that these risks are not directly related to the euro, given the existence of fixed exchange rate regimes there in the past. At the same time, the introduction of the euro should be regarded as positive rather than negative in the Baltic countries. The three countries demonstrated during the crisis their ability to rely on internal devaluation to restore the imbalances that emerged before the crisis even without recourse to their own monetary policies; nevertheless, this entailed social costs as well on the short run. Compared to the EU average, real wages returned to their pre-crisis levels only in 2015, which may be a **factor contributing to the sustained high level of net emigration**. All this demonstrates that it is expedient for new entrants to the euro area **to avoid the need for internal devaluation and therefore to manage proactively the risks associated with accession**. It was also an important factor that the **euro traditionally enjoys greater support in the population** of the Baltic states than on average across the Union, so that the social impacts of the internal adjustments were more limited than in the Southern states. Internal devaluation therefore generated much less social tension than in the Mediterranean countries. In addition, due to the internal adjustment, convergence towards the euro area resumed relatively soon after the introduction of the single currency.

3.2.8 Lessons from the introduction of the euro in Slovakia and Slovenia

Slovenia and Slovakia are our only immediate neighbours that have already introduced the single currency; the former in 2007 and the latter in 2009. The experiences of these two countries regarding accession and the subsequent period could offer countless lessons for an introduction of the euro in Hungary, given the fact that, of all the countries using the euro, these two are the most similar to our country in terms of their economic structures. Another reason why it is important to analyse the examples of these two countries is because Slovakia's case can show how the single currency can be successfully introduced through a focus on minimising the risks of accession (asymmetric shocks, wages diverging from productivity, an overheated economy). This is the opposite of the example of the Baltic states seen above, where the solution was found in flexibility and the ability of the three countries to adapt quickly, which, however, entailed significant social costs on the short term. In contrast to Slovakia, the

case of Slovenia exemplifies the importance of maintaining the accession efforts focused on minimising risk not only before but also after accession; without this, the problems originally hoped to be avoided may resurface.

Slovakia and Slovenia are similar in that they satisfied the Maastricht criteria before their introduction of the euro thanks to the fact that these two countries **developed economic structures and economic policies enabling not only compliance with the criteria but even the long-term mitigation of the risks of the single currency**. It is an important difference between the two countries, however, that while **Slovakia managed to maintain** such a regime **after the introduction of the euro**, **this disintegrated in Slovenia**, which therefore faced problems similar to those of the Southern European states once the financial crisis broke out.

Of all the Maastricht criteria, driving down inflation represented the greatest challenge for both countries. Both Slovenia and Slovakia were characterised by high rates of inflation in the early 2000's. In order to introduce the euro as soon as possible, Slovenia managed to reduce its rate of inflation by 6 percentage points by the year preceding accession from 9 per cent in 2000 and thus met the Maastricht inflation criterion by the end of 2005 (Chart 3-10). The dynamic and persistent fall in inflation was attributable to the cooperation between the government and the Bank of Slovenia and their coordinated economic policies (European Commission, 2006). This included a centralised regime of tripartite wage agreements covering both the private and the public sectors. This, in addition to reducing inflation expectations, ensured that wage and productivity growth were aligned, which stabilised the country's cost competitiveness. All this contributed to the fact that the country was able to reduce the rate of inflation through fast real economic convergence, without sacrificing growth.



Chart 3-10: Evolution of inflation in East-Central European countries

Note: Vertical lines indicate the year when the country of a given color joined the euro area. The horizontal line represents the ECB's inflation target. Source: Eurostat.

Just like Slovenia, Slovakia has had to overcome volatile and high inflation in order to satisfy the Maastricht criteria. In the early 2000's the country was still characterised by inflation at rates in excess of 10 per cent; it was able to reduce it to 3.5 per cent in 2002, but inflation again went up temporarily in the next two years. The variability of inflation and its high rate in several years was largely attributable to the effects of government measures (changes in regulated prices and indirect taxes). According to the calculations of the National Bank of Slovakia, four fifths of the inflation in the early 2000's were caused by this factor, but the underlying fundamental processes adjusted for these were no longer significantly higher than in Western Europe (National Bank of Slovakia, 2003). Although the government measures exerted only temporary impacts on the price dynamics, the country applied a monetary policy of austerity in order to anchor the inflation expectations. This was the purpose of the new

monetary policy direction effective from the end of 2004, which encouraged expectations for decreasing inflation by setting an inflation target and tolerating the appreciation of the Slovak koruna (European Commission, 2008). In addition to the declining expectations, fast growth based on working capital inflows and exchange rate appreciation pass-through also contributed to disinflation.

As regards the fiscal criteria, Slovenia had followed a prudent and disciplined fiscal policy already before its EU accession. With the exception of just two years, 2001 and 2002, its deficit had been below 3 per cent ever since the mid-90's, and its government debt remained below 30 per cent. The country did not need a significant change in fiscal direction to be able to introduce the euro. In spite of its low deficit and government debt, Slovenia's economic policy was criticised after the crisis on the grounds that, with its cyclical position also taken into account, its fiscal policy had been too loose in the years before the crisis, which limited the government's room for manoeuvre during the subsequent recession (Verbič et al., 2013).

It was a challenge for our Northern neighbour to meet the inflation target and it also needed more significant fiscal reforms to achieve the deficit target. By introducing fiscal discipline and implementing continual reforms between 1999 and 2004, the country both achieved a deficit of less than 3 per cent and created an attractive environment for the foreign working capital underlying its fast economic growth.

As regards the exchange rate criteria, Slovenia achieved exchange rate stability through cooperative currency market interventions by the central and the commercial banks from 2001 onwards. As a result, the Slovenian tolar exchange rate gradually depreciated until June 2004. Thereafter, the exchange rate target set by the central bank played its role as anchor successfully, so that there was no need for exchange rate adjustments and direct interventions by the central bank over and above the **central bank's intervention** signalling accession to the ERM-II mechanism, which represented an ante-room to the euro, and the initial change of regime.

Slovakia was not able to satisfy the exchange rate criteria smoothly. Since disinflation in the country was achieved through capital inflows and the resulting appreciation of the Slovak koruna, even though the country joined the ERM-II regime in November 2005, the central bank was forced to revalue the koruna/euro exchange rate central parity due to the appreciation pressure in early 2007. This revaluation postponed the possibility for euro area accession by two years. Nevertheless, this did not represent a substantive delay compared to the original plans; the strategy for the introduction of the euro drawn up by the Slovak government and central bank in 2003 had foreseen a planned introduction for the period between 2008 and 2010 (National Bank of Slovakia, 2003).

As regards GDP convergence, Slovenia was in the second best position behind Cyprus of the countries joining the EU in 2004. Upon accession to the Union, the country's relative prosperity compared to the 12 original member states was higher than 54 per cent, rising to over 60 per cent by the time of introducing the single currency. This meant that, at the time of adopting the single currency, its economy lagged behind to the same or smaller extent than the Southern European countries in 2000.⁷⁰ By contrast, Slovakia's relative prosperity at the time of its EU accession in 2004 was only quarter of that of the euro area founding members. Nevertheless, thanks to fast convergence in the country, this rate rose to 41 per cent by the time it introduced the euro in 2009, even though its convergence temporarily stalled as a result of the crisis (Chart 3-11).

⁷⁰ In 2000, Portugal's GDP per capita stood at 61 per cent of the EU-12 average. The relevant figures were 81 per cent in Spain and 66 per cent for Greece.

Slovenia had an advantage over Slovakia both in terms of its convergence and the fact that its business cycles were more closely correlated with those of the euro area. At the time of accession, Slovenia's economy was the most harmonised with the euro area among all the new accession countries. Its level of harmonisation has remained practically unchanged since its accession to the euro area and continues to be the highest in the Central Eastern European region. Slovakia exhibited a lower degree of harmonisation in the early 2000's (Darvas–Szapáry, 2004), but this has increased considerably over the past decade.

Chart 3-11: Convergence of East-Central European countries to eurozone



Note: As a percentage of GDP per capita in the 12-member euro area. Vertical lines indicate the year when the country of a given color joined the euro area. Source: Eurostat.

Overall, we may conclude regarding compliance with the convergence criteria that Slovenia was able to meet the nominal criteria more smoothly, and was also better positioned than Slovakia in terms of real economic prosperity. All this implies that the former had an advantage in terms of euro maturity. Yet the experience following the introduction of the euro and the responses to the crisis show that Slovakia's introduction of the euro has been much more successful than Slovenia's, in spite of the initial advantages of the latter. Whereas the former exhibited fast recovery after the crisis and real convergence after a temporary downturn, Slovenia was subject to the sort of prolonged crisis and lasting halt to convergence that also characterised the euro countries of the Mediterranean.

The reasons for the differences between the two countries is to be found in the economic processes following the introduction of the euro. The example of Slovenia and the Southern European countries is a good demonstration of why it is important to maintain a stable environment of low inflation after accession to the euro area. In Slovenia, inflation rates started to rise already in the year of its accession, and its impacts were aggravated by the dissolution of the regime of tripartite wage agreements, which had played a key role before. Rising inflation combined with a post-accession environment of low interest rates drove real interest rates towards 0 per cent and then, in 2008, into negative territory, overheating the economy. Borrowing rose significantly and, as seen in the example of Spain, this led to the emergence of a credit bubble. Besides the fact that the country therefore suffered a greater downturn during the crisis, all this caused inflation to accelerate and the wage dynamics to intensify. This weakened the correspondence between productivity and wage growth rates, which in turn reduced the country's competitiveness as its effective real exchange rate against the euro area appreciated between 2008 and 2010 (Chart 3-12).



Chart 3-12: Productivity, wages and unemployment in Slovenia

Source: MNB calculations based on Eurostat data.

In addition to the appreciation of the real exchange rate, another obstacle to post-crisis adjustments lay in the country's labour market being rigid in comparison with the rest of the Union and the fact that wage adjustments did not allow a return to the pre-crisis levels of competitiveness. The slow adjustment of the labour market is also demonstrated in the changes in the unemployment rate, which consistently rose between 2008 and 2013 and was not yet recovered to the pre-crisis unemployment levels even in 2016.

The situation in the Slovenian banking system also played a role in this slow recovery. Excessive lending before the crisis meant that in 2012 Slovenia's banking system had the fourth largest non-performing loan portfolio in the euro area.⁷¹ However, this both hampered lending and therefore economic growth and put the central budget in a difficult situation because of the high degree of state ownership in the country's banking sector,

⁷¹ 15.2 per cent of total loans. The only countries with higher rates of non-performing loans were Ireland (25 per cent), Greece (23.3 per cent) and Cyprus (18.4 per cent). Source: IMF Financial Soundness Indicators.

where several banks had to resort to a state aid package in 2013. As a result, the budget deficit temporarily rose above 14 per cent of GDP in 2013, and government debt reached more than 80 per cent of GDP by 2015.

In consequence, Slovenia's fast convergence to the euro area, which had characterised the country before the introduction of the euro, stopped in 2008, and its per-capita GDP measured at purchasing power parity relative to the euro area was lower in 2015 than before the crisis. Thus in Slovenia, convergence did not accelerate after the introduction of the single currency as expected, and the euro did not deliver on the hopes placed on it.

Slovakia's experiences with the introduction of the euro are very different from the pattern seen in Slovenia. Inflation did not accelerate when Slovakia introduced the euro, although this was attributable in part to the fact that it did so at the time of the crisis, so that the recession also curtailed the rate of price growth. This is also demonstrated by the fact that once the recovery happened, inflation rose to 4.1 per cent in 2011; however, almost a third of this increase is attributable to the general sales tax rate rising from 19 to 20 per cent. Even in 2012, inflation stood above the Maastricht criterion (Slovakia's inflation rate was 3.7 per cent, as opposed to the 3.1 per cent criterion for the year); however, its inflation once more stabilised at a low level in the following year thanks to a global environment of low inflation.

In Slovakia, the temporarily high inflation was not coupled with the kind of economic overheating seen in Slovenia, partly due to the emergence of increasingly risk-avoidant behaviours on the international money market against a backdrop of an unfolding European sovereign debt crisis (Fidrmuc et al., 2013). However, having temporarily fallen during the crisis, the total loan stock of the national economy increased substantively, as a result of a rise in household indebtedness as a percentage of GDP to one and a half times of its 2009 levels. While this level of indebtedness does not classify as high in an EU-wide comparison, the upward trend may **represent a risk**, since the Union is currently experiencing the opposite trend of deleveraging the excessively high debts accumulated before the crisis. In the absence of appropriate macroprudential regulations, an excessive rise in household borrowing could lead to a credit bubble and therefore, given the divergence from the EUwide trend, to the emergence of an asymmetric shock.

Reforms introduced in the 2000's significantly increased the flexibility of the labour market in Slovakia. Among other things, these measures improved for employers the conditions of hiring staff, with the costs involved also decreasing. As a result of the above factors, productivity and real wages in Slovakia were in alignment before the crisis. Thanks to the country's labour market reforms and its accession to the EU, its FDI inflows rose significantly (Jurajda - Mathernová, 2004). In contrast to Slovenia's experience, Slovakia managed to maintain the equilibrium between wages and productivity after the crisis, even though Slovakia had not operated a centralised wage agreement regime like Slovenia's before the introduction of the euro. Wages and productivity remained in alignment thanks to the sustained dynamism of productivity in Slovakia in spite of the crisis and the related temporary drying-up of working capital inflows (Chart 3-13). Whereas productivity in Slovenia returned to its pre-crisis levels after nearly 6 years, Slovakia's productivity continued its fast growth following a temporary downturn in 2009. As a result, Slovakia's economy was able to increase its competitiveness even without an independent monetary policy during the years of the crisis, which accelerated its recovery.⁷² A concomitant of recovery based on productivity growth was the continued high levels of unemployment in Slovakia, where the unemployment ratio is still above the regional average (Fidrmuc et al., 2013).

⁷² It is important to note, however, that some commentators on the introduction of the euro and the competitiveness of Slovakia note that the country was placed in an unfavourable situation through introducing the euro at an overly strong exchange rate (Fidrmuc et al., 2013) and that the further appreciation associated with its accession worsened the situation of Slovakian corporates directly in parallel with the outbreak of the crisis (Lalinsky, 2010).



Chart 3-13: Productivity, wages and unemployment in Slovakia

Regarding Slovakia's success in its accession to the euro area, we may conclude that although the country's convergence slowed to some extent as a result of the crisis, it nevertheless continued unabated even with (or in fact thanks to) the adoption of the single currency. Žúdel–Melioris (2016) also give a positive assessment of the introduction of the single currency, to which they attribute a GDP boost of around 10 per cent up to 2011. Nevertheless, they add that, because of the crisis, it would have been significantly more advantageous for the country if it had introduced the euro only in 2010.

We may therefore draw the overall conclusion regarding the accession of these two countries to the euro area that the main difference is attributable to the different paths they followed after introducing the single currency. Although both countries geared their economic policies towards meeting the Maastricht criteria and, at the same time, minimising the risks associated with the euro, Slovenia failed to follow that path once it had

Source: Eurostat.

adopted the single currency. Slovenia was therefore subject to the same overheating that characterised the Southern European and the Baltic economies, but failed to restore the resulting imbalances as quickly after the outbreak of the crisis as the Baltic states did. As a result, Slovenia incurred the highest costs when introducing the euro, even though its euro maturity at the time of accession was the highest of all the new members. This evidences that it is important to monitor closely and manage the potential risks of the euro both before and after its introduction.

References

Abreu, Orlando (2006): Portugal's boom and bust: lessons for euro newcomers. ECFIN Country Focus, Volume 3, Issue 16

Akin, Ozlem – Montalvo, José García – Villar, Jaume García – Peydró, José-Luis – Raya, Josep Maria (2014): The real estate and credit bubble: evidence from Spain, Journal of the Spanish Economic Association, SERIEs (2014) 5, pp. 223-243

Alesina, Alberto – Özler, Sule – Roubini, Nouriel – Swagel, Phillip (1996): Political Instability and Economic Growth, NBER Working Paper No. 4173

Bennett, Herman – Escolano, Julio – Fabrizio, Stefania – Gutiérrez, Eva – Ivaschenko, Iryna – Lissovolik, Bogdan – Moreno-Badia, Marialuz – Schule, Werner – Tokarick, Stephen – Xiao, Yuan – Zarnic, Ziga (2008): Competitiveness in the Southern Euro Area: France, Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain; IMF Working Paper, WP/08/112, IMF, April 2008

Cencig, Elisa (2012): Italy's economy in the euro zone crisis and Monti's reform agenda; Working Paper FG 1, 2012/05, September 2012, SWP Berling

Darvas Zsolt – Szapáry György (2004): Business Cycle Synchronization in the Enlarged EU. Open Economies Review 19(1), p. 1-19, February 2008

European Commission [2006): *Convergence Report on Slovenia*. European Economy, Special Report, No. 2, pp. 43–50.

European Commission (2008): Convergence Report. European Economy, No. 3.

European Commission (2010): Convergence Report. European Economy, No. 3.

European Commission (2013): Convergence Report on Latvia. European Economy, No. 3

European Commission (2014): Convergence Report. European Economy, No. 4.

Fana, Marta – Guarascio, Dario – Cirillo, Valeria (2015): Labour Market Reforms in Italy: Evaluating the Effects of the Job Act. ISI Growth Working Paper Fidrmuc, J. – Klein, C. – Price, R. W. – Wörgötter, A. (2013): *Slovakia: Catching Up Euro Area Member In and Out of the Crisis*. OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 1019.

Fidrmuc, J. – Korhonen, I. (2006): Meta-Analysis of the Business Cycle Correlation Between the Euro Area and the CEECs. CESifo Working Paper No. 1693

Gros, Daniel (2011): Fiscal and monetary policy asymmetries in a common currency area, Briefing note, European Parliament, Directorate General for internal policies, IP/A/ECON/NT/2011-02, June 2011International Monetary Fund – IMF (1999): Spain: 1999 Article IV Consultation Mission; IMF, March 1999

Gros, Daniel (2015): The Eurozone crisis and foreign debt, The Eurozone Crisis, VoxEU.org, CEPR Press 2015IMF (2000): Spain: The 2000 Article IV Consultation—Staff Report; IMF, November 2000, IMF Staff Country Report no. 00/151

IMF (1999): Spain: 1999 Article IV Consultation Mission; IMF, March 1999

IMF (2000): Spain: The 2000 Article IV Consultation – Staff Report; IMF, October 2000, IMF Country Report no. 00/151

IMF (2001): Greece: 2000 Article IV Consultation – Staff Report; IMF, March 2001, IMF Country Report, no. 01/52

IMF (2002): Portugal: 2002 Article IV Consultation – Staff Report; IMF, April 2002, IMF Country Report no. 02/90

IMF (2006): Portugal: 2006 Article IV Consultation—Staff Report; IMF, October 2006, IMF Country Report no. 06/377

IMF (2009a): Greece: 2009 Article IV Consultation—Staff Report; IMF, August 2009, IMF Country Report no. 09/244

IMF (2009b): Spain: 2008 Article IV Consultation—Staff Report; IMF, April 2009, IMF Country Report no. 09/128

Jurajda, Stepán – Mathernová, Katarína (2004): How to Overhaul the Labor Market: Political Economy of Recent Czech and Slovak Reforms, Background paper prepared for the World Development Report 2005

Kattel, R. – Raudla, R. (2012): *The Baltic States and the Crisis of 2008–2011*. Europe–Asia Studies, Vol. 65, No. 3., pp. 426–449.

Kouretas, Georgios P. – Vlamis, Prodromos (2010): The Greek crisis: causes and implications, Panoeconomicus, 2010, 4. pp. 391 - 404

Lalinsky, T. (2010): *Business competitiveness after euro adoption in Slovakia*. National Bank of Slovakia Occasional Paper, No. 3.

López, Isidro — Rodríguez, Emmanuel (2011): The Spanish model, New Left Review 69, May-June 2011

Lyrintzis, Christos (2011): Greek Politics in the Era of Economic Crisis: Reassessing Causes and Effects; Hellenic Observatory Papers on Greece and Southeast Europe, March 2011, The Hellenic Observatory, The European Institute, London School of Economics Makrydakis, Stelios – Tzavalis, Elias – Baloussias, Athanassios (1999): Policy regime changes and the long-run sustainability of fiscal policy: an application to Greece, Economic Modelling 16, 1999, pp. 71-86.

Marer, P. (2015): The Euro and East Europe: Six Insider, Six Outsiders; Why So?

Masso, J. – Krillo, K. (2011): Labour Markets in the Baltic States During the Crisis 2008– 2009: The Effect on Different Labour Market Groups. The University of Tartu Faculty of Economics and Business Administration Working Paper, No. 79

Park, Kang H. (2015): Lessons and Implications from the European Sovereign Debt Crisis, Journal of Finance and Economics, Volume 3, Issue 3, 72-88

Paul De Grauwe (2015): Design failures of the Eurozone, The Eurozone Crisis, VoxEU.org, CEPR Press 2015

Romero, Juan – Jiménez, Fernando – Villoria, Manuel (2012): (Un)sustainable territories: causes of the speculative bubble in Spain (1996-2010) and its territorial, environmental, and sociopolitical consequences; Environment and Planning C Government and Policy; June 2012

Stanisic, N. (2013): *Convergence between the business cycles of Central and Eastern European countries and the Euro area*. Baltic Journal of Economics, Baltic International Centre for Economic Policy Studies, vol. 13(1), 63–74

National Bank of Slovakia (2003): *Strategy of the Slovak Republic for Adoption of the Euro*. BIATEC, Vol. 9, No. 8, pp. 1–9.

Tridico, Pasquale (2012): Italy from Economic Decline to the Current Crisis, Astril

Verbič, M. – Srakar, A. – Majcen, B. – Čok, M. (2016): *Slovenian public finances through the financial crisis*. Teorija in praksa, Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 203–227.

Wolf, M (2014), The shifts and the shocks, Penguin Books, London.

Žudel, B. –Melioris, L. (2016): Five years in a balloon: Estimating the effects of euro adoption in Slovakia using the synthetic control method. OECD Economic Department Working Papers, No.

4

Successful euro area the criteria needed for accession in the 21st century

4.1 Maastricht 2.0

Dávid Berta – Norbert Csorba – Judit Baranyai Csutiné – Bálint Dancsik – Gábor P. Kiss – Laura Komlóssy – Stefan Krakovsky – Alexandr Maxim Palicz – Szabolcs Pásztor – Gábor Dániel Soós

The previous chapters have made it clear that the main direction of the euro area's evolution would be to complete the institutional structure through the complete integration of the fiscal and capital markets. However, it also appears to be impossible in the short to medium term. Therefore, candidate countries should also meet real economic criteria in order to ensure the successful adoption of the euro. When considering the above criteria, it is of particular importance to evaluate the adequate level of real economic development, since the closer an economy is to the level of the euro area, the lower its inflation surplus resulting from convergence. Generally speaking, when the country's level of development has reached around ninety per cent, the inflation surplus resulting from catching up becomes negligible. In those cases, the common monetary policy will result in a similar level of real interest and monetary orientation. Apart from real economic development, the appropriate harmonisation of business cycles and financial cycles is another factor of outstanding importance. The high correlation between financial cycles may also facilitate a mutually beneficial integration. The high level of synchronisation may guarantee that the financial systems of the candidate country and the euro area should respond similarly to economic shocks.

A further real economic criterion is the level of harmonisation of the productivity and competitiveness of economic operators. The SME sector in emerging economies is less competitive than that of more industrialised Western European economies. Therefore, maintaining and supporting financing is of key importance for independent monetary policy where the SME sector, which is mostly in domestic ownership, is vulnerable and its productivity is low. It is thus important that the SME sector should be sufficiently competitive and productive at the time of joining the euro area in order to ensure that no significant credit constraints emerge even along the downhill part of the credit cycle, which in turn poses a smaller challenge for independent monetary policy. Moreover, international experience has shown that lower productivity in the SME sector compared to large companies generally entails higher inflation. In addition to the above, a diversified national export portfolio and high added value play an important part in competitiveness. Looking at EU economies, they are characterised by significant corporate duality, which can be identified as a high gap in productivity between SMEs and large companies.

The adequate depth of the financial system is another important aspect to consider prior to a country's accession to the monetary union, as it can help prevent dependency on foreign capital due to the increased capital flow and ensure that such increased capital flows should not result in excess lending and pro-cyclical economic processes. Another aspect that should not be overlooked is the cyclical position at which such depth is reached by the country's banking system. Banking sectors struggling with imbalances are on an unsustainable path in the long run, and their compliance with the conditions for their integration into the monetary union is only an appearance. Besides quantitative issues, the domestic financial institution system must be competitive by European standards; in other words, products and services should be broadly available to economic participants at suitable prices and suitable costs.

In order to ensure that meeting the system of conditions of the euro adoption does not result in social damage, adequate timing of the achievement of fiscal parameters should be ensured. It requires a criterion concerning the situation of the labour market, i.e. the achievement and maintenance of full employment. In other words, a country should join the euro area at a time its has plenty of room for fiscal manoeuvring, the deficit and the debt ratio are both low and there is no cyclical unemployment. In that case, the counter-cyclical policy and the room for fiscal manoeuvring required in the euro area both point in the direction of a balanced budget. The 2008 crisis underpinned that besides fiscal sustainability, preserving financial stability and putting in place policies in support of the maintenance of banks' resilience and the orderly resolution of potential bank crises are key to the sustainable operation of the euro area. Euro area candidate countries, therefore, must put in place macro- and microprudential policy instruments that are capable of supporting convergence to the euro area and minimising the risk of asymmetric shocks, and must have adequate resolution tools available. The exercise of these powers in an efficiently functioning institutional model supports the preservation of financial stability and efficient crisis management.

Based on historic experiences, it has become necessary to modify the fiscal requirements of the Maastricht criteria, by which two different alternatives should be considered. In the spirit of preserving but updating the deficit and debt ratios constituting the basis of the existing fiscal framework, it should be considered to bring the long-term structural deficit of public finances close to zero in Member States with higher government debt and close to 1-2 per cent of GDP in countries with more sustainable public finances. Moreover, the targeted debt ratio level should be lowered to 50 per cent of GDP. As an alternative, the criteria system might be recast in such a way that a desired debt target – which may vary across the Member States – provides the long-term anchor of fiscal policy. The path leading to the debt target, in turn, should be ensured by an expenditure rule derived from the discretionary items controlled by the budget and adjusted by tax measures. This proposition is consistent with the proposal of the European Fiscal Board for a major overhaul of the European fiscal framework.

4.1.1 Introduction

At present, the euro area is not an optimal currency area. The euro area strives to achieve monetary stability; therefore, the Maastricht Treaty imposed mainly nominal conditions for euro area accession as opposed to the real criteria of the optimal currency area theory. The Maastricht criteria do not define in detail the extent to which economic structures must converge to one another in order to ensure optimal common monetary policy across the euro area. Based on the experiences of the past two decades, compliance with the nominal Maastricht criteria does not guarantee in itself the euro area's suitability for an optimal currency area.

The original criteria system needs to be revised. The analyses presented in the previous chapters pointed out that the existing criteria do not guarantee sustainable convergence either to new entrants or to the existing members of the euro area. The Maastricht criteria did not ensure full convergence across the Member States; only partial convergence was achieved. The Maastricht criteria disregarded real economic (labour mobility, productivity) and capital flow (current account balances, saving rates) aspects. The crisis of the euro area demonstrated that the criteria were capable of facilitating partial convergence among the Member States in times of peace, but due to structural disparities, they were unable to prevent divergence during a recession.

Although the conditions of inflation and interest rate convergence were mostly met both before and after the accession, there were different developments in yields and inflation rates in the Member States of the euro area. The pre-crisis interest rate convergence and inflation rate divergence divided the real interest rates, overall. As a result, current account balances also reflected divergence. In addition, the risk of the emergence of asset price bubbles increased in periphery countries and the rate of efficient investment decreased, which also contributed to the deceleration in productivity. **Compliance with the original fiscal criteria proved to be problematic:** according to the criterion, it is only under the assumption of nominal GDP growth of 5 per cent that the deficit target of 3 per cent is consistent with the 60 per cent government debt target. Where nominal growth is persistently below 5 per cent due to the deceleration in real growth and/or inflation, a continuously tighter budget is needed, otherwise the government debt ratio rises significantly above the criterion value. In most euro area countries the latter situation took hold. (Nagy-Virág, 2017)

It is a deficiency of the current rules that they discourage counter-cyclical fiscal policies, both individually or on a euro area level. Another severe deficiency of the criteria is the fact that beyond government debt, they disregard private debt developments. Excessive or, as the case may be, irresponsible private sector indebtedness may lead to significant problems in the banking sector, especially in the case of shocks to the economy. Finally, no criterion was defined with a view to assessing the external balance position, a key determinant of the sustainability of growth: there is no comprehensive mechanism in place that would correct or nudge imbalances to a sustainable range.

Considering the shortcomings presented earlier the chapter proposes the establishment of a set of criteria that can be defined as a combination of three elements. These elements are retaining some of the original conditions, modifying some and formulating new criteria. As far as the price stability criterion is concerned, a continuously low inflation environment poses a problem, which may even result in a negative rate of inflation in the reference countries. Inflation should not be too high or too low when a country wants to join the euro area. It is therefore appropriate to compare the rate of price increase in candidate countries with the inflation rate of the three Member States with the lowest positive inflation rates. Similarly, in the case of the yield criterion, the target should be set in relation to the long-term returns in the three Member States with the lowest positive inflation rates. The role

of fiscal policy is becoming more important in case of joining to a currency area: room for fiscal maneuver might provide sufficient flexibility in times of crisis and external asymmetric shocks. According to MNB country-specific factors such as debt ratios of member states and their cyclical positions need to be considered when establishing budgetary criteria. Deficit target linked to the level of government debt and the use of a structural balance will ensure a sufficient room for maneuver and allow for countercyclical intervention in case of necessity. As far as exchange rate stability is concerned, the current 2-year rule should be replaced by a 3 to 5-year ERM II membership at the original Maastricht conditions. In addition to the original Maastricht criteria, new criteria are worth considering. New criteria need to be formulated which ensure that the development path of a pre-accession country can remain unbroken within the euro area. The new criteria should include economic development, labour market situation, synchronization of business and financial cycles, competitiveness, financial sector and countercyclical fiscal policies. These points are worth examining together and conditionally. In this section we propose the application of possible new criteria.

A new, broad-based criteria system should be set up in addition to the revision of existing indicators. Based on convergence experiences, the definition of the optimal time and conditions of entry is a key aspect, which requires the consideration of new criteria in addition to the existing Maastricht criteria. A set of new criteria needs to be formulated, which would ensure that – if they are fulfilled – the candidate country's growth path will remain unbroken even after the accession. The new criteria must extend to a country's level of economic development, labour market conditions, synchronisation between business and financial cycles, competitiveness, the financial sector and countercyclical fiscal policies. These aspects should be assessed in combination and conditionally. In this chapter we present a proposal for the application of a number of possible new criteria.

4.1.2 Sufficient development phase

Criterion summary: GDP per capita and wage levels should reach at least 90 per cent of the corresponding values in the euro area.

Justification: The closer an economy is to the level of development of the euro area, the smaller is the inflation surplus resulting from convergence. At a development level of around 90 per cent, the inflation surplus stemming from the convergence becomes negligible; consequently, the common monetary policy yields similar real interest rates and monetary policy stance.

In a monetary union, where the primary mandate of the central bank is to achieve and maintain price stability, the importance of inflation differentials between member states is paramount. Real economic development and convergence are linked to the inflation path in that the convergence process is accompanied by appreciation of real exchange rates. This phenomenon is referred to as the "Penn effect", and although its causes (such as the Balassa–Samuelson effect and the strength thereof) are debated by economists, its presence is still statistically identifiable in developed and medium developed economies. When a country joins the euro area at a relatively low level of development, then only the inflation channel of real appreciation can be effective. Higher inflation results in a lower real interest rate compared to the rest of the euro area which, in turn, leads to differences in the monetary policy stance and to the build-up of potential macroeconomic risks.

It is important to examine the experience of the euro area in terms of how country-specific inflation surpluses have evolved as a function of development level (Chart 4-1). Special attention should be paid to those countries outside of the euro area that have operated a currency board arrangement (such as Bulgaria or the Baltic States), since a fixed exchange rate has similar inflationary effects as joining the euro area. Based on international experiences, at a development level of around 90 per cent, the inflation surplus stemming from convergence becomes negligible; consequently, the common monetary policy yields similar real interest rates and monetary policy stances. In parallel with the convergence of the real economy, wage convergence must also be pursued in line with welfare considerations.





Note: Level of development is based on (PPP) GDP per capita. Inflation surplus is a deviation from euro area inflation. Values are averaged over 2000-2007. Blank circles indicate countries using the euro or pegging their currencies to the euro. Source: MNB calculation based on WDI data.

Real economic convergence is crucially important for another reason as well. As will be discussed later on, the harmonisation of economic cycles is indispensable for a common monetary union. **Real economic convergence also entails the harmonisation of the business cycles** (Chart 4-2). Especially since the common monetary conditions obtained after the euro area entry can only work optimally if the cyclical positions of the participating economies are similar or exhibit the closest possible co-movement. Therefore, real economic convergence also supports this co-movement and hence, contributes to the effectiveness of the common monetary policy.



Chart 4-2: Relationship between level of development and the synchronisation of business cycles

Note: Correlations with the EA12. Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

4.1.3 Harmonisation of business and financial cycles

Criterion summary: Synchronised business and financial cycles.

Justification: The common monetary policy can only achieve optimal effectiveness if the cyclical positions of the participating economies are similar or if there is a stronger synergy. A high degree of financial cycles' synchronisation may guarantee that the candidate country and the euro area react similarly to economic shocks in terms of the financial system, as economic and policy changes exert a different effect in the various phases of the cycle.

Apart from the original Maastricht criteria, the synchronisation of business cycles plays an important role in the assessment of the benefits stemming from the common currency area. In an economy periods of boom are followed by periods of downturn from time to time. The performance of the economies may be accompanied by shorter or longer periods of booms and recessions, with fluctuations that follow each other for periods of almost 8-10 years. The co-movement (synchronisation) of these business cycles over time is an important factor for the country concerned and for the euro area as a whole. To a large degree, the benefits of a currency area depend on the similar economic characteristics of the participating countries. When the business and financial cycles are harmonised, the cost of the countercyclical monetary policy can be minimised. According to the OCA (optimal currency area) theory, a single currency can be maintained for several countries if the region is largely integrated economically.

In our case, the synchronisation of economic cycles basically means how closely the short and medium-term fluctuations of the candidate economy are linked to the cycles of the currency union. The harmonisation of inflation is one of the original Maastricht criteria; thus an economy wishing to join the currency union must also comply with this criterion. At the same time, the correlation between inflation and the cyclical position of the economy has decreased significantly in recent decades (Chart 4-3). As a result, inflation provides less and less information about the cyclical position of a given economy. That is why it is particularly important to pay specific attention to the cyclical position and thus obtain a broader and more accurate snapshot of economic processes.



Chart 4-3: Changes in the slope of the Phillips curve

Note: The slope of the Phillips curve captures the relationship between the real economy and inflation. Source: IMF (2013).

The simplest way to grasp business cycles is through the output gap. The importance of business harmonisation can be illustrated with the following simple example. Suppose that the output gap of the candidate country is negative (that is, in this case, the value of current output is below potential output; i.e. the real economy has a disinflationary impact), while the output gap of the currency area is positive. All else being equal, in such a case, the monetary conditions in the currency area are relatively tighter than in a country with a negative output gap. In this scenario, if the country under review were to enter the currency area, the common monetary conditions of the single currency area would also be applicable to it, which would further open the gap in the country of entry. If, however, the real economic cycles are fully harmonised, this effect will not take hold, and entering the single currency area will be ideal in this regard. In other words, the common monetary conditions obtained after the euro area entry can only

achieve optimal effectiveness if the cyclical positions of the participating economies are similar or exhibit the closest possible co-movement.

How to measure business cyclical harmonisation

In the following we will examine the covariance observed in the past two decades between the output gaps of CEE countries and those of the EA12.⁷³ Essentially, the relationship between the cyclical positions is significantly positive for all countries; in terms of the strength of covariance, Hungary resides in the first third of the countries under review (Chart 4-4). In addition, we found that the correlation co-movements are simultaneous in respect of quarterly data, and the highest values are observed for lag 1.⁷⁴

⁷³ At present, we examine the issue on a purely statistical basis, with the least amount of theoretical restrictions integrated into the analytical framework. In other words, we derive the output gap with an HP filter in a quarterly time profile for data of the past twenty-some years. For the purposes of our analysis we used seasonally adjusted GDP data.

⁷⁴ Besides traditional correlation analyses, we should mention another type of indicator that reflects qualitative co-movements fairly well: the Cycle Synchronisation Index based on Gogas (2013). This indicator measures the per cent age of reviewed quarters at which two cyclical positions (e.g. the output gaps of the euro area and Hungary) had the same algebraic sign during the review period. In this analysis, with a CSI index of 60–65 per cent Hungary is in the middle of the ranking overall. This means that in the past two decades, the cyclical position of the Hungarian economy had the same sign as that of the euro area's economy for almost two thirds of the period under review.



Chart 4-4: Correlations between the euro area's output gap and the output gap of the given country under various quarterly lags

Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

As the output gap applied above is a non-observable variable, its quantification requires an estimate. In order to reduce this estimation uncertainty, it is also worth examining the co-movement of unemployment rates. The labour market has key importance in the macroeconomic system of markets. The unemployment rate is an economic indicator, which reflects – in a concise form – the degree of oversupply in the labour market; i.e. the cyclical position of the economy. The co-movement between the unemployment rates is not as strong as in the case of estimated output gaps (Chart 4-5). Given the uncertainty surrounding the estimation of output gaps, both indicators should be taken into account for an optimal scheduling of the adoption of the euro.



Chart 4-5: Correlation between unemployment rates

Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

There is still no consensus on the precise definition of the financial cycle. In Borio's (2014) definition, the financial cycle denotes the self-reinforcing interactions between the perceptions of value and risk, and risk taking and financing constraints. These interactions may amplify economic fluctuations and possibly lead to serious financial distress and distortions in the sectorial structure of the economy (economic dislocation). This analytical definition is closely related to the concept of the financial system's "procyclicality" (Borio et al. 2001, Danielsson et al. 2004, Kashyap and Stein 2004, Brunnermeier et al. 2009, Adrian and Shin 2010). Financial cycles can be approximated by way of composite indicators, but also by way of simple indicators such as the credit-to-GDP gap (Dell'Arricia et al. 2012) or real estate price developments (IMF 2003).

The degree of financial cycles' synchronisation is especially important for the monetary union, as economic and policy changes exert a different effect in the various phases of the cycle. The divergence between core and periphery euro area countries is a good example: Gopinath et al. (2015) and Garcia-Santana et al. (2016) both found that the misallocation of resources and the resulting poor productivity growth were caused by the lack of synchronisation between the financial cycles. Consequently, the benefits of euro area accession may only be guaranteed by a high degree of financial cycles' synchronisation (the correlation coefficient is at least 0.7), which may ensure that the candidate country and the euro area react similarly to economic shocks from the perspective of the financial system. Based on the credit-to-GDP gaps published by the European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB) in early 2019, Hungary has the highest degree of financial synchronisation with in the periphery countries, but it moves less in tandem with the most developed core countries of the euro area. Although the correlation coefficient between Hungary and the core countries of the euro area was above 0.7 in the previous year, there was no further convergence, and the synchronisation between the financial cycles fluctuates around 0.7 (Chart 4-6).

Chart 4-6: Credit-to-GDP gap in Hungary and the euro area calculated by the ESRB and long-term correlation between the financial cycles



Source: ESRB Risk Dashboard.
4.1.4 Productivity and competitiveness conditions

Criteria summary: The labour productivity of SMEs must be higher than 50 per cent of that of large corporations. A generally broad product spectrum and exports structure with high value-added products.

Justification: The SME sector in emerging economies is not as competitive as in developed Western European economies. Therefore, maintaining and supporting funding is a crucial task for an independent monetary policy, as it is a vulnerable, low-productivity, predominantly domestic-owned SME sector. It is therefore important to ensure that the SME sector is sufficiently competitive and productive when entering the eurozone so that no significant credit crunch is expected even in the downturn in the credit cycle, and it would thus be a smaller task for independent monetary policy. In addition, international experience has shown that lower productivity of SMEs compared to large corporations entails higher inflation on average. Thus, increasing the productivity of the SME sector is also important for joining the euro area, as it will allow a smaller inflation differential. Moreover, it boosts competitiveness if a country's exports portfolio is as diversified as possible (a sufficiently broad spectrum of products and as many export partners as possible) with high value-added products. In times of crisis, this results in a smaller real economy sacrifice due to greater product coverage.

Sufficiently speedy convergence is an important aspect of euro area accession. Productivity basically means how effectively a company can convert its inputs into a final output. There are several metrics available to measure this. One of the most widely used metrics that quantifies value added per employee captures labour productivity.⁷⁵ Another important criterion besides productivity is competitiveness. A national economy is competitive

⁷⁵ In addition to the most frequently cited value added per employee, the so-called total factor productivity as well as value added per hour worked are other indicators.

if it optimally utilises its resources to achieve the highest possible level of welfare that is still sustainable. Improving productivity and increasing competitiveness play a decisive role in convergence. An economy's level of competitiveness and the trend it exhibits are important aspects of the accession. Accession to the currency area also means that the country concerned relinquishes its own national currency, which in practice means that the common monetary policy becomes applicable to the national economy instead of its own, independent monetary policy. In such a situation, it is important that the economy is sufficiently competitive as there are fewer independent instruments available to stimulate economic growth. Therefore, the economy should be competitive upon the entry, and this competitiveness should also be preserved after the accession.

One of the macroeconomic prerequisites for joining the single currency area is that the member state is relatively close to the euro area in terms of development. In order to achieve this, improving the country's productivity looking forward is indispensable. Experience has shown that high-income status can be achieved **primarily through increasing productivity**. Agenor and Canuto (2012) pointed out that the primary source of productivity improvement is a shift towards high-value production and services and domestic innovation as opposed to the imitation of foreign technology. Diversification towards higher value-added sectors can not only bolsters productivity but may also support competitiveness and resilience to external impacts.

An independent monetary policy can play an important role in maintaining and strengthening the access to finance and financing of the SME sector, i.e. this channel of monetary transmission. In many cases, credit cycles have caused credit crunch in the SME sector, resulting in delays in development and investment. In this case, the intervention of independent monetary policy with targeted policies is very important in order to reduce the social loss of the downward sloping credit cycle. This was the case, for example, in Hungary before 2013, when there was an immense need for independent monetary policy steps, such as the Funding for Growth Scheme⁷⁶. In mid-2013, the Magyar Nemzeti Bank launched the **Funding for Growth Scheme** to mitigate the long-standing market turmoil in SME lending, strengthen financial stability and reduce the country's external vulnerability through its independence. The program has made a significant contribution to lifting SMEs' funding constraints and thereby to economic growth. It would not have been possible for a common monetary policy. Thus, SMEs need to be at an appropriate stage of development when entering the single currency area. This appropriate level of development can be measured by their productive, companies will also be less exposed to credit crunch.

The economies of the EU are characterised by significant corporate duality, which is also reflected in the substantial productivity differences between SMEs and large corporations. The positive relationship between level of development and price levels is described by the Penn effect.⁷⁷ As an explanation for the Penn effect, the Balassa-Samuelson effect derives real appreciation primarily from the productivity gap between the internationally tradable goods (industrial) sector and the services sector. In contrast, productivity in services has been increasing at an accelerated rate in the recent past; the premises of the 1960s no longer hold in the new wave of globalisation. The strong duality observed in the corporate sector of the EU economy is primarily related to enterprise size rather than industry characteristics (Chart 4-7). The employment weight of small and medium-sized companies is considerable, but their productivity lags significantly behind large corporations.

⁷⁶ For more detail, see, for example, MNB (2017).

⁷⁷ For more detail, see, for example, Pancaro, C. (2010).



Chart 4-7: Productivity of SMEs vs. large corporations

Source: Eurostat.

From the perspective of euro area accession, expanding the productivity of the SME sector is also important, as it will allow a smaller inflation differential. As demonstrated by Chart 4-8, the lower productivity of SMEs compared to large corporations results in higher inflation on average. One of the most essential nominal criteria for joining the common currency area is the proximity of inflation rates. It is inevitable for an emerging economy to have inflation surplus relative to the more developed countries that serve as a convergence target. Accession is ideal (in this regard) if this inflation surplus is as minimal as possible. If the productivity of the SME sector improves, the inflation surplus, generated by the wage increases in this sector, is not as high as it would have been without the productivity improvements. This is because, along with general growth and rising wages, the pressure to increase prices will be smaller in this sector if their productivity is closer to that of large corporations, as they can cover higher costs from the greater productivity.





Note: Inflation surplus is the average inflation surplus of the countries relative to the euro area in the past 15 years. Source: Eurostat, MNB calculation.

In summary, the improved productivity of the SME sector, and potentially its entry to the export market, could help not only to improve overall productivity but also to support a sustainable growth path. Moreover, at the ideal time of the accession, since the inflation surplus with respect to the euro area economies would be smaller, it ultimately contributes to a more stable and solid macroeconomic environment.

Export structure position

The level of the Hungarian economy's integration had increased continuously even before the accession to the EU.⁷⁸ At the same time, the volume of foreign trade also rose in relation to EU

⁷⁸ It should be noted that it has decreased somewhat in recent years.

Member States using the euro. Since the foreign trade relations are already significant and strong with the countries using the euro (Chart 4-9), accession to the currency area in this case would have less additional effect. Quite simply, because of the European institutional system, trade barriers between the euro area and the Hungarian economy are already minimal.



Chart 4-9: Distribution of Hungarian export sales

Note: Based on 2018 values in EUR. Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

Besides volume, the structure of export is also important. The export structure can be examined from two sides: based on region and product structure. Based on region, it is interesting to analyse this issue, mainly in terms of spillover effects of idiosyncratic country shocks. On the other hand, the product structure deserves attention because an economy is affected by the accession to the currency area in function of the extent to which the given country's export (and import) product structure relies on the price-competitiveness advantage (Chart 4-10). In addition, a more concentrated export structure carries the risk that impulses in some sectors may exert a negative impact on overall national

economic performance. In the following we examine the export structure of the Hungarian economy following the two approaches described above.

The product structure of an economy is also a factor that may provide some guidance about the expected export performance once the national currency is relinquished. When a national economy joins a currency area, it essentially gives up its own national currency, and all advantages associated with it. Overall, for a given country to enter the common currency area, it is more advantageous to have a broader export product portfolio and a wider range of destinations. In this case, the diversity of the product spectrum mitigates the magnitude of potential external market effects.



Note: Based on 2018 data. Source: MNB calculation based on Eurostat data.

4.1.5 Labour market criterion

Criterion summary: The economy should be close to full employment.

Justification: In order to prevent the criteria system of the euro adoption from giving rise to social damage, compliance with fiscal parameters needs to be scheduled appropriately. To this end, there is a need for a labour market criterion that is aimed at the attainment and maintenance of full employment. Accordingly, accession to the euro area with ample fiscal space and a low deficit and debt ratio level should take place when the government has completed its countercyclical task and eliminated cyclical unemployment. In this case, both the countercyclical policy and the fiscal space required in the currency area point to a balanced budget.

Accession to the euro area requires room for manoeuvre in fiscal policies. This latitude must build up in a preferential phase of the economic cycle. It is therefore important that the economy is characterised by full employment at the time of entry, when low deficit and moderate government debt are considered optimal. Although full employment, as a concept of economics, is easy to understand, its practical use and precise quantification are all the more difficult. In particular, it is difficult to estimate a specific numerical value across a wide range of countries. This value also depends on national characteristics and institutional differences. It is therefore important for the euro area that a given national economy should, as far as possible, approach close to full employment within its own set of conditions.⁷⁹

The unemployment rate would be a sensible solution for the measurement of full employment, but it is not enough in itself.

⁷⁹ One possible economic estimate for full employment is to calculate an equilibrium unemployment rate based on inflation aspects. There is a wide range of estimates for this, which also point out that its value may change over time. Estimates vary significantly across countries and can be quantified within a country with a relatively wide range of uncertainty. Examples of such studies include, but are not limited to, Andrei et al. (2016), Botrić (2012), Jump & Stockhammer (2018), Kajuth (2010), Marjanovic et al. (2015), OECD Economic Outlook 2013 and Rusticelli (2014).

The unemployment rate should be examined in conjunction with other labour market indicators: it is also worth considering the activity rate in the analysis. A lower unemployment rate and a higher activity rate are the key to achieving full employment. According to our calculations for Hungary, with an unemployment rate of around 4 per cent (or below), an activity rate of more than 65 per cent can be considered close to full employment.⁸⁰

We have examined unemployment rates in countries that are currently members of the EU but have not joined the euro area as yet, although their accession is expected. Unemployment rates are historically low and declining in all countries, while activity rates are rising (Chart 4-11). At present, these countries are close to meeting these requirements of the criteria system.



Note: EU Member States which are currently not members of the euro area, but their accession is expected. Source: Eurostat.

⁸⁰ The 65 per cent criterion refers to the 15-74 age group. For the 15-64 age group, the Hungarian-specific criterion is 75 per cent.

4.1.6 Developed, stable and competitive financial sector

Criterion summary: a stable and competitive banking sector that is capable of ensuring a balanced financial deepening

Justification: The depth and economic integrity of the financial system are important criteria to comply with before the accession to the monetary union. At the same time, financial depth should also be examined in its cyclical position. Banking sectors struggling with balance sheet imbalances or departing from the economic fundamentals are on an unsustainable path in the long run, and their compliance with the conditions for being mature enough to join the monetary union is only an appearance. Beyond quantitative factors, the competitiveness of the domestic financial institution system – in comparison with the services of European, even non-bank participants – is of crucial importance.

It is particularly important to assess the cyclical position at which the indicators capturing the depth of the financial system⁸¹ take their current values. The depth of the financial sector denotes the size of the financial sector relative to the economy and its role in financing the real economy. It compares the size of a country's banks, financial institutions and financial markets to the performance of the economy. The deepening of the financial sector indicates the improving level, increasing volume and a broader set of financial services. If the credit/GDP ratio reaches 90 per cent of the euro area average but only at cost of significant imbalances, the country is not yet ready to join the monetary union. Empirical evidence shows that, while financial deepening may have a beneficial effect on economic growth and a country's level of develop-

⁸¹ Such as private sector debt-to-GDP.

ment⁸² overall, the cyclical "proliferation" of the financial system may exert a severe negative impact on economic stability. Bank crises, for one, play an important role in this: they are typically preceded by a persistent, positive deviation of lending from its trend (Borio 2014), and they can divert economic output from its original path for years (Valencia and Laeven, 2012). Even regardless of bank crises, however, it can be stated that beyond a certain level, the deepening of finance no longer has any significant positive effect: according to Berkes et al. (2012), this threshold is estimated at 100 per cent of GDP.

Imbalances stemming from lending exhibit numerous symptoms, and the presence of these symptoms must be pinpointed before a potential accession to the monetary union. If a country can achieve compliance with the accession criteria only at a price of cyclical swings, even in the short term, the unsustainable nature of the economic path may give rise to frictions between the country concerned and the economies of the monetary union. Based on historical evidence, the assessment of the cyclical position should focus on the following main symptoms of imbalance:

- the credit gap (i.e. the deviation of private sector debt-to-GDP from the trend) should not reside persistently and significantly in the positive range.
- there should be no signs of overvaluation (asset price bubbles) in the asset markets of the candidate country.

⁸² The deepening of the financial system and broader access to financial services play an important role even beyond boosting general economic development. Mehrotra and Yetman (2015) highlight the monetary and stability aspects of financial inclusion. Firstly, as a result of financial deepening changes in the central bank base rate affect – through banking products – more customers directly; secondly, the greater diversification of the loan portfolio and the growth in deposits exert a positive impact from a stability standpoint. In view of the above it gives reason for concern that financial depth in Hungary falls short of the EU average not only in terms of the loan portfolio, but also in terms of those with banking products.

- banks' balance sheet structure should reflect a healthy financing structure financial institutions should not rely excessively on short-term, non-resident money market resources, and the banking sector's loan-to-deposit ratio and leverage ratio should not be overly high.
- there should be no substantial uncovered foreign currency exposures on the assets side of the banking sector and on the liabilities side of the private sector.

It is an important consideration that, in addition to the banking sector, the economy must have a sufficiently deep capital market to be able to mitigate the adverse consequences of the cyclical fluctuations of the banking system. In the case of excessively bank-oriented economies, the procyclicality of financial institutions may give rise to a credit crunch during a bust, which renders the financing of economic participants impossible – especially in the segment of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

If the difference between the competitiveness of the domestic and non-resident financial institution systems is excessively high, the domestic financial system may fall behind in the competition - a worrisome development also from a stability standpoint. Although initially the "loss" against non-resident banks is more likely to arise primarily among financially aware customers and large corporations (with a relatively easy access to foreign financing even at present), with the increasingly global appearance of FinTech firms nearly all private sector participants might sign up with a non-resident service provider. On the one hand, this may increase Hungarian customers' vulnerability from the viewpoint of a consumer protection - especially in the case of FinTech firms, which are controlled by different regulations - and on the other hand, the repercussions of economic shocks may exert a far more severe impact through non-resident participants. The introduction of the single currency makes cross-border

bank switching of economic participants easier whereby the processes described above accelerate, and the associated risks may amplify.

In order to avoid the rearrangement that entails risks over the long term, there is a need to strengthen the competitiveness of the credit institutions in candidate countries. With the aim of introducing a more complex evaluation of banking sector competitiveness, in 2017 the MNB developed a Banking Sector Competitiveness Index⁸³ for ranking banking sectors along multiple dimensions at the European level. The ranking evaluates individual banking sectors on the basis of two main criteria: according to the qualitative, quantitative and pricing attributes of corporate and household financing on the one hand, and according to the capital attracting capacity of individual sectors on the other hand. Within these two categories, the index values are calculated by using numerous – almost 60 – indicators along various dimensions. The financing side captures the competitiveness of sectors along the dimensions of access, quality and price-setting, while the capital attraction sub-index integrates stability, profitability, operating environment, growth potentials and efficiency. Based on the acquired values in the index, we may conclude that regarding the topics under review, there are significant differences among the countries of the European Union. The disparities identified in competitiveness can be captured in the heterogeneous levels of operating expenses, net interest incomes and access to the services alike.

⁸³ See the Financing branch of the MNB's Banking Sector Competitiveness Index, in particular, the scores achieved in the pillars of price-setting, quality and access (MNB 2019).



Chart 4-12: Net interest income and operating expenses as a ratio of total assets (2018)

Note: HU* denotes as a ratio of total assets the net interest income and operating expenses adjusted for the effect of foreign subsidiaries, and the bank and transaction levy. Source: ECB CBD.

4.1.7 The depth of the financial sector

Criterion summary: The convergence of the financial sector's depth should reach at least 90 per cent of the corresponding value of the euro area.

Justification: The sufficient depth of the financial sector may help prevent increased capital flows from giving rise to reliance on foreign capital, and that the acceleration of capital flows does not lead to excessive credit expansion and procyclical economic processes.

The deepening of the financial sector indicates the improving level, increasing volume and broader alternatives of financial services. Based on the findings of various international studies, financial deepening plays a significant role in the support of economic growth (Rajan and Zingales, 2003, Obstfeld, 1994, King and Levine, 1993, Levine and Zervos, 1998), the reduction of systemic risks and the maintenance of financial stability (Acemoglu and Zilibotti, 1997), as well as the mitigation of poverty and inequalities (Li et al., 1998, Milanovic, 2005, Clarke et al., 2006, Beck et al., 2007). With the intensification of global money market volatility, deeper financial sectors – thanks to the more favourable structure and stronger defence mechanism of the money market – contribute to cushioning the negative effects arising from the volatility and preventing the deepening of the crisis (Acemoglu and Zilibotti, 1997).

The empirical literature proposes numerous indicators for capturing the depth of the financial sector. The general assessment of financial depth can be best captured by the relative size of the financial intermediary sector compared to the economy, which can be measured, for example, by the ratio of the banking sector's liquid liabilities (M2, M3) to GDP (Goldsmith, 1969, Mckinnon, 1973) and similarly, the banking sector assets-to-GDP ratio may also provide a more comprehensive view (World Bank, 2005). Besides the size of the financial system relative to the economy, it may also be useful to monitor the sectorial breakdown of the banking sector's intermediary role. Private credit by deposit-taking banks to GDP gives a more detailed and focused view of the role of bank loans in the financing of the economy (Beck et al., 1999, Mérő, 2003).

The establishment of the monetary union accelerated capital flows between Member States, which was accompanied by the intensification of financial integration.⁸⁴ Upon the entry to the euro area, the financial system of the candidate country must be sufficiently developed ("deep") to ensure that the implementation of the affiliation is mutually advantageous.

⁸⁴ Ingram, 1973, Lane, 2006, Fornaro, 2019.

The sufficient depth of the financial sector may help prevent increased capital flows from giving rise to reliance on foreign capital, and may ensure that the acceleration of capital flows does not lead to excessive credit expansion and procyclical economic processes (Dell'Arricia et al. 2012). It is indispensable for this that the depth of the candidate country's financial system is at least close to the trend observed in the euro area; i.e. that it reaches at least 90 per cent of the euro area average. The private sector credit-to-GDP ratio that captures financial depth falls significantly behind the euro area average in the case of Member States outside of the euro area, but significant heterogeneity can be observed even within the euro area. This ratio is around 85 per cent on average⁸⁵ in euro area Member States, while the average of non-euro area member CEE countries is 46 per cent. Nevertheless, in the case of Hungary there is a need for the further deepening of the financial sector compared to both the euro area and the CEE average.

⁸⁵ Corporate loans amounted to 36 per cent of GDP on average, while household loans reached 49 per cent of GDP.

Chart 4-13: Private sector debt to the credit institution sector as a percentage of annual GDP (2019 Q3)



Note: In the euro area, private sector debt to credit institutions amounts to 85 per cent of GDP on average. The Chart presents 4 categories compared to the average: the upper threshold for category 1 is 42.5 per cent, for category 2 it is 85 per cent, for category 3 it is 123 per cent, while category 4 includes countries where private sector debt exceeds 123 per cent of GDP. Source: ECB.

4.1.8 Available and effective countercyclical policy instruments

Criterion summary: Euro area candidate countries must put in place macro- and microprudential policy instruments and resolution tools that are capable of supporting convergence to the euro area and minimising the risk of asymmetric shocks.

Justification: By increasing shock resilience, policies supporting the maintenance of financial stability contribute to preserving the fiscal space and support the effectiveness of the common monetary policy. Moreover, they facilitate the convergence of the business and financial cycles of Member States.

Macroprudential policy has a key role in mitigating the potentially arising risks in the financial system and in strengthening the shock resilience of Member States. Countercyclical policy instruments mean all policies that support the preservation of financial stability, the maintenance of banks' resilience and the orderly resolution of potential bank crises; moreover, they mitigate the risk of asymmetric shocks. The systemic financial risks accumulated after the euro adoption in the core countries of the euro area and realised during the crisis (In't Veld et al., 2012, Diaz Sanchez and Varoudakis, 2014, Sinn and Valentinyi, 2013) highlighted the importance of a Member State level macroprudential policy (Bielecki et al., 2019). In pre-crisis years, the financing costs of the periphery countries of the euro area sharply decreased. This was accompanied by substantial foreign capital inflows, which gave rise to asset price bubbles. The risks realised during the crisis led to a severe creditor and real economic crisis. As a result of these processes, periphery countries of the euro area faced a more devastating financial crisis than their core country peers, which called attention to the key importance of maintaining financial stability within the euro area and to the significance of proactive macroprudential policy interventions.

In the event of asymmetric shocks sustained by the Member States, the common euro area monetary policy is unable to provide an adequate response to each Member State. As opposed to the common euro area monetary policy, macroprudential policy interventions may be capable of reducing the build-up of systemic risks to financial stability in Member States, mitigating the already accumulated risks, and supporting post-crisis recovery (Quint and Rabanal, 2014, Rubio, 2014). Therefore, in order to offset potential asymmetric shocks, it is key to preserve national control over the macroprudential policy within the euro area and to operate the institutional systems of Member States efficiently. Measuring the effects and evaluating the effectiveness of macroprudential policy tools still pose a challenge to regulatory authorities (ESRB 2019). An effective macroprudential policy is suitable for the management of properly assessed risks. In consideration of macroprudential measures and risk developments, the potential effects of future shock events can be assessed and the effects can be controlled by using the appropriate macroprudential tools. The costs and benefits of the measures should also be taken into account in the analyses. Restraining economic growth through subdued lending can be such a cost; however, a well-functioning macroprudential tool only restrains the borrowing or lending of economic participants exposed to excessive risks, whereby it mitigates the downturn in growth even during a shock event (Adrian et al., 2019, Fukker and Varga, 2020). The best-suited tool for this analysis is the novel Growth-at-Risk model, which empirically measures the effect of financial conditions or systemic risk indicators and macroprudential policies on the distribution of future economic growth. Similar analyses can be performed with macroprudential bank stress tests that are capable of simulating the relationship between bank lending and the real economy relying on structural correlations.

Supporting and supplementing macroprudential regulation, microprudential policies also play a key role in the maintenance of financial stability. The objective of microprudential supervision is to mitigate the idiosyncratic risks of individual institutions and to prevent their excessive risk-taking. In contrast with the systemic approach of macroprudential policies, microprudential policies improve the shock resilience to exogenous risks of individual institutions. Occasionally, systemic macroprudential requirements may exert a less targeted impact with respect to the management of individual banks' risks, while microprudential policies may even reduce the moral hazards arising at the level of individual banks. To benefit the most from the complementarities of micro- and macroprudential policies, to minimise the frictions that may arise between them and to ensure the efficient use of policy instruments it is essential that there is constructive cooperation and information sharing between micro- and macro-level supervision (ECB, 2014). Although following the accession to the euro area the ECB is granted significant powers in respect of bank supervision, the conduct of supervisory procedures and the surveillance of medium-sized and small banks remain within the competence of national authorities. For this reason, having an appropriate microprudential policy framework in place is essential for the accession.

Of the measures designed to reduce the probability of default of systemically important banks and to mitigate the consequences of potential defaults, a properly functioning resolution framework is of crucial importance. This framework should allow authorities to resolve any bank in an orderly manner without severe systemic disruption and without exposing taxpayers to excessive loss (FSB, 2014). Therefore, during the resolution they preserve the institution's functions that are vital to the financial market or to the real economy, and ensure that the losses are absorbed by the shareholders and creditors of the defaulted company in such a manner as if they themselves had become insolvent.

Effective resolution regimes are designed to provide appropriate incentives for banks' responsible risk acceptance, thereby mitigating the effects of potential systemic risks. By reducing potential contagion effects, the orderly resolution of institutions and the maintenance of critical functions also improve the stability of the financial system directly. Consequently, resolution procedures mitigate the economy's potential downturn and increase the leeway of fiscal policy, whereby they also reduce the risk of potential asymmetric shocks. Since national authorities continue to carry out important tasks in relation to the resolution of banks even after the accession, the existence of an effective national framework should be a prerequisite for accession also in the area of resolution.

National institutional systems intended to preserve financial stability in Europe

The concentration of various powers in a single institution allows for harnessing the synergies between the policies and facilitates more efficient coordination and uniform communication between the areas (Osinski et al., 2013, IMF, 2011). The free flow of information between the areas significantly improves their efficiency, both in the phase of risk analysis and identification and of assessment and follow-up. Moreover, coordination between the areas also becomes far more efficient, which contributes to the optimal allocation of supervisory and regulatory tools. Bank crisis management is an area that specifically requires microand macroprudential competences simultaneously. On the one hand, the solvency, liquidity and operating activities must be clearly understood and on the other hand, the extent to which insolvency would jeopardise the stability of the financial system as a whole must be assessed. Consequently, the resolution of potentially insolvent banks can be performed most efficiently by the integrated authority (Calvo et al., 2018). The utility of such a model is increased further by unified, consistent and credible communication and external control: clear, unified messages can be conveyed to the market and to the general public, while the institution ensures more transparent and more efficient operations thanks to its clearly defined scope of responsibilities. Finally, as a result of the concentration of powers in a single institution, the enforcement of national interests at various international forums may become more effective. Accordingly, in relation to the euro area accession it is important to consider the suitability of the institutional system of the policies that are designed to ensure the stability of the financial system.

After the 2008 global crisis, the supervisory framework was reviewed and strengthened in numerous countries. In this context, the countries concerned reconsidered the role of the financial supervisory authority responsible for microprudential policy in the regulatory system, as well as cooperation with the macroprudential authority responsible for the management of systemic risks affecting the financial system as a whole. There are significant differences in international practice as to which authorities exercise microprudential, macroprudential and resolution powers (Chart 4-14). It can be stated in general that a single authority – usually the central bank – exercises all three powers in more than half of the EU Member States. It is also a widespread practice that a single institution is responsible for microprudential supervision and the resolution function, while a different authority is vested with macroprudential powers. In some cases, micro- and macroprudential regulation is concentrated in a single institution, while it is only in Poland where each of the three powers is exercised by a separate authority.

Chart 4-14: Microprudential, macroprudential and resolution powers in European Union Member States (December 2019)



Source: national authorities, ESRB, EBA.

4.1.9 Proposal for the modification of the Maastricht fiscal criteria

Criterion summary: The structural balance dependent on government debt should range between 0 and -2 per cent of GDP and the debt target should be 50 per cent.

Justification: Within a currency area, with the loss of independent monetary policy and in the lack of substantive community budget transfers, the role of fiscal policy gains additional significance. In the event of asymmetric shocks it is important to have sufficient fiscal space to stabilise the economy without jeopardising the sustainability of public finances. Therefore, there is a need for lower deficit and government debt targets than prescribed by the existing criteria, and country-specific factors (debt ratio) and the cyclical fluctuation of the economy should be given more consideration.

Parametric change based on the current system

The fiscal criteria of euro area entry must ensure a stable fiscal position, sufficient flexibility, and the consideration of country-specific factors. According to our proposal, instead of the uniform 3 per cent value the government deficit criterion should be defined in function of the debt ratio. For Member States with a higher debt level – and thus, less sustainable public finances – the deficit target should be a near-equilibrium balance, while for those with a lower debt level a more lenient deficit target might be sufficient. The entry criterion for government debt may be reduced from the current 60 per cent level to 50 per cent, which is also warranted – in addition to the need for sufficient fiscal space – by the debt rule of the Fundamental Law of Hungary. Under the existing regulation, for countries with higher debt moving toward the target at the appropriate pace may be sufficient, but in this case, the deficit criterion is stricter.

Table 4-1: Proposed deficit targets under different government debt levels

Government debt ratio	< 50%	50–90%	90% <
Proposed structural deficit criterion	2%	1%	0%

The economy stabilising capacity of fiscal policy is determined by the fiscal space. Fiscal space is defined as the availability of budgetary room that allows a government to provide resources for a desired purpose without any prejudice to the sustainability of a government's financial position (Heller, 2005). Fiscal policy is capable of wielding a countercyclical effect both in a recession and in a boom period. Sufficient fiscal space becomes especially important in times of crisis; in such cases, on the part of the budget there may be a need to conduct a demand stimulating, deficit increasing fiscal policy. Thus, the fiscal space can be interpreted as a factor pointing to a deficit increase, and the space available can be utilised either by decreasing the incomes of public accounts or by increasing expenditures. On the other hand, appropriate fiscal rules also ensure that the deficit decreases in a favourable economic environment, whereby they once again guarantee sufficient room for manoeuvre for the future.

Within a currency area, with the loss of independent monetary policy and in the lack of substantive community budget transfers, the role of fiscal policy gains additional significance. One of the most important objectives of economic policy is to smooth economic fluctuations; however, since monetary policy is elevated to the level of the community in a currency area, it is unable to influence the economic path of each Member State in a targeted way. If the economic cycles of Member States are synchronised, the common monetary policy may be capable of playing a stabiliser role, but in the case of diverging economic cycles, fiscal steps may become necessary. It is therefore important to have sufficient fiscal space in the event of asymmetric shocks in order to stabilise the economy without jeopardising the sustainability of public finances. However, the budgetary conditions determined by the admission criteria to the euro area are insufficient for this; a higher degree of equilibrium and hence, a lower deficit and a lower debt level are needed.

Based on past experiences, countries in a more balanced fiscal position proved to be more successful later on; therefore, it is expedient to introduce stricter rules than the existing ones. Member States that can be considered successful after the adoption of the euro typically had more stable public finances, and in response to the absence of an independent monetary policy they created sufficient fiscal space to counteract the challenges they faced. Although the deficit criterion proposed by us is tighter than the currently applied 3 per cent, in the case of countries with medium and low debt levels it is lower than the medium-term budgetary objective (MTO) currently prescribed for euro area Member States.

The Maastricht entry rules have been inflexible so far in that they did not take into account the significance of cyclical fluctuations of the economy. The existing entry criteria pertained to the ESA balance, which is strongly influenced by the cyclical position of the economy. Therefore, we suggest that the new criterion refer to the structural balance, i.e. an indicator that excludes the cyclical effect of the economy and the idiosyncratic factors emerging in the given year.

The entry rules were too lenient with respect to the debt level even though it is an important factor of the leeway; therefore, in our opinion high debt levels must be offset by lower deficits. The fiscal space is determined by the budget deficit and government debt together, but in the medium term, debt plays a more important role. The existing criteria prescribed for candidates countries a uniform 3 per cent government deficit figure irrespective of the debt ratio. Our proposal for the modification of the Maastricht convergence criteria takes into account the level of government debt as a country-specific factor. A debt ratio above 90 per cent – which is considered high – necessitates a balanced budget, while in the case of a lower debt ratio in the range of 50–90 per cent of GDP the annual deficit target would be 1 per cent. As regards debt levels below 50 per cent, a deficit of 2 per cent would be permitted. As a result, the budget deficit may partly replenish the leeway lost on the debt side.

Besides the creation of fiscal space, the persistent decline in interest rates also calls for the reduction of the deficit target. In the early 2000s, the interest burden on the debts of EU Member States was substantially higher, which warranted a relatively strict primary balance in order to comply with the 3 per cent deficit threshold. Between 2000 and 2018, however, the interest expenditures of EU Member States decreased by 1.1 percentage points of GDP, even though the average debt level rose by around 20 percentage points in the meantime across the EU. Assuming unchanged debt levels, the implied interest burden would have decreased even more, by 1.7 per cent of GDP, which – under the existing Maastricht deficit criterion – allows for a considerably looser primary balance (Chart 4-15); consequently, the moderation in the interest expenditures of the budget points to a revision of the deficit target.

Chart 4-15: Primary balance levels required for the attainment of the 3 per cent deficit target in EU Member States in 2000 and 2018, and the average value of country groups formed on the basis of debt levels in the same years



Source: European Commission, MNB.

Numerous fiscal rules must be changed after the euro area accession, and a number of new rules must be adopted as well; therefore, the entry criteria should be approximated to the rules that come into force after the accession. The Stability and Growth Pact defines the medium-term budgetary objective (MTO) of euro area members at maximum –1 per cent of GDP. Entering into effect in 2013, the Treaty on Stability, Coordination and Governance in the Economic and Monetary Union (TSCG) tightened this value even further to –0.5 per cent of GDP if the debt ratio exceeds 60 per cent. While Hungary is among the signatories of the TSCG, the fiscal compact of the Treaty was not ratified by Hungary. With the introduction of the euro the fiscal compact, as well, would become binding; derogation from the compact is permitted to euro area Member States only in exceptional cases.

Alternative fiscal framework: from stock indicators to the expenditure benchmark

Fiscal rules are primarily required to improve the sustainability of debt in such a way that allows the budget to fulfil its stabilising function simultaneously at the level of the national economies. The switch between these dual tasks should be properly managed by the set of rules. This is a challenge in itself, but sometimes it is even coupled with the objective to improve the quality of the budget as well. The fiscal framework of the European Union envisages increasingly complex solutions to resolve these tasks. In spite – or perhaps because – of this, the mechanism described above does not work properly and is therefore subject to considerable criticism.

The analysis published in August 2019 by the European Fiscal Board is an apt summary of this criticism. Excessive reliance on unobservable indicators – such as potential growth – is a source of unnecessary complexity in the functioning of the rules. As these are often revised ex post; it may be discovered subsequently that a fiscal policy that had been intended to be countercyclical originally was in fact procyclical. Excessive focus on annual variables instead of long-term indicators is another problem. The European Fiscal Board also found that the flexibility afforded to the Commission and to the Council does not function properly in the application of the rules; decision-making takes a long time, which may result in a procyclical, rather than countercyclical, fiscal policy.

Various proposals have been made in recent years for the simplification and improved operation of the framework. A common element of the proposals is a new focus on the significant role of debt and the net expenditure rule.

The debt ratio is a fundamental indicator of the sustainability of the budget. In order to prevent sustainability considerations from clashing with the stabilising function, similarly to the existing regulation, there is a need for an opt-out clause, so that the emergence of procyclical fiscal policies can be avoided in times of economic downturns. However, discretional fiscal easing – the effects of which go beyond the operation of automatic fiscal stabilisers – does not reverse automatically like automatic stabilisers. Easing measures should be phased out in parallel with the gradual recovery of economic growth following the trough of the crisis; moreover, accumulated debts should be deleveraged. Unfortunately, failure to achieve the latter – as happens all too often – gives rise to the so-called "ratchet effect", when only the deficit is restored after a crisis, while accumulated debt remains on the balance sheets. It is for the avoidance of this scenario that we propose the debt ratio to be the ultimate anchor in the new fiscal criteria.

It must be decided which specific level of the debt ratio should be identified as a ceiling for those with lower debt ratios and as a target for those with higher debt ratios. There is also a need to define the permitted pace of the downward shift, how to support its achievement by a rule, and what kind of a deceleration mechanism can be activated in case of an increase in the debt ratio. All this is related to the definition of the debt ratio, which raises two kinds of problems. The first question to decide is whether gross government debt is a suitable stock indicator, or should we consider the use of another alternative of gross government debt? The simplest and most transparent alternative of gross government debt is debt less deposits (i.e. net debt), which excludes the bias stemming from liquidity fluctuations.⁸⁶ Secondly, the numerator of the debt ratio includes actual GDP rather than potential output; in other words, at high debt levels, the cyclical swings of the economy may give rise to bias in annual debt ratio developments.

The extremely diverse debt ratios of EU Member States may call for the definition of country-specific targets/ceilings (European

⁸⁶ If other liabilities and receivables were also taken into account, debt reduction deriving from proceeds of privatisation could be stripped out, but the evaluation of such stocks is so uncertain that this does not offer a realistic alternative.

Fiscal Board, 2019). In our opinion, in case of a perceivable debt reduction these country-specific values could be reviewed in the medium term.

Diverging debt ratios would not only necessitate the review of targets, but also the country-specific definition of debt reduction paths (European Fiscal Board, 2019). For the purposes of designating and backtesting the debt reduction path, difficulties may arise from the abovementioned bias, i.e. that the debt ratio includes actual GDP instead of potential GDP. In our opinion, it would be a viable alternative to define the debt ratio with a smoothed version (ten-year average) of potential output in the future, similar to the expenditure rule currently applied in the European Union. Another alternative would involve the introduction of ranges on both sides of the country-specific debt target/ceiling, and the consequences will be linked to the breach of these ranges (depending on the direction of the breach).

The best tool for the achievement of the debt target is the rule on expenditures adjusted for tax measures (hereinafter: net expenditure benchmark). According to the recommendation of the European Fiscal Board (2019), besides the debt rule, this benchmark should replace the remaining elements of the complex framework. This has been proposed by many policymakers both at the national and at the EU level already.⁸⁷ This indicator is already included in the EU framework; in addition to the estimated effect of the tax measure, it also adjusts for interests (primary expenditure), unemployment benefits, expenditures financed from EU funds and certain one-off items. With the exception of the latter items, these adjustments are intended to separate factors that are within the discretionary decision-making competence of budgetary planning from those that are typically determined by other processes (interest, EU funds, economic cycle, and any fluctuations in tax revenues that cannot be attributed to the cycle or to any measure). Consequently, changes in the thus defined

⁸⁷ Ódor, L.– P. Kiss, G., 2011, Ódor, L. – P. Kiss G., 2014.

indicator are a fairly good indication of the decisions and responsibility of fiscal policy.

The net expenditure benchmark would permit adjusted expenditures to grow at a maximum rate consistent with the smoothed version (ten-year average) of potential GDP. The expenditure rule would enable automatic fiscal stabilisers to operate undisturbed once the debt target has been achieved. In order to ensure the implementation of additional discretional measures in the event of a recession, there is a need to integrate further reserves and room for manoeuvre.

The integration of reserves may be essential because revisions of potential GDP represent high-risk elements of the rule. It could be discovered that net expenditures had grown at a faster rate than justified for many years, and the retrospective adjustment of this cumulated wedge may necessitate substantial expenditure cuts or tax increases. In the opinion of the European Fiscal Board (2019), the ten-year average is less sensitive to revisions; in reality, however, almost the entire period – including the average – may move in tandem with the revision. The solution could be the application of an adjusted ten-year average, where this value could be adjusted for the average of historic revisions. Accordingly, the annual growth in net expenditures would become more subdued, and the allocation of this reserve could minimise the cumulated retrospective adjustment.

Table 4-2 shows Maastricht 2.0, i.e. the proposed and extended set of criteria. The price stability and interest rate convergence criteria in the table differs from Maastricht 1.0 to the extent that the reference countries may only include Member States with positive inflation. New targets have been set for price stability requirements and fiscal criteria. The other criteria have been proposed by the MNB as they do not appear in Maastricht 1.0.

Table 4-2:	The	amended	and	extended	set	of	criteria
(Maastricht 2.0)							

Criterion	Target value				
I. Nominal anchors					
Price stability ¹	The unweighted arithmetic mean of the three EU member states with the lowest positive HICP inflation rate +1.5 percentage points at most.				
Interest rate convergence ²	The unweighted arithmetic mean of the three EU member states with the lowest positive HICP inflation rate +2.0 percentage points at most.				
Exchange rate stability	3-5 years ³				
II. Adequate phase of convergence					
Real economic convergence ⁴ (per capita GDP (PPS))	> 90%				
Wage convergence⁴ (average wages (PPS))	> 90%				
Convergence in the depth of the financial sector ^{4,5}	> 90%				
III. Synchronized business and financial cycles between Hungary and the euro area					
Synchronized business cycles ⁶	> 0.7				
Synchronized financial cycles ⁷	> 0.7				
IV. Competitive corporate sector, labour market and products					
Labour productivity of SMEs ⁸	> 50%				
Labour market	Close to full employment				
Export structure, product variety	Diversification, high added-value products				
V. Developed, stable and competitive financial sector					
MNB Banking System Competitiveness Index (BSCI) ⁹	Competitive banking sector				
VI. Effecvie, counter-cyclical economic policy space					
Long-term structural deficit	A maximum of 0%, 1% or 2% based on the government debt ratio				
Public debt-to-GDP	< 50% or sufficiently decreasing				
Prudential policies	Appropriate set of instruments				

- ¹ Average value of the year-on-year harmonized consumer price index in the last year.
- ² Average 10-year government bond yield in the last year.
- ³ Applicant countries should not have devalued the central rate of their euro pegged currency during the previous 3-5 years, and for the same period the currency stability shall be deemed to have been stable without "severe tensions". As a third requirement, participation in the exchange-rate mechanism for 3-5 consecutive years is expected.
- ⁴ In comparison to the euro area average.
- ⁵ Credit-to-GDP ratio.
- ⁶ Output gap correlation compared to eurozone.
- ⁷ Credit-to-GDP correlation since Hungary's accession in 2004.
- ⁸ Gross value added per capita in comparison to non-SMEs.
- ⁹ In accordance with its financial stability mandate, the MNB has developed its own Banking Sector Competitiveness Index (BSCI). Based on the indicator, the areas most in need of improvement are access to bank loans, corporate confidence and the average APRC spread on loans to households.

Source: Eurostat, MNB.

Hungary's euro maturity in light of Maastricht 1.0 and 2.0

Dávid Berta – Balázs Kóczián – Laura Komlóssy – Szabolcs Pásztor

Since its accession to the EU, the Hungarian economy has displayed a variable rate of convergence. The Maastricht criteria determine the current level of euro maturity in five, time-varying indicators based on which, Hungary's euro maturity shows a mixed picture. Amid a balanced rate of convergence, the Hungarian economy fails to comply with the price stability and exchange rate stability criteria, but it has achieved interest rate convergence. Thanks to a disciplined fiscal policy, the government deficit criterion has been met, but the shedding of previously accumulated government debt is a time-consuming process. On the whole, Hungary has not yet matured to adopt the euro, but on the basis of previous chapters, even the full compliance with the original Maastricht criteria would not be sufficient to assess the preparedness for a possible entry into the euro area.

The MNB has defined a set of criteria which reflects the criteria for optimal accession better than the original Maastricht Treaty. The modified and expanded criteria are summarized as the Maastricht 2.0 criteria. Modification implies changing the original rules, while under the expansion, new euro maturity requirements are introduced in five additional areas, namely achieving a proper phase of convergence, synchronised business and financial cycles, various competitiveness indicators, a developed financial sector, and available and effective countercyclical policies. Once again, Hungary complies with only a part of the Maastricht 2.0 criteria. This reconfirms that Hungary is not yet ready for the adoption of the euro, and at the same time designates the possible development directions for the Hungarian economy.

4.2.1 Maastricht 1.0

With respect to the inflation criterion, Hungary fails to comply with the Maastricht Treaty partly because of the low inflation environment, and partly because of the excess inflation stemming from real convergence. The objective of the inflation criterion is to preserve price stability in the euro area. In accordance with the Balassa-Samuelson effect, converging countries usually have excess inflation, which explains the asymmetric nature of the criterion. Based on the criterion, inflation in candidate countries may not exceed by more than 1.5 percentage points - as measured by the harmonised index of consumer prices - the average price increase recorded in the previous year in the three EU Member States with the lowest inflation rates and accordingly, only countries with suitably low inflation rates can enter the euro area. In the period under review (November 2018 - October 2019) the three lowest average inflation rates were recorded in Portugal (0.38 per cent), Greece (0.53 per cent) and Cyprus (0.67 per cent). The unweighted arithmetic mean of the indicators is 0.52 per cent, which - due to the current low inflation environment - is far below the European Central Bank's inflation target. The criterion threshold is therefore 2.02 per cent which, despite the permitted 1.5 percentage point excess inflation, is just above the ECB's target. Hungary's inflation rate was 3.29 per cent in the same period, more than 1 percentage point above the threshold. Evidently, however, if price increases were at a pace around the ECB's target in the three EU Member States recording the "most disciplined" inflation, Hungary would meet the inflation criterion. In parallel with economic convergence, Hungarian inflation has been residing within the central bank tolerance band for nearly the past three years, which had been determined taking into account excess inflation stemming from convergence. By and large, Hungarian inflation is consistent with the fundamentals of convergence, but in the current low inflation environment Hungary does not meet the criterion required for EU accession.

Hungary has been characterised by low yields in recent years, in compliance with the interest rate convergence prescribed in the Maastricht Treaty. The objective of the long-term yield criterion is to keep the deviation of intra-EA government bond yields at low levels. After the yield convergence following the adoption of the euro, yields displayed significant divergence in the euro area during the sovereign debt crisis. This was primarily caused by the sharp rise in the yields of Greece, Portugal, Ireland, Spain and Cyprus. In the period between October 2018 and September 2019, benchmark countries for the Maastricht yield criterion happened to be Portugal (1.07 per cent), Greece (3.24 per cent) and Cyprus (1.45 per cent) - the EU Member States recording the lowest inflation rate. The unweighted arithmetic mean of the yields is 1.92 per cent, while the permitted yield differential is 2.0 percentage points in the positive direction, bringing the value of the criterion to 3.92 per cent. 10-year Hungarian government bond yield remained low in the past few years and stood at 2.8 per cent in the review period. Therefore, Hungary complies with the Maastricht yield criterion.

Government deficit was low in 2018 and is expected to remain at low levels in the coming years as well; consequently, Hungary also complies with the budget criterion. The objective of the criterion is to ensure a prudent fiscal policy, one that also helps contain the growth of government debt. According to the Maastricht deficit criterion, budget deficit may not exceed 3 per cent of GDP at current prices in the previous, and the following two years. Hungary's budget deficit was above 3 per cent of GDP for the first seven years following its 2004 EU accession. As a result, Hungary was already subject to the excessive deficit procedure in 2004, which lasted until June 2013. In 2018, budget deficit amounted to 2.3 per cent. According to forecasts by the MNB and other organisations, deficit will continue to decrease on the medium run, which means that Hungary has been complying with the criterion since 2013.
Public debt is declining. By 2022, it is projected to reach the Maastricht criterion threshold of 60 per cent. The objective of the government debt criterion is to prevent an excessive buildup of debt, which allows for financing the government at favourable conditions and reduces interest expenses. In accordance with the debt criterion, gross government debt in the previous year may not exceed 60 per cent of GDP at market prices and if it does, it must at least be "sufficiently diminished and must be approaching the reference value at a satisfactory pace". Approaching the reference value "at a satisfactory pace" is quantified by the 1/20 debt rule, requiring the states in breach of 60 per cent to deliver - either for the backward- or forward-looking 3-year period⁸⁸ – an annual debt-to-GDP ratio reduction of at least 5 per cent (i.e. 1/20th) of the part of the benchmark value in excess of the 60 per cent limit. In accordance with the debt rule laid down in the Fundamental Law, Hungary's debt may not exceed 50 per cent of GDP and in addition, it may not increase until the 50 per cent limit is reached. In 2018, government debt amounted to 70.2 per cent of GDP. According to the MNB's forecast, on an annual basis between 2019 and 2021 the debt ratio may decrease by 2.6 percentage points on average. As a result of the dynamic reduction, the 60 per cent Maastricht criterion may be formally achieved by 2022.

Regarding exchange rate stability, Hungary does not fulfill the Maastricht criterion. In February 2008, Hungary transitioned to a floating exchange rate regime from its previous exchange rate band regime. Moreover, since Hungary is not a member of ERM, the exchange rate criterion is not satisfied.

⁸⁸ The 3-year backward- or forward-looking period designates the previous three years or the previous and the next two years, respectively.

Criterion	Target value	Hungary	Source	Is the criterion fulfilled?
Price stability ¹	< 2.0% ²	3.3%	Eurostat	No
Long-term interest rates ³	< 3.9 % ⁴	2.8%	Eurostat	Yes
Disciplined fiscal policy⁵	< 3%	2.3%6,7	MNB	Yes
Sustainable public finances	< 60%	70.2%6,8	MNB	Decreases dynamically ⁹ , may be formally met by 2022
Exchange rate stability	2 years ¹⁰	Floating exchange rate	MNB	No

Table 4-3: Fulfilment of the Maastricht criteria (Maastricht 1.0)

¹ Average value of the year-on-year harmonized consumer price index between November 2018 and October 2019.

² The three EU member states with the lowest HICP inflation rates in the period under review are Portugal (0.38 per cent), Greece (0.53 per cent) and Cyprus (0.67 per cent), the unweighted arithmetic mean of which is 0.5 per cent. The HICP of applicant member states shall not exceed this by more than 1.5 percentage points.

³ Average 10-year government bond yield between October 2018 and September 2019.

- ⁴ Average yields of the three EU member states with the lowest HICP inflation rates in the period under review are Portugal (1.07 per cent), Greece (3.24 per cent) and Cyprus (1.45 per cent), the unweighted arithmetic mean of which is 1.9 per cent. The average yield of applicant member states shall not exceed this by more than 2.0 percentage points.
- ⁵ Deficit according to the ESA balance.
- ⁶ 2018 data.
- ⁷ According to the MNB's forecast presented in the December 2019 Inflation Report, in 2019 and 2020 the deficit will amount to 1.7-1.8 per cent and 0.4-1.2 per cent, respectively.
- ⁸ According to the MNB's forecast presented in the December 2019 Inflation Report, between 2020 and 2022 government debt may decrease by 2.6 percentage points annually.
- 9 According to the MNB's forecast presented in the December 2019 Inflation Report, by 2022 government debt will drop below 60 per cent, i.e. it will formally comply with the criterion.
- ¹⁰ Applicant countries should not have devalued the central rate of their euro pegged currency during the previous two years, and for the same period the currency stability shall be deemed to have been stable without "severe tensions". As a third requirement, participation in the exchange-rate mechanism for two consecutive years is expected.

Source: Eurostat, MNB.

4.2.2 Maastricht 2.0

Among nominal anchors, price stability and interest rate convergence criteria have not changed from Maastricht 1.0 – as inflation was positive in all Member States during the period under review –, whereas the exchange rate stability target has changed on the basis of the MNB's proposal. Therefore, Hungary still fails to meet the price stability and exchange rate stability criteria, although it continues to fulfil the interest rate convergence criterion. In the rest of the chapter, we present Hungary's compliance with the new criteria proposed by the MNB.

Despite the convergence, GDP per capita at purchasing power parity and the average wage are far below the target value determined at 90 per cent of the euro area average. Based on Eurostat data, Hungary's per capita GDP at purchasing power parity amounted to 66 per cent of the euro area average. As regards wage convergence, this ratio is 60 per cent; therefore, there is even more room for convergence to the euro area in the case of wages.

Correlation between Hungary and the euro area is satisfactory regarding real economic cycles. Between output gaps measured as a percentage of potential GDP, there has been strong correlation between Hungary and the euro area since Hungary's accession to the euro area. Simultaneous correlation coefficient is around 0.7, placing Hungary in the first third among the countries of the Central and Eastern European region in the strength of the correlation.

The correlation of financial cycles with euro area Member States is sufficiently strong. Hungary has the highest correlation with periphery countries, but there is still a leeway compared to the most developed, core countries of the euro area. Although correlation coefficient between Hungary and core countries of the euro area was above 0.7 in the previous year, there was no further convergence, thus synchronisation between the financial cycles fluctuates around 0.7. Despite the convergence, labour productivity of small and medium-sized enterprises falls short of that of large corporations, it is primarily among microenterprises where there is room for improvement. Gross value added by SMEs amounted to HUF 11,000 billion, while the corresponding value of non-SME enterprises was HUF 13,000 billion in 2018. The number of employees was 2 million and 1.1 million, respectively, bringing gross value added per capita to HUF 5.5 million and 12 million, respectively. Accordingly, the labour productivity ratio of SMEs is slightly below the required 50 per cent level. It can also be observed that efficiency as measured by labour productivity increases in parallel with company size. Therefore, microenterprises – whose productivity falls short of the SME average by nearly 30 per cent – need to be developed primarily.

The low level of the unemployment rate is consistent with the country-specific criterion defined by the MNB, but further improvement is needed in terms of labour market activity. Numerous measures have been adopted in Hungary in the recent years in support of the labour market, the most important of which is the reduction of the taxes on labour, which contributed significantly to improving the labour force participation rate. As a result of favourable economic developments and the measures adopted, the unemployment rate dropped below 4 per cent in 2018. Unemployment, therefore, is sufficiently low, but the participation rate is still below the 65 per cent threshold specified for Hungary.

The competitiveness of the Hungarian banking sector can only be considered average, thus the financial sector needs further structural developments. Due to the importance of allocating funds efficiently, the banking sector's level of development plays a crucial role in a country's competitiveness. Financial depth in Hungary falls short of the EU average not only in terms of the volume of the loan portfolio, but also in terms of economic actors having any banking products. At present, the size of the bond market and the equity market's level of development both fall far behind that of the euro area. However, operating, risk and other costs hinder the reduction of interest rate spreads. Sectorial diversification of exports is roughly consistent with the level observed in euro area countries. Export sector concentration is an important criterion also from the aspects of growth and vulnerability. Firstly, a suitably diversified export structure facilitates convergence, and secondly, potential shocks affect only a smaller portion of exports and thus they do not necessitate currency devaluations in support of the export sector as a whole. The concentration of Hungarian exports – also in consideration of a more detailed breakdown of machinery sectors – is largely consistent with the level observed in euro area countries, which may support the introduction of the single currency.

The low domestic value added of Hungarian exports indicates Hungary's developmental lag, based on which euro adoption is not yet justified. However, the extent to which domestic market participants generate value in the export production of certain countries vs. the value generated by imports may be indicative of the domestic economy's level of development. Based on the latest relevant OECD databases, Hungary is a relative laggard in the European ranking and although countries following Hungary are euro area Member States, there are numerous countries with higher domestic value added than Hungary that have not yet introduced the euro either.

Budgetary developments in Hungary only partly comply with the proposed criteria. Structural fiscal deficit exceeds the threshold included in our suggestions that is applicable to Hungary, however, gross public debt, despite its level being higher than 50 per cent of GDP, is decreasing at a satisfactory pace.

In respect of the identification and management of systemic risks in the financial sector, Hungary exhibits an outstanding activity both by EU and regional standards, thereby supporting the country's shock resilience and convergence to euro area Member States.

As a result of the Act on the Magyar Nemzeti Bank⁸⁹ entering into

⁸⁹_http://njt.hu/njtlink.php?njtcp=ee9eg0ed3em4er5ei0dx3cj4cy1bm4dw7eh4dv1eb-4dw1cj8bx1cc8bz5ca8cc1ce6bm9en8dv7eh8dw3dx8cj1by4bd

force in 2013, the MNB was expanded both in terms of its powers and organisation. With the integration of supervisory powers and the exercise of resolution-related administrative duties and macroprudential powers, the central bank was vested with a broad range of competences.

- A new, independent element emerged in central bank decision-making: the active and proactive use of macroprudential policy. In respect of Hungary, the calibration of macroprudential tools is proactive, primarily aimed at risk prevention. As a result, the severity of negative shocks is expected to be limited, and the potential downward effect also supports the maintenance of a healthy growth path, i.e. it reduces the overheatedness of the economy.
- The organisational structure of the MNB's Supervision has been transformed in recent years; new supervisory methodologies, procedures, indicators, supervisory instruments and analytical frameworks have been introduced. The essentially audit-oriented approach in place before 2013 was replaced by a supervisory approach that puts continuous surveillance in the foreground, which is an improvement both in terms of quality and the level of security.
- It also strengthened financial stability that **Hungary was among the first countries to adopt the European Union's framework** that was designed in 2014 on the basis of global standards and **aimed at the resolution of credit institutions and investment firms.** In this context, the MNB draws up a resolution plan for each institution with a view to getting prepared for the maintenance of the critical functions of institutions that are insolvent or likely to become insolvent while minimising the costs borne by clients and taxpayers. In addition, in November 2018 the MNB published its methodology on prescribing the minimum requirement pertaining to regulatory capital and to liabilities eligible for write-down or conversion (MREL).

Table 4-4: Fulfilment of the criteria proposed by the MNB (Maastricht 2.0)

Criterion	Target value	Hungary	Source	Is the criterion fulfilled?
I. Nominal anchors				
Price stability ¹	< 2.0% ²	3.3%	Eurostat	No
Long-term interest rates ³	< 3.9 % ⁴	2.8%	Eurostat	Yes
Exchange rate stability	3-5 years⁵	Floating exchange rate	MNB	No
II. Adequate phase of converger	nce			
Real economic convergence ⁶ (per capita GDP (PPS))	> 90%	66 % ⁷	Eurostat	No
Wage convergence ⁶ (average wage (PPS))	> 90%	60% ⁸	European Commis-	No
Convergence in the depth of the financial sector ^{6,9}	> 90%	39 % ⁷	World Bank, MNB	No
III. Synchronized business and f	inancial cycles	between Hungary a	and the eu	ro area
Synchronized business cycles ¹⁰	> 0.7	approx. 0.7	Eurostat	Yes
Synchronized financial cycles ¹¹	> 0.7	approx. 0.7	World Bank	Yes
IV. Competitive corporate sector	r, labor market	and products		
SME labor productivity ratio ¹²	> 50%	46%7	KSH**	No
Country-specific unemployment rate*	< 4%	3.7%7	KSH	Yes
Country-specific participation rate*	>65% (>75%)	62.5% (71.9%) ⁷	KSH	No
Export structure, product variety	Diversification, high added- value products	Further diversifica- tion and an increase in do- mestic added value are necessary	OECD	No
V. Developed, stable and compe	etitive financia	l sector		
MNB Banking System Competi- tiveness Index ¹³ (BSCI)	Competitive banking sector	Further steps are re- quired that promote competitiveness	MNB	No
VI. Effective counter-cyclical e	conomic policy	space		
Long-term structural deficit	A maximum of 0%, 1% or 2% based on government debt	> 1%	IMF ¹⁴	No
Public debt-to-GDP	< 50% or sufficiently decreasing	70.2 % ²	MNB	Yes
Prudential policies	Appropriate set of instruments	Available	MNB ¹⁵	Yes

Note:**KSH: Hungarian Central Statistical Office.

- ¹ Average value of the year-on-year harmonized consumer price index between November 2018 and October 2019.
- ² The three EU member states with the lowest positive HICP inflation rates in the period under review are Portugal (0.38 per cent), Greece (0.53 per cent) and Cyprus (0.67 per cent), the unweighted arithmetic mean of which is 0.5 per cent. The HICP of applicant member states shall not exceed this by more than 1.5 percentage points.
- ³ Average 10-year government bond yield between October 2018 and September 2019.
- ⁴ Average yields of the three EU member states with the lowest positive HICP inflation rates in the period under review are Portugal (1.07 per cent), Greece (3.24 per cent) and Cyprus (1.45 per cent), the unweighted arithmetic mean of which is 1.9 per cent. The average yield of applicant member states shall not exceed this by more than 2.0 percentage points.
- ⁵ Applicant countries should not have devalued the central rate of their euro pegged currency during the previous 3-5 years, and for the same period the currency stability shall be deemed to have been stable without "severe tensions". As a third requirement, participation in the exchange-rate mechanism for 3-5 consecutive years is expected.
- ⁶ In comparison to the euro area average.
- ⁷ 2018 data.
- ⁸ 2017 data.
- 9 Credit-to-GDP ratio.
- ¹⁰ Output gap correlation to eurozone.
- ¹¹ Credit-to-GDP correlation since Hungary's accession in 2004.
- ¹² Gross value added per capita in comparison to non-SMEs.
- ¹³ In accordance with its financial stability mandate, the MNB has developed its own Banking Sector Competitiveness Index (BSCI). Based on the indicator, the areas most in need of improvement are access to bank loans, corporate confidence and the average APRC spread on loans to households.
- ¹⁴ According to the IMF Article IV country report.
- ¹⁵ The MNB's Macroprudential Report (2018).

*The target value refers to the 15-74 age group for Hungary. For comparison, values regarding the 15-64 age group are written in brackets.

Source: Eurostat, European Commission, OECD, The World Bank, KSH, MNB.

References

Acemoglu, D. – Zilibotti, F. (1997): *Was Prometheus unbound by chance? Risk, diversification, and growth*. Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 105 (4), pp. 709-751. August. University of Chicago Press

Adrian, T – Shin, H. (2010): *Financial intermediaries and monetary economics*. In: B. Friedman, M. Woodford (Eds.), Handbook of Monetary Economics, vol. 3, North Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 601-650.

Adrian, Tobias, Nina Boyarchenko és Domenico Giannone (2019), "Vulnerable Growth". American Economic Review, Vol. 109, No. 4, April 2019

Agenor, P-R. – Canuto, O. (2012): *Middle-income growth traps*. Policy Research Working Paper Series 6210, The World Bank.

Andrei, A., Galupa, A. & Georgescu, I. (2016): *Potential Output Estimate Using a Grey Production Function Approach*. Journal of Grey System. 29.

Asztalos, P. – Horváth, G. – Krakovský, Š. – Tóth, T. (2017): Resolving Conflicts in Measuring Banking System Competitiveness – MNB Banking System Competitiveness Index. *Financial and Economic Review*, Vol. 16, Issue 3, pp. 5–31

Beck, T.– Demirguc-Kunt, A.– Levine, R. (1999): A new database on financial development and structure. World Bank Working Papers, No. 2146.

Beck, T. – Demirguc-Kunt, A. – Levine, R. (2007): *Finance, inequality and the poor*. Journal of Economic Growth, Vol. 12 (1), pp. 27–49.

Berkes, E. G. – Panizza, U. – Arcand, J. (2012): Too Much Finance? IMF Working Paper, No. 12/161, International Monetary Fund.

Bielecki M, M Brzoza-Brzezina, M Kolasa, and K Makarski (2019), "Could the boombust in the eurozone periphery have been prevented?" Journal of Common Market Studies 57(2): 336-352.

Borio, C. (2014): *The financial cycle and macroeconomics: What have we learnt?* Journal of Banking&Finance, Vol. 45, August 2014, pp. 182-198.

Borio, C. – Furfine, C. – Lowe, P. (2001): *Procyclicality of the financial system and financial stability: issues and policy options*. In: Marrying the macro- and micro-prudential dimensions of financial stability". BIS Papers, No. 1, March, pp. 1–57.

Borio, C. (2014): The financial cycle and macroeconomics: What have we learnt? Journal of Banking&Finance, Vol. 45, August 2014, pp. 182-198.

Botrić, V. (2012): NAIRU Estimates for Croatia. Journal of Economics and Business, Vol. 30, No. 1, 2012, pp. 163-180.

Brunnermeier, M. – Crockett, A. – Goodhart, C. – Hellwig, M. – Persaud, A. – Shin, H. (2009): *The fundamental principles of financial regulation*. Geneva Reports on, the World Economy, No. 11.

Calvo, D. – Crisanto, J.C. – Hohl, S. – Gutiérrez, O. P. (2018): "Financial supervisory architecture: what has changed after the crisis? ", FSI Insight on policy implementation No. 8., Financial Stability Institute

Cassola, N., Kok, C., & Mongelli, F. P. (2019). The ECB after the crisis: existing synergies among monetary policy, macroprudential policies and banking supervision. ECB Occasional Paper, (237).

Clarke, G.R.G. – Xu, L.C. – Zou, H-F. (2006): *Finance and income inequality: what do the data tell us*? Southern Economic Journal, Vol. 72 (3), pp. 578–596.

Danielsson, J. – Shin, H.S. –Zigrand, J-P. (2004): *The impact of risk regulation on price dynamics*. Journal of Banking & Finance, Vol. 28 (5), pp. 1069-1087.

Darvas, Zs – Szapáry, Gy. (2004): Business Cycle Synchronization in the Enlarged EU. Open Economies Review 19(1) p. 1-19, Februar 2008.

Darvas, Zs. – Vadas, G. (2005): New Method for Combining Detrending Techniques with Application to Business Cycle Synchronization of the New EU Members. Magyar Nemzeti Bank Working Paper No. 2005/5.

Dell' Arriccia, G. – Igan, D. – Laeven, L. – Tong, H. (2012): *Policies for macrofinancial stability: how to deal with credit booms*. IMF Discussion Note, April.

Diaz Sanchez, J L és A Varoudakis (2014), "Tracking the causes of Eurozone external imbalances: New evidence", VoxEU.org, 6 February.

ECB (2014): Financial Stability Review, May 2014. Online: <u>https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/fsr/financialstabilityreview201405en.pdf</u>. Downloaded: 13 December 2019

Eickmer, S. – Breitung, J. (2005): *How synchronised are central and east European economies with the euro area? Evidence from structural factor model*. Deutsche Bundesbank Discussion Paper No 20/2005.

Égert, B. – Jiménez-Rodríguez, R. – Morales-Zumaquero, A. (2013): *Business Cycle Synchronization between Euro Area and Central and Eastern European Countries*, Review of Development Economics, 17(2), 379–395, 2013.

ESRB (2019): Features of a Macroprudential Stance: Initial considerations – April 2019. Online: <u>https://www.esrb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/reports/esrb.report190408_features_macroprudential_stance_initial_considerations~f9cc4c05f4.en.pdf</u>. Downloaded: 13 December 2019

Európai Költségvetési Tanács (2019): Assessment of EU fiscal rules with a focus on the six and two-pack legislationhttps://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/assessment-eu-fiscal-rules-focus-six-and-two-pack-legislation_hu

Fidrmuc, J. –Korhonen, I. (2006): *Meta-Analysis of the Business Cycle Correlation Between the Euro Area and the CEECs.* CESifo Working Paper No. 1693

Fornaro, L. (2019): Monetary Union and financial integration. Manuscript

FSB (2014): Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes for Financial Institutions, 15 October 2014. Online: <u>https://www.fsb.org/wp-content/uploads/r_141015.pdf</u>. Downloaded: 13 December 2019

Fukker, G. and Varga, K. (2020): Non-stationary systemic risk factors and macroeconomic vulnerability, Magyar Nemzeti Bank, mimeo Garcia-Santana, M. – Moral-Benito, E. – Prijoan-Mas, J. – Ramos, R. (2016): *Growing like Spain: 1995-2007.* CEPR Working Paper No. 11144 (March).

Gächter, M. – Riedl, A. – Ritzberger-Grünwald, D. (2012): Business Cycle Synchronization in the Euro Area and the Impact of the Financial Crisis. Monetary Policy & Economy Q2/12.

Gogas, P. (2013): Business cycle synchronisation in the European Union: The effect of common currency. OECD Journal : Journal of Business Cycle Measurement and Analysis, Vol. 2013/1.

Goldsmith, R. W. (1969): *Financial structure and development*. Yale University Press, New Haven, Yale University Press

Gopinath, G. – Kalemli-Ozcan, S. – Karabarbounis, L. – Villegas-Sanchez, C. (2015): *Capital Allocation and Productivity in South Europe*. NBER Working Paper No. 21453.

Gren, J. (2018). The Eurosystem and the Single Supervisory Mechanism: Institutional continuity under constitutional constraints.

Heller, P. S. (2005): Understanding Fiscal Space. IMF Policy Discussion Paper. Fiscal Affairs Department, International Monetary Fund, March 2005

IMF (2003): When Bubbles Burst. World Economic Outlook, Washington, DC.

IMF (2013): The Dog That Didn't Bark: Has Inflation Been Muzzled or Was It Just Sleeping? In: World Economic Outlook, Chapter III, April, pp. 79–96.

IMF (2011): "Towards Effective Macroprudential Policy Frameworks – An Assessment of Stylized Institutional Models", Working Paper 11/250.

Ingram, J. C. (1973): *The case for European monetary integration*. Princeton University Essays in International Finance.

In't Veld, J, A Pagano, R Raciborski, M Ratto and W Roeger (2012), "Imbalances and rebalancing scenarios in an estimated structural model for Spain", European Economy - Economic Papers 458, Directorate General Economic and Monetary Affairs (DG ECFIN), European Commission.

Jump, R. C., & Stockhammer, E. (2018): New evidence on unemployment hysteresis in the EU.

Kajuth, F. (2010): NAIRU Estimates for Germany: New Evidence on the Inflation-Unemployment Trade-Off. Bundesbank Series 1 Discussion Paper No. 2010, 19.

Kashyap, A. – Stein, J. (2004): *Cyclical implications of the Basel II capital standards*. Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago Economic Perspectives, Vol. 1, pp. 18.

King, R. G.– Levine, R. (1993): *Finance and growth: Schumpeter might be right*. Policy Research Working Paper Series, No. 1083, The Word Bank.

Lane, P. R. – Milesi-Ferretti, G. M. (2018): *The external wealth of nations revisited: international financial integration in the aftermath of the global financial crisis.* IMF Economic Review, Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 189-222.

Levine, R. – Zervos, S. (1998): *Stock markets, banks and economic growth*. American Economic Review, Vol. 88 (3), pp. 537-558.

Li, H. – Squire, L. – Zou, H-F. (1998): *Explaining international and intertemporal variations in income inequality.* Economic Journal, Vol. 108 (446). pp. 26–43.

Matolcsy – Palotai (2016): The interaction between fiscal and monetary policy in Hungary over the past decade and a half

Marjanovic, G., Maksimovic, L. & Stanišić, N. (2015): *Hysteresis and the NAIRU: The Case of Countries in Transition*. Prague Economic Papers. 24. 1-13.

McKinnon, R. I. (1973): *Money and capital in economic development*. Brookings Institution, Washington DC

Mehrotra, A. – Yetman, J. (2015): Financial inclusion – issues for central banks. BIS Quarterly Review, March, pp. 83-96.

Mérő, K. (2003): A gazdasági növekedés és a pénzügyi közvetítés mélysége (Economic growth and the depth of financial mediation). Economic Review, Vol. L, July– August, pp. 590–607

Milanovic, B. (2005): Can we discern the effect of globalization on income distribution? Evidence from household surveys. World Bank Economic Review, Vol. 19 (1). pp. 21–44.

MNB (2017): The Hungarian Way– Targeted Central Bank Policy, Magyar Nemzeti Bank, 2017.

MNB (2018): Macroprudential Report – 2018. Online: https://www.mnb.hu/letoltes/ makroprudencialis-jelentes-2018.pdf. Downloaded: 12 December 2019

MNB (2019): Financial Stability Report, December 2019. Magyar Nemzeti Bank

Obstfeld, M. (1994): *Risk-taking, global diversification, and growth*. American Economic Review, Vol. 84, pp. 10-29.

Ódor, L.– P. Kiss, G. (2011): The exception proves the rule? Fiscal rules in the Visegrád countries. *MNB Bulletin*, June 2011

Ódor, L.– P. Kiss, G. (2014): Back to basics – good indicators for good fiscal institutions! *Financial and Economic Review*, Vol. 13, Issue 4

OECD (2013): "Long-term baseline projections, No. 93 (Edition 2013)", OECD Economic Outlook: Statistics and Projections (database), https://doi.org/10.1787/data-00645-en (accessed on 07 January 2020).

OECD & Rusticelli, E. (2014): Rescuing the Phillips curve: Making use of long-term unemployment in the measurement of the NAIRU. OECD Journal: Economic Studies, OECD Publishing, vol. 2014(1), pp. 109-127.

Osinski, J. – Seal, K. – Hoogduin, L. (2013): "Macroprudential and microprudential policies: Toward Cohabitation", IMF Staff Discussion Notes 13/5, International Monetary Fund.

Quint, D and P Rabanal (2014) "Monetary and macroprudential policy in an estimated DSGE model of the euro area", International Journal of Central Banking 10(2): 169-236.

Pancaro, C. (2010): "The Balassa-Samuelson and the Penn effect: are they really the same?",

1 June 2011.

Rajan, R.G. – Zingales, L. (2003): Saving capitalism from the capitalists: Unleashing the power of financial markets to create wealth and spread opportunity. Crown Business. New York

Rubio, M (2014) "Macroprudential policy implementation in a heterogeneous monetary union", Discussion Papers 2014/03, University of Nottingham, Centre for Finance, Credit and Macroeconomics (CFCM).

Sinn, H and A Valentinyi (2013), "European imbalances", VoxEU.org, 9 March.

Stanisic, N. (2013): *Convergence between the business cycles of Central and Eastern European countries and the Euro area.* Baltic Journal of Economics, Baltic International Centre for Economic Policy Studies, vol. 13(1), 63-74.

Valencia, F. – Laeven, L. (2012): Systemic Banking Crises Database: An Update. IMF Working Paper, No. 12/163, International Monetary Fund.

Véron, N. (2019). Taking stock of the Single Resolution Board. Banking Union Scrutiny. In-depth analysis requested by the ECON Committee. CEPS Special Report, March 2019.

World Bank (2005): *Measuring banking sector development – financial sector development indicators: Comprehensive assessment through enhanced information capacity.* Financial Sector Operations and Policy.

5 Acknowledgements

The book was inspired by the fact that the euro so the single currency, one of the biggest and most complex projects of Europe's economic history, entered the 20th year of its "life" in 2019. As far as the future is concerned, there seems to be consensus that the most important task may be to further develop the institutional framework of the euro area and to set up new "Maastricht criteria" that would allow for more successful accession processes than experienced so far. In the case of the latter, it is important for a consensus that Central and Eastern European countries still outside the euro area have a chance to be heard in the matter.

Most of the studies included in this book are based on the analyses, workshops and discussions at various professional platforms of the Magyar Nemzeti Bank (MNB). The editors wish to express their gratitude to Governor György Matolcsy, and Deputy-Governors Csaba Kandrács, Márton Nagy and Mihály Patai for their inspiration and support, and to all the members of the Monetary Council for their observations made for previous analyses on the subject.

Particular appreciation goes to the authors and contributors of the studies included in this volume, namely: Ábel Bagdy, Gergely Baksay, András Balatoni, Flóra Balázs, Dávid Berta, Anna Boldizsár, Zoltán Bögöthy, Balázs Csomós, Norbert Csorba, Judit Baranyai Csutiné, Bálint Dancsik, Dániel Felcser, Krisztina Füstös, József Kelemen, Gábor Kiss, Balázs Kóczián, Laura Komlóssy, Stefan Krakovsky, Zsolt Kuti, Kristóf Lehmann, Kálmán Árpád Marincsák, Milán Mészárovics, Olivér Nagy, Alexandra Nemes, Alexandr Maxim Palicz, Szabolcs Pásztor, Géza Endre Rippel, Bence Siket, Gábor Dániel Soós, János Szakács, Zoltán Szalai, Szabolcs Szentmihályi, Gergő Török, Árpád Vadkerti, Balázs Váradi, Noémi Végh, Barnabás Virág. The authors and the editors wish to express special thanks to Réka Egervári, Péter Kálmán, László Csaba Körtvélyesi, István Schindler, Ferenc Tóth and Árpád Vadkerti for their work in editing and coordination.

Many thanks to Réka Egervári, László Csaba Körtvélyesi and Soma Szabó for the page-setting and graphic design works. The authors would like to say thanks to Maja Bajcsy, Péter Bencsik, István Csonka, Péter Szűcs and all the colleagues for their committed work that was essential for the publication of this book.

List of charts

Chart 1-1: Countries participating in the European Monetary System and the year of their accession	24
Chart 1-2: Changes in the budgets of the key European countries and of the EU 10 between 1971 and 1990	U- 30
Chart 1-3: Developments in the budget balance-to-GDP ratio in the countries of the European Economic Community	of 31
Chart 1-4: Developments in government debt-to-GDP ratio in the countries of the European Economic Community	33
Chart 1-5: Deficit-debt convergence values at different nominal GDP growth rates	34
Chart 1-6: Average ESA deficit of euro area Member States in the years preced and following the entry to the euro area	ling 45
Chart 1-7: Average debt ratio of euro area Member States in the years precedir and following the entry to the euro area	ng 46
Chart 1-8: Share of Member States with a government deficit above 3 per cent and a debt ratio above 60 per cent of GDP in the euro area	47
Chart 1-9: Share of non-compliance with the inflation criterion and reference value for the inflation criterion across existing members of the euro area (Janu 1999-October 2019)	ary 49
Chart 1-10: Share of non-compliance with the inflation criterion across existing euro area Member States (January 1999-October 2019)	g 50
Chart 1-11: Share of non-compliance with the long-term interest rate criterion, reference value and standard deviations of long-term interest rates in current Member States of the euro area (January 1999-September 2019)	51
Chart 1-12: Real interest rates in the core and periphery countries of the euro area (January 1999-September 2019)	53
Chart 1-13: Correlations with GDP growth in the euro area	56
Chart 1-14: Per capita GDP growth relative to Germany	59
Chart 1-15: Standard deviation of GDP per capita in euro area Member States	60

Chart 1-16: Breakdown of the GDP in terms of production (left-hand panel) as consumption (right-hand panel)	nd 62
Chart 1-17: Standard deviation of the weight of production and expenditure s items in euro area Member States	ide 63
Chart 1-18: GDP-proportionate intra-EA and extra-EA trade in goods (left-har panel) and services (right-hand panel)	nd 64
Chart 1-19: Unemployment rates in the euro area, the US and Japan	65
Chart 1-20: Standard deviation of the unemployment rates of euro area Memb States	əer 66
Chart 1-21: Population rate of euro area citizens residing in other EU Member States by country group (left-hand panel) and education (right-hand panel)	67
Chart 1-22: Standard deviation of labour productivity in euro area Member St tes	ta- 69
Chart 1-23: Initial labour productivity levels and changes in productivity by country group	70
Chart 1-24: Current account balances in the euro area* (as a percentage of GD)P) 73
Chart 1-25: Net FDI inflows in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)	75
Chart 1-26: Net external debt in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)	77
Chart 1-27: Net household savings in the euro area (as a percentage of GDP)	78
Chart 1-28: Economic performance of the USA and the euro area (left-hand panel) and their share in global GDP (right-hand panel)	a- 80
Chart 1-29: R&D expenditures as a percentage of GDP (left-hand panel) and distribution of the R&D expenditures of the top 250 companies by sector (righ hand panel)	nt- 81
Chart 1-30: Fortune Global 500 companies (left-hand panel), and the distribut of venture capital investments and unicorns (right-hand panel)	ion 83
Chart 1-31: Evolution of the euro's role in global FX market turnover (left-han panel) vs. in the international foreign exchange reserves (right-hand panel)	ıd 85
Chart 2-1: Private sector debt as a percentage of GDP in individual euro area member states (2001-2018)	93
Chart 2-2: Cumulative deviations of unit labour costs from the ECB's inflatior target (1999-2016)	۱ 95

Chart 2-3: Changes in real effective exchange rates based on unit labour cost (1999-2016)	98
Chart 2-4: Export volume index for euro area member states (1999-2017)	99
Chart 2-5: Import volume index for euro area member states (1999=100) (1999-2016)	101
Chart 2-6: Current account balances in individual euro area member states (1 2019)	999- 102
Chart 2-7: Average changes in domestic demand and current account balance (2000-2006)	es 103
Chart 2-8: Volume index of the cumulative real GDP growth for the United S tes and the Eurozone (2007=100) (2007-2018)	ta- 106
Chart 2-9: Government debt as a percentage of GDP in individual euro area member states (2005-2018)	108
Chart 2-10: Possible financial equilibriums in a sectoral approach	115
Chart 2-11: Sector balances in the euro area (2002-2019)	116
Chart 2-12: Macroeconomic imbalance procedure – indicators	123
Chart 2-13: Pillars of the Banking Union	127
Chart 2-14: Industrial corporations in Europe (left panel) and in the USA (right panel): expenditures and revenues as a percentage of net sales	ht 138
Chart 2-15: Source of funding for basic research in the USA, in 2008	139
Chart 2-16: Government bond yield spreads over the German bond yields (pe centage points)	er- 141
Chart 3-1: Short-term inflation effect of the adoption of the euro, estimated by Eurostat	7 171
Chart 3-2: Penn effect in the euro countries before and after accession	173
Chart 3-3: Real GDP per capita in Southern European countries	194
Chart 3-4: Evolution of Spain's net external debt as a percentage of GDP	197
Chart 3-5: Evolution of government debt as a percentage of GDP in Southern European countries	201
Chart 3-6: Evolution of real interest rates in Baltic countries	211
Chart 3-7: Current account balances in the Baltic states, as a percentage of GD	рР 212

Chart 3-8: Changes in nominal wages in the period of internal devaluation	
(2008–2010)	213
Chart 3-9: Convergence in the Baltic states	217
Chart 3-10: Evolution of inflation in East-Central European countries	222
Chart 3-11: Convergence of East-Central European countries to eurozone	225
Chart 3-12: Productivity, wages and unemployment in Slovenia	227
Chart 3-13: Productivity, wages and unemployment in Slovakia	230
Chart 4-1: Correlation between level of development and inflation surplus	244
Chart 4-2: Relationship between level of development and the synchronisation business cycles	on of 245
Chart 4-3: Changes in the slope of the Phillips curve	247
Chart 4-4: Correlations between the euro area's output gap and the output g of the given country under various quarterly lags	ap 249
Chart 4-5: Correlation between unemployment rates	250
Chart 4-6: Credit-to-GDP gap in Hungary and the euro area calculated by th ESRB and long-term correlation between the financial cycles	ie 251
Chart 4-7: Productivity of SMEs vs. large corporations	255
Chart 4-8: Relationship between the productivity of SMEs and the inflation s plus of the national economy	sur- 256
Chart 4-9: Distribution of Hungarian export sales	257
Chart 4-10: Decomposition of Hungarian exports (left panel) and imports (right panel) by product structure	258
Chart 4-11: Unemployment rate (left panel) vs. labour force participation rat (right panel) in euro area candidate countries	e 260
Chart 4-12: Net interest income and operating expenses as a ratio of total ass (2018)	ets 265
Chart 4-13: Private sector debt to the credit institution sector as a percentage annual GDP (2019 Q3)	of 268
Chart 4-14: Microprudential, macroprudential and resolution powers in European Union Member States (December 2019)	273
Chart 4-15: Primary balance levels required for the attainment of the 3 per ce deficit target in EU Member States in 2000 and 2018, and the average value c	ent of
country groups formed on the basis of debt levels in the same years	278

List of tables

Table 1-1: The change of ULC in each Member State in the proportion of the	
average change of ULC in the euro area and the US (1998-2010)	27
Table 1-2: Convergence criteria for joining the eurozone	42
Table 1-3: Average annual GDP growth in euro area countries	58
Table 3-1: Assessment of the aspects of introducing the euro and	
future prospects	176
Table 3-2: Different types of credit shocks and the management of those	182
Table 4-1: Proposed deficit targets under different government debt levels	275
Table 4-2: The amended and extended set of criteria (Maastricht 2.0)	283
Table 4-3: Fulfilment of the Maastricht criteria (Maastricht 1.0)	289
Table 4-4: Fulfilment of the criteria proposed by the MNB (Maastricht 2.0)	294